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MISSION

AND fEanBEfE=

VISION

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited pursues the core values
of "integrity, innovation, pragmatism and excellence”, adheres to the business
philosophy of “quality assurance and value creation”, strictly manages corporate
governance, actively fulfills its social responsibility. The Group also continues
to pursue continuous adding value on shareholders, employees, working
partners and society under the all-win harmonious situations. It is committed
to developing sustainably and building a century-long foundation. In the new
era, it is progressing towards the world’s most competitive facade technology

conglomerate.
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
NRIEBRE

CHINA STATE CONSTRUCTION
DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

TEEEZEXEERR QA
/ CONSTRUCTION OPERATING
ENGINEERING BUSINESS MANAGEMENT BUSINESS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

The key financial and business performance indicators comprise FTEVBREBRREZOEEEEL R B
revenue growth; profitability growth; return on equity and dividend BN ERERERREIRE - EEXRRIE

payout. Details of the key performance indicators are stated as below.  ZHFFIBHH LT »

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
2020 20214 20224 202345 20245
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
For the year ended 31 December BETT BETT BRI BET T BETT
HZNANBLEE
Revenue EER 4,535,657 6,294,827 7,668,983 8,665,765 8,101,694
Profit attributable to owners of N7 A AR B JE {5 % 7
the Company 194,344 291,976 421,852 580,420 650,253
Total assets LE®BE 7,388,898 8,809,629 10,299,862 10,641,662 11,502,371
Equity attributable to owners of A2 & fR R B #E 25
the Company 1,403,019 1,607,735 2,092,325 2,401,822 2,674,712
Return on equity attributable to 7/ A% R 4 35 2] 3(%)
owners of the Company (%) 13.9 18.2 20.2 24.2 24.3
Basic earnings per share BREXREN (&)
(HK cents) 9.02 13.55 19.11 25.73 28.83
Dividend (HK cents) B8 (B1L) 3.0 4.7 6.5 8.7 9.8
REVENUE PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
= 3L OF THE COMPANY
= ¢
HKS billion AQT)REEMLER
BES BT HK$ million
EEEET
700 — 650
500 '
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2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

2024 REVENUE BY SEGMENTS

2024515 /]-:’\%B l‘&ﬁ Operating
Management
o Business
Construction 1 1 /o BEEEBREYR
Engineering 89 o
Business o
BEIRER

*  Construction Engineering Business
including facade contracting and
general contracting business

BEIBXFOREEBEAOLRSE
EEER
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MAJOR EVENTS OF THE YEAR

EFARER

r JANUARY — H )

In January, China State Construction Development Holdings
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “CSCD” or “830"
or the Company) was awarded the “Hong Kong Green
Organisation Certification — Wastewi$e Certificate — Good
Level” by Hong Kong Environmental Campaign Committee,
and for the eighth consecutive year, was awarded the
labeling of “Green Office 5+" and “Eco-Healthy Workplace”
by World Green Organisation, affirming the Group’s
relentless efforts and achievements in implementing the
green office concept.

In January, 830 actively responded to the national “Going
Global” strategy by expanding into overseas markets,
and Far East Facade (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., a subsidiary of
830 (hereinafter referred to as “Far East Singapore”) was
incorporated.

<«

—A PEREEREXEE (CATHBEI830/HAER]) &K
EREERREPZEGRENEERECRBERE R
MABEES] LEENFERERAKEEASIRERD
5+ RIREIERIER BETASEEERZEH
NREBRZTHBE O TES I RARK

—H8EBERBEIK[EL L& - WREBINTS - E
TERBMR M) AR AR AT EHEERF M) E
RS

M ERNE(FFMR)FTRE YT

FAR EAST FACADE ( SINGAPORE ) PTE LTD
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Major Events of The Year

EHERER

r FEBRUARY :ﬁ)

In February, the owner of The Line project in Saudi Arabia
visited Far East Facade (Zhuhai) Limited, a subsidiary of
830 (hereinafter referred to as “Far East Zhuhai Base”), to
understand the advanced equipment and technology for
intelligent manufacturing of “Far East Facade”, which laid
the foundation for 830 to further expand into the Middle
East and other overseas markets.

— R P%The LinelB B X X2 E830H T ERE & (K8)
BERABATEHBIERKEER])  TRIERBRK]E
BEBLE R ERB RN - R ABIVE —FHITREK
HA BN T5EE £

r MARCH = H )

On 21 March, the Apple Jing’an, Shanghai, constructed by
Far East Netfortune Facade (Shanghai) Company Limited
(hereinafter referred to as “Far East Shanghai”), a subsidiary
of 830, grandly opened, becoming the world’s second-
largest flagship store, second only to the Apple Store on
Fifth Avenue in New York in terms of retail store grade.

“AZ+—H He30ETERENERMRL(LE)BRAA (KA
TEBIERREESDARZBRIEN LSERSFLEBRAM
B RASERSERERNTHANEARNEERENEZRE
ZKHEMETE -
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Major Events of The Year

PERER

APRIL [§ A )

On 18 April, the News Center of the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council organized a media integration interview activity titled
"Entering New State-owned Enterprises — Moving Towards a
New Future of Intelligent Manufacturing”, attended by more
than 20 representatives from People’s Daily, Xinhua News
Agency, Economic Daily, etc. Media reporters visited the Far
East Zhuhai Base, a subsidiary of 830, to explore the innovative
stories of China State Construction in actively nurturing and
developing new quality productivity during the process of
promoting building transformation, development and urban
renewal, as well as creating city landmarks.

MA+NR BEBEEEZHETOESHRRIEEREL
— AFMITEERRIBERTEE REARB®R
FA - KB RRF20R MR E E B30 NERIKER
o RHPEREERSEREAENERMUTES - TE
WHEABEPERBEEERNELEENNRINRE -

In April, Far East Facade (Hong Kong) Limited, a subsidiary
of 830 (hereinafter referred to as “Far East Hong Kong”),
won the bid for the facade project of New Central Site 3A.
This project is a highly anticipated international-level project
in Hong Kong, and winning this bid will further strengthen
the core facade business in Hong Kong.

MA 830 TERFMR (FR) ARAA (A THBIER
FRDPRPRAGEABERESRILE ZRERE
BHEIXBENBEBRERER  BRPREE-TEERARTER
TRz DR -

In April, the topping-out ceremony of the Tenova future
project, supervised by China Overseas Supervision (a
subsidiary of 830) was held. During the construction of the
project, the supervision department of this project ranked
first in Tencent Group's third-party safety assessment of the
main engineering for 14 consecutive months, demonstrating
an excellent level of contract performance management.

P/ - 8305 THBEIEAEMMEAIRKRIE B MRHTEER -
FHEBRST ZEEEBEICEE4EAEEAEEE
BIRE=- 22T HE2FE— ERLEEFNENE
HIKF o



("

In May, Far East Hong Kong (a subsidiary of 830) was awarded
multiple honors at the Build4Asia Awards for its advanced
technology and outstanding project quality, including the
“Excellence in Facade (Silver and Merit)”, the “MYFAVOURITE
Building Facade” and the “Outstanding Technology (Bronze)".

F A 8ETERBBRELERN FHIBELESEMR
Build4Asia k8 —— [ =5 #& (Excellence in Facade) SR 4%
REFE] [RHEEONEEEE (MYFAVOURITE Building
Facade) K#Z| ~ [{BLE BRI HIAME] £ 218K E -
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Major Events of The Year

EHERER

In May, 830 showcased multiple facade products at the
Macau BEYOND International Science and Technology
Innovation Expo, and launched the “One-Stop Solution for
providing global
attendees with a comprehensive display of the Company’s

Complex Hyperbolic Facade Engineering”,

cutting-edge facade technology and research achievements.

FA - 830X HEHEE Mo i8R PIBEYOND B BR &l 1 81 %

BES UHEMEMEARTRIE - UABRTER] B
ER2EEZERT T AR RAE KRB MEHE R
AR e

In May, Far East Photovoltaic Technology (Guangdong)
Company Limited (a subsidiary of 830) (hereinafter referred
to as “Far East Photovoltaic”) was incorporated, focusing on
product research, development, investment and construction
of building integrated photovoltaic (hereinafter referred to
as “BIPV").

<

A 8ETERERMEK(BER)ERAR A THREIE
RERDFEMKRY  EXEMABEMEZEXNKR -BEUAT
IR [BIPV]) X MIRE « R

RRARFIRER)FTEST

FAR EAST PHOTOVOLTAIC TECHNOLOGY (GUANG DONG) COMPANY LIMITED

007
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Major Events of The Year

PERER

r JUNE X A )

In June, the Far East Zhuhai Base, a subsidiary of 830, NA 830 TERKEGEMTRNRE REERL —E
completed the construction of the photovoltaic display area IR E AT R2GE @ #E— SR EMBFEERER -

and the photovoltaic upgrade of the east facade of Factory

No.1, further enhancing the base’s power generation

efficiency.




r JULY £ A )

On 26 July, the facade projects of Burj Khalifa in Dubai
and the Henderson in Central, Hong Kong, constructed by
“Far East Facade”, a subsidiary of 830, were featured in
the documentary “Architecture Intelligence”. The program
premiered on CGTN (China Global Television Network),
expanding the overseas market influence of “Far East Facade”.

A Z+xA 8300 T [ERE &I AR\ FKE
LEBSPRENEEZRL IR SMACEZEZEE) (Architecture
Intelligence) A2 8% Fr » 1B FCGIN (R EIIRIRERA) & 1&
WRTIERERZGITEREN -
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Major Events of The Year

EFANERL

In July, the BIPV products independently
developed by “Far East Photovoltaic”,
a subsidiary of 830, passed multiple
technical certifications from the European
international authoritative organization
TUV, further enhancing the products’ core
competitiveness.

t A 830 TEEXKIAETWEDN
BIPVEE & 38 18 BN B BR 4 B i B TUVZ 18
RATRE - E— PG TERZLBRFE S -

In July, “Shenzhen China Overseas Engineering Consulting
Company Limited”, which is managed by China Overseas
Supervision (a subsidiary of 830), actively expanded innovative
businesses such as project management and full-process consulting.

t A 830FRAATEEEERETHNIRIPETIRAABRAA]
ERMRERERE  2BEEASENER -

009
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Major Events of The Year

PERER

AUGUST '\ A )

On 30 August, the 830 headquarters and its subsidiaries
launched a series of activities themed “Wholehearted
Forging ahead e Leading the Way Forward”, jointly
celebrating the 55th Anniversary of 830.

NAZ=Z+H 830@BLEZTFRAAFAETEIBAIZLEL .
RBEIRT1T0830MK M55 F | R EE) - R B 830/ 3L
55 o

In August, 830 completed the launch of the third phase
of the “Far East Smart”, the full life cycle management
platform of digital Far East Facade, achieving digital
decision-making evolution for projects through tools such
as progress monitoring of the entire project life cycle and
warning reminders of anomaly business indicators.

NA 80K HEFERERE2EGABRERFLR]IE=
His BRAYBEZETAENEEZET EEEKIE
EBERESTE  BHREBHST(LRAKEE -

In August, Far East Hong Kong, a subsidiary of 830,
established to address the stock market and renovation
upgrade needs of the facade in Hong Kong and Macau,
won the bid for the redevelopment project of Central
Landmark, achieving a significant breakthrough in the
facade renovation market in Hong Kong and Macau.

AR - 830 T B R B 187 8 5 MBUET B F KK L
MERBETRTREMESIERRE  EEARRKSE
MIZMSEE R -

In August, Far East Singapore, a subsidiary of 830, won the
bid for the facade project of Central Mall, with a contract
value of HK$80 million. This is the first project won by Far
East Singapore since its establishment.

JUR + 8305 & ¥ i3 A fFCentral MallZE B &% T2 -
AHEOSEBYE  ERERMIMFA L ARPENE @A
E o
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Major Events of The Year

EHERER

SEPTEMBER jl.ﬁ)

On 9 September, the facade project of Macau
Galaxy (phase 4) project, the largest contract
for single facade project in the world, and
undertaken by Far East Macau (a subsidiary of
830), overcame the challenge of delays and
successfully completed the fire inspection,
marking another step closer to the project’s
completion target.

FUA LA - 83018 T & IR PI AR AR PIIR T
MHAEREFRE LR (RREBANESERAN
EEREETE) e REARE - IBH S ROE &
W EREEEMRTIEREE—F -

On 26 September, 830 showcased at the CSCEC Science
and Technology Exhibition, exhibiting the representative
building scale model of the “Far East Facade”, using LIGHT
series BIPV materials to create the entrance display wall for
the exhibition. During the three-month exhibition period,
it received over 50 thousand visitors, including national
leaders, officials from the Ministry of Housing and Urban-
Rural Development and various provincial and municipal
housing and urban-rural development departments,
experts and academicians from relevant associations in the
construction industry, important clients, and domestic and
international media, comprehensively expanding brand and
product awareness.

NAZTRHE 830 EFBHELERKEE  BRIERER I RREBEHFREL - HALGHTRSIBIPVEMITERS AORE -
EAH-ZEANREeHHAEFBEARN BREEBRBEA FTEBLRZETEEEEE  BEEEHBEREERR L -
BEEEITNEAIERS  2HUBATRERERNBE -
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Major Events of The Year

PERER

OCTOBER + A )

In October, Far East Hong Kong (a subsidiary of 830) was
awarded the “Best Facade Project Management Award
of the Year” by MythFocus, a highly influential financial
and corporate information platform in Hong Kong, for its
outstanding performance and achievements in the field of
facade project, highlighting the industry influence of the “Far
East Facade” brand.

TH 8ETEREEBEEAERSBIIEAANERR
BMEBHEEREERAZENSRREGERFESTA
MythFocusEMH [FERERK TRERR]  FRIER
Bis | mETEZED -

In October, 830 showcased a variety of key engineering
models and BIPV products at the 2024 Asia Clean Energy
Summit in Singapore, further expanding its brand influence
in Southeast Asia.

+ A - 830 Z A E R TIZIE A IBIPVE MBS M 37
2024 MERRERIES - E—PHEEREENMETES -

16-19 October, 830 showcased at the BAU CHINA
International Building Technology Expo in Shanghai, with the
theme “Technology Creates Urban Curves”, demonstrating
how technology reshapes the traditional construction industry
through the presentation of the latest projects, technologies
and BIPV products.

+A+"BZ+ /L8 8307 E/EBAU CHINABIBR &R}
FEEe UIHEGEHRTHR AETE BBERNET
HE - FEMBIPVE R ZHEREBRENAEBERESR
(X

In October, the facade project of the West Bund Convention
Centre, undertaken by Far East Shanghai (a subsidiary of
830), held its first hoisting ceremony. This project is one
of the four major projects currently in Shanghai. After
completion, a series of international events and exhibitions
will be held.

+A 830 TEREEARNARERER P OMEABIE
TESTEHEN  REAR LSENNATRED 2 —
BRRGEERZIIEEHRE RS -



NOVEMBER + — Jﬂ

In November, Huanggu Thermoelectricity (a subsidiary of
830), sold 42,796 tons of carbon quota in the national
carbon emissions trading system, with an average transaction
price of 104.33 per tonne and a total transaction amount of
RMB4.465 million, completing the Company’s first carbon
rights transaction. The sale pioneered the carbon quota
sale in Shenyang’s thermal power industry, marking a new
breakthrough in carbon asset management for 830.

In November, the 830 complex hyperbolic facade technology
and BIPV products were featured on CCTV's “Xinwen
Lianbo”, further strengthening brand credibility and industry
influence.

T — A 8301 8 dh B 5 X T MBIPVE M E L RECGHE
GiE)  E—FRERBAENETEZES -
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Major Events of The Year

EHERER

+— A SETEHATEL2BHENELSIESFLE
42,796ME Bk i 28 - X 5 F ¥ (E15104.3370, W8 © 48Rk X 58
ANRBA465AE T TRAREERELE  HE TILG
MREBITEMERLENLT  2H5E830EREEEERA
B S B 22 B -

In November, Huanggu Thermoelectricity (a subsidiary
of 830) completed the ultra-low emission retrofit for
desulfurization and denitrification of the phase three and
phase four boilers, achieving ultra-low emission standards
and fulfilling the environmental responsibility of central
enterprises.

T— R 830 T 2B =5 - MEIIEETHET -
R AR R DA B Y 3 BB R BE RIS 2 - BITROIRIREME o
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Major Events of The Year

PERER

DECEMBER + = H)

In December, Far East Shanghai (a subsidiary of 830)
began undertaking the facade project for the Shenzhen
Bay Super Headquarters Tower C, with a contract value of
approximately HK$1.09 billion. The project is currently the
tallest twin tower with skybridge in the country, integrating
various complex techniques such as folded facade and
hyperbolic facade, which will further consolidate the
Company’s leading position in the construction field of
multi-shaped hyperbolic and irregular facade.

T A - 830 TER LB I8 AR R I E AR & BBCIE TR
BRERBIRE AOBEORBKI09ET - ZBERAENE
HEREFEFE =8 SRFARRK CHEKELR
BRIEZER—F BE-FPEERREZHREMRELSE
T 2 R R B R o



In December, 830 officially signed a three-year unsecured
sustainability performance-linked term loan agreement
with Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited for a total
amount of HK$400 million. This is the second sustainability
performance-linked loan agreement entered into by 830.
The Company will ensure that the flow of funds has a
positive impact on the environment and society, thereby
creating long-term and sustainable value for shareholders,
customers and society.

T=A 830EFERIT(FR)BERAREARETLEEL
AR T =FHRERR I SEERIABNTERERDZ -
BRSO E —FAHERRRBABER - AR A H
BRESAAEHREIMEELREBEYE  KMABE
BEPEtgaER A A HENEE -
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Major Events of The Year

EHERER

In December, the facade project of the OPPO International
Headquarters Building (Oujia Building) in Shenzhen, undertaken
by Far East Shanghai (a subsidiary of 830), completed the first
unit installation, laying the foundation for high-quality project
performance. The project achieved significant success in the
breakthrough of hyperbolic facade technology and project
advancement, resolving process challenges ahead of schedule,
and was recognized as the “2024 Excellent Supplier” by OPPO
Guangdong Mobile Communications Co., Ltd. The Project BIM
Design Team won the Gold Award in the 2024 Seventh “Youlu
Cup” National BIM Technology Competition.

+— A 830 TEE FFAEZANEIOPPOR K 42 28 X B
(BMAE)BRBIRTKELEHEE  AEEREERNE
TEM BECYHEMEREIMRBEMIER HE ERBE
ERCR  RATARR T BB - EFOPPORRBHBEARAR
NAEIN2024F EEFHER] - 1H BBIMER 5T 40 5L 20245
tEEBEMN]2E BIM BT AES 8 -

In December, 830 was awarded the TVB (Television
Broadcasting Co., Ltd.) Environmental, Social, and
Governance Awards 2024 — "ESG Social Innovation
Technology Award” for its outstanding performance in
the field of Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG),
recognizing the Company’s integration of innovative
technology and new concepts into its business and
achieving excellent results.

TZ-A 8BRMEAERE #HEREE(ESG) BINER
RAKRETVB(EREFARAR) RR HEREAAR
2024 — [ESGH ERIFMBIIAE] - KE A RKAIFHRHX
NHBOMARLEY WESIHEHKR -

015



016

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited FEIZ LB EEBEER LT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES

EERRERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Chairman and Non-executive Director
Zhang Haipeng

Executive Directors

Zhu Haiming (Chief Executive Officer)
Wong Man Cheung

Non-executive Director
Huang Jiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Zhou Jinsong
Chan Man Ki Maggie
Zhang Xinyu

COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Zhou Jinsong, CPA (Chairman)
Chan Man Ki Maggie
Zhang Xinyu

EER
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Remuneration Committee

Zhang Haipeng

Zhu Haiming

Zhou lJinsong (Chairman)
Chan Man Ki Maggie
Zhang Xinyu

Nomination Committee

Zhang Haipeng (Chairman)
Zhu Haiming

Zhou Jinsong

Chan Man Ki Maggie
Zhang Xinyu

Sustainability Committee

Zhu Haiming

Wong Man Cheung (Chairman)
Zhou Jinsong

Chan Man Ki Maggie

Zhang Xinyu
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Board of Directors and Committees
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DNEIER

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Zhang Haipeng
Zhu Haiming

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lau Shuk Yin Connie

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MaplesFS Limited

P.O. Box 1093

Queensgate House

Grand Cayman

KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

16th Floor, Eight Commercial Tower

8 Sun Yip Street

Chai Wan

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

RERX
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%5 9

REWE
2 E

TERNBFETRE

MaplesFS Limited
P.O. Box 1093
Queensgate House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1102
Cayman Islands

ROBFELTERDE
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P.O. Box 309
Ugland House
Grand Cayman
KY1-1104
Cayman Islands
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

China Citic Bank Corporation Limited

China Merchants Bank Corporation Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

BNP Paribas Hong Kong Branch
Malayan Banking Berhad Hong Kong Branch

STOCK CODE

00830

CORPORATE WEBSITE

www.cscd.com.hk

FINANCIAL CALENDAR
Annual Results Announcement
17 March 2025

Closure of register of members
for Annual General Meeting

16-19 June 2025 (both dates inclusive)

Annual General Meeting
19 June 2025

Ex-dividend date
24 June 2025

Closure of register of members
for Final Dividend

26-27 June 2025 (both dates inclusive)

Record date
27 June 2025

Payment of Proposed Final Dividend

8 July 2025
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MAJOR PROJECTS IN PROGRESS OVERVIEW
TEREHEHRE
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Major Projects in Progress Overview
TEERBEEME

Year of Estimated

Project Name Project Type Project Completion
HE BB HEEHE R EERIEH

Facade Contracting Works

g LRREE

Chinese Mainland

R B 7 3t

Beijing New China International Exhibition Centre Phase 2 Commercial 2026
3t R Bl R — 8 EE
ByteDance Chengdu Office Building Commercial 2025
FEBK B R E I N E [EES
Chengdu Lotte Mall Commercial 2026
BEE PN [GES
Chengdu Tianfu International Fund Town Phase 2 Commercial 2026
BB R TR R B /N — B8 [EES
Huawei Guangzhou Research and Development Centre Phase 1 Commercial 2026
EREMAESH L5 [EES
OPPO Dongguan Research and Development Centre Commercial 2025
OPPOR 5SSt 8 R 0 EES
OPPO Shenzhen Bay International Headquarter Commercial 2026
OPPOIRYIIE 48 5 GES
Shenzhen Bay Super Headquarter Base Tower C Commercial 2027
RYE B R AR B CE [EES
Shenzhen Futian International Sports and Culture Exchange Centre Commercial 2026
ARYIE B IR B A b R O [EES
Shanghai Sina Headquarter Commercial 2027
EEER A EES
Tsinghua University Tongzhou Base for Financial Development and Education Project Public Building 2027

BERBREMNSBBERMAL HIEN AP YN
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Major Projects in Progress Overview

T2HEZEARE
Year of Estimated
Project Name Project Type Project Completion
HE BB HEER R EERTE4H

Facade Contracting Works

g LRREE

Hong Kong, Macau & Others
BE - RMRHEAM

Artist Square Towers in The West Kowloon Cultural District, Hong Kong Commercial 2027
RN REMES K1E GES
Chinese Medicine Hospital, Tsueng Kwan O, Hong Kong Hospital 2025
ERRERDEREL B
District Court Building at Carloine Hill Road, Hong Kong Public Building 2026
BB MK E LB & %R PPN
Ho Man Tin Station Package 1 Property Development, Hong Kong Commercial 2026
BERAXHBE -BMERREAR [EES
Hong Kong Shenzhen Innovation and Technology Park, Hong Kong Public Building 2026
BREREFFHE YN
Heritage and Cultural Resource Centre at Tin Yip Road, Tin Shui Wai, Hong Kong Public Building 2026
BRERKBEREBRXMEERERT L YN
Kong Nga Po Police Training Centre, Hong Kong Public Building 2026
BRURERE BRSO YN
Lohas Park Package 12, Town Lot No. 70RP (site D), Tseung Kwan O, Hong Kong Residential 2025
BB G E IR ET70RPYE Hh EXDIE B I BRI 125 T=
New Acute Hospital, Kai Tak, Hong Kong Hospital 2025
EERMEREER B
New Central Harbourfront Development Site 3A, Hong Kong Commerdial 2027
BEETERMNGEERER  3AILK EES
Redevelopment of Grantham Hospital Phase 1, Hong Kong Hospital 2026
EEESHERF I HERER 1
Redevelopment of Prince of Wales Hospital, Hong Kong Hospital 2026
ERERMTRERRERAR Bbx
Residential Development at No. 278, Kwu Tung Area, Hong Kong Residential 2027
BB LOm278F M RETIEE =
Residential Development at Yuen Long Tai Tong Road Lot No.5384, Hong Kong Residential 2026
BEHETARREBESIAFIRETIER F=
Residential Development at No. 391 Chai Wan Road, Hong Kong Residential 2026
BRLEBE3REITIER =
Residential Development at Bailey Street and Wing Kwong Street, To Kwa Wan,

Hong Kong Residential 2027

FRLTMERENERELEEERR E=
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Major Projects in Progress Overview
T2HEZBEARE

Year of Estimated

Project Name Project Type Project Completion
HE BB HEER R EERIEH
Facade Contracting Works

BREIEEE

Redevelopment of State Theater, Hong Kong Residential 2026
FREEH M ERIAR TF=E

Residential Development at No 2, 4, 6 and 8 Mansfield Road, Hong Kong Residential 2026
BREXIBEE?, 4, 6 RS EEHEE T=x

Tai Po Ma Wo Road Property Development, Hong Kong Residential 2026
ERERBEBERETHER T=

Wong Chung Hang Station, Package 5, Aberdeen Inland Lot No. 476, Hong Kong Residential 2026
BEEBEBF L4765 R E LA, T=

Singapore

03K

Zion Road Parcel A, Singapore Residential 2027
7 13 Zion Road Parcel A F=x

General Contracting Works

HEEEE

Residential Development at RBL No. 1201, Wong Ma Kok Road, Stanley, Hong Kong Residential 2025

ERNEEMABI2015%EEHEE F=
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Chairman’s Statement
EERTIFEREE

Mr. ZHANG Haipeng
£29i=3 F it

Chairman and
Non-executive Director

ETRARFNTES



| am pleased to present to shareholders the business review and
prospects of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

In 2024, the Group continuously focused on the core business of
facade contracting, following the business strategy of “deepening
in Hong Kong and Macau, consolidating in Chinese Mainland, and
focusing on key overseas markets”. Leveraging the brand strengths
of “Far East Facade”, we fully seized the market opportunities,
empowered business development with innovative technologies, and
improved cost-efficiency through refined management. The major core
performance indicators maintained growth against the trend. In 2024,
the revenue of principal business amounted to HK$8,102 million; the
profit attributable to the shareholders amounted to HK$650 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 12.0% as compared with last
year; the earnings per share amounted to HK28.83 cents, representing
a year-on-year increase of 12.0% as compared with last year. In
consideration of the Company’s profitability, cash flow level and
capital requirements for future development, the Board recommended
a final dividend of HK2.8 cents per share. Total dividends distributed
for the year were HK9.8 cents per share, representing a year-on-year
increase of 12.6% as compared with last year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2024, geopolitical conflicts intensified. Trade protectionism
prevailed. Although the global economy has not experienced a
recession, the growth rate was slow. The removal of stamp duty
control on residential properties in Hong Kong has had a limited
stimulating effect on the housing market. Developers have maintained
a cautious attitude, resulting in a significant year-on-year reduction
in the number and scale of new development projects. Chinese
Mainland’s real estate was in an industry adjustment period, with
stabilizing after decline becoming the main tone of central policy.
Facing the challenges of a downturn in the industry, the Group
has deepened its presence in Hong Kong and Macau, consolidated
its position in Chinese Mainland, and accelerated its expansion in
Singapore. The Group maintained its leading position in the facade
market in Hong Kong, fulfilling high-quality contract performance and
advancing the high-quality development of facade business.
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Facade Contracting Business

Hong Kong and Macau regions are the long-established key
markets of the Group. The Group continued to strengthen its
brand effect, competitive edge and performance capabilities,
and further enhanced its leading position in the facade market
of Hong Kong, with an estimated market share exceeding 50%
in 2024. As a recognised premium provider of overall high-
end facade solutions in Hong Kong and Macau, the Group
focused on deepening the strategic cooperation with existing
major clients, actively expanding its strategic client base and
enhancing synergies within the Group. During the year, the
Group achieved outstanding performance in the Hong Kong
market, and newly awarded projects included a number of
large facade projects, such as Henderson Land’s New Central
Harbourfront 3A Commercial Project, Wheelock’s Kwu Tung
North residential project in Sheung Shui Fanling, and Henderson
Bailey Street/Wing Kwong Street building. The Group carefully
organized the internal design, procurement, production and
installation resources, vigorously implemented the project
incentive mechanism and strengthened safety control to ensure
construction period, quality, safety and efficiency of the projects.
In addition, by integrating the demand of the existing facade
market, the Group has initiated facade inspection, maintenance
and upgrade business, winning bids for major renovation
projects such as the redevelopment of Landmark and Landmark
Alexandra in Central, and creating new business growth points.

The facade market in Macau is mainly dominated by large
entertainment resort hotels. With the Group’s strong
performance capacity, Galaxy (phase 4) project, which has
the largest contract for single facade project in the world, is
progressing smoothly and has reached its phased targets. The
Group maintains a relative close cooperation with strategic
major clients such as Sands, MGM, and Galaxy, and will have a
significant competitive advantage in future large-scale projects.
The Group has already won the MGM Cotai Fantasy Box project
during the year. Meanwhile, the Group’s performance in public
building projects is also outstanding, contributing to winning
bids for the public office building project at NAPE Lote 12.
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There is huge potential in the facade market in Chinese
Mainland. The Group continued to adhere to the competitive
strategy of differentiation. Relying on its high-end brand, high-
end technologies, experience accumulated in challenging
projects and the influence of reliable quality established by “Far
East Facade”, the Group focused on “big markets, big landlords,
and big projects”, deepened the synergy between Hong Kong,
Macau, and Chinese Mainland. During the year, the Group
added another high-end project to its portfolio by winning the
bid for Shenzhen Bay Super Headquarters Base C Tower Project.
Other newly awarded large-scale facade projects included: OPPO
Dongguan Binhaiwan High-end Talent Housing and Commercial
Project, Shanghai Sina Headquarters Project, Shanghai West
Bund Convention and Exhibition Center Project and Tongzhou
Financial Development and Talent Cultivation Base Project of
Tsinghua University in Beijing.

The business environment in Singapore is excellent, and the
facade market remains stable in terms of size. The Group
accelerated its expansion in the Singapore market and completed
the formation of the local team during the year. Leveraging the
brand, technology and resource advantages of Far East Facade,
the Group has established good cooperative relationships
with local landlords and won bids for projects such as Zion
Road Parcel A and Central Mall, gradually becoming a new
overseas growth point for the facade contracting business. It is
expected that the Group will gain more trust and cooperation
from landlords, and the market share in Singapore will steadily
increase.

In recent years, the development of countries along the “Belt
and Road” has attracted significant attention, resulting in a
large number of high-end and high-quality landmark projects.
The Group will seize the important opportunities in the facade
market development of countries along the “Belt and Road”,
thoroughly research political risks, business risks, cultural risks,
and supply chain risks, prudently carry out business expansion
and continuously focus on large potential development projects
in Middle East and Southeast Asia regions.
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The building-integrated photovoltaics (BIPV) is deemed as
the focus of the Group’s new business development. The
Group has a team of seasoned professionals in the industry,
supported by an expert team composed of academicians from
Chinese Academy of Engineering, successfully overcoming
key technologies such as ultra-thin surfaces and lightweight
high-strength structures. The performance of such products
has obtained multiple international certifications and passed
architectural performance tests, achieving photovoltaic facade
products with performance and display effects similar to those
of traditional building materials such as aluminum panels, stone,
and glass for building exteriors. During the year, the Light series
products of the Group were showcased at the CSCEC Science
and Technology Exhibition. The industry and customers highly
praised the photovoltaic products of the Group. Meanwhile,
demonstration projects have been successively launched, with
the BIPV project at the Shenzhen Metrology Institute in Chinese
Mainland progressing steadily. The Group has won bids for
projects such as Beijing Daji and Bengwu Expressway, as well
as the temporary office at the Tuen Mun New Territories West
Landfill Extension and the noise barrier on Castle Peak Road in
the Hong Kong and Macau markets.

The Group attaches great importance to technological innovation
and the upgrade of digital applications, and enhances its core
competitiveness. Boasting the world’s leading technologies in
the facade of supertall skyscrapers and the complex hyperbolic
special-shaped facade, the Group has industry-leading
automated production lines and equipment. By relying on the
intelligent manufacturing information system of the entire
industry chain, the Building Information Model (BIM) technology
and the self-developed Digital Far East platform, the Group has
greatly enhanced its capabilities in refined management, and
continuously improved the project efficiency and performance
quality.

General Contracting Business

The general contracting business has been developing steadily.
The Group actively participated in the bidding of small and
medium-sized housing construction projects in Hong Kong and
deepened internal collaboration.

(
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3. Operating Management Business

While optimising and strengthening the existing supervision
business, China Overseas Supervision Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Group, has been proactively expanding into
the field of innovation, strengthening internal coordination
and linkage, and transforming into a full industry chain
of “Technology + Supervision + Consultation + Project
Management”, continuously achieving breakthroughs. The
Group continuously optimized project management mechanisms
to improve cost-efficiency.

As Shenyang Huanggu Thermoelectricity Company Limited,
a subsidiary of the Group, proactively expanded its heat
supply market, the Company has achieved significant results
in energy-efficiency measures and practiced low-carbon and
environmentally friendly green operations through refined
management practices and technological innovations.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, the global economy is expected to continue
demonstrating strong resilience and maintain stable growth, but
there are still economic downside risks such as escalating trade
tensions, intensifying geopolitical conflicts, and rebounding in inflation
levels. With the positive momentum of China’s economic recovery
continuing to be consolidated and expanded, the economies of Hong
Kong and Macau further integrate into the national development
strategy and constantly accumulate new momentum. In the future,
the continuous advancement of the Hong Kong Northern Metropolis
Development Strategy, the successive launch of new large-scale
integrated entertainment projects in Macau, and the deep integration
of the Hong Kong and Macau regions with the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area, as well as the launch of various
development projects by countries along the “Belt and Road”, such as
Middle East and Southeast Asia countries, will bring numerous project
opportunities for the Group. Amidst the vast market opportunities, the
Group will accelerate its layout in potential global markets.

The facade contracting business is the core business of the Group.
Guided by the business philosophy of “closely focusing on high-
end markets and providing high-quality services”, the Group strives
to enhance its operational and management models by taking into
account the characteristics of diverse markets, thereby optimizing
its global business deployment. In order to sustain the desired level
of profitability, the Group will further intensify its efforts in brand
promotion and market expansion, accelerate the construction
of fully automated production lines and enhance digitalization,
and continuously consolidate its core competitiveness in design,
procurement, production and construction. It will also optimise its
capability to perform contracts with high quality standard to maintain
a satisfactory level of profitability.
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The building-integrated photovoltaics (BIPV) will undoubtedly be a
new growth point for the Group’s future facade business. The Group
devotes to exploring the blue ocean field of photovoltaic facade
and will create demonstration projects in first-tier high-class cities
to lead the development of green buildings in the industry. The
Group has already implemented BIPV projects in Hong Kong and the
Chinese Mainland, which can drive public and private institutions to
further develop environmentally-friendly and energy-saving buildings,
creating a winwin situation. The Group also relies on the abundant
construction project resources within the CSCEC system, leveraging
the strong technical and manufacturing advantages of its main facade
contracting business, as well as the construction advantages of the
Group’s members, enabling more BIPV projects to be implemented in
the future.

The Group is actively mapping out the direction of facade industry
chain. As buildings age and safety standards become increasingly
stringent, there are a growing number of properties aged over the
facade design service life. Property owners are inevitably placing
increased emphasis on the esthetics and safety of the glass facade
of their buildings. Leveraging on its technological advantages, the
Company will actively explore the market demand for inspection,
maintenance and renovation of old facades.

The Group adheres to a high quality and sustainable development
strategy, actively engaging in environmental protection and social
responsibility. The Group steps up its efforts on its training to enhance
the sustainability management awareness and capabilities, and
gradually incorporates the Environmental, Social, and Governance
(ESG) concerns into our business operations. Looking ahead, the
Group will continue to deepen climate risk management initiatives
and enhance the technology research and development and project
implementation of BIPV. The Group will actively promote carbon data
collection and carbon reduction measures along the supply chain to
achieve our carbon neutrality target.

Through continuous exploration and practices, the Board and
the management aim to establish and maintain a healthy system
where various stakeholders, including shareholders, the Board, the
management, employees, customers and suppliers, facilitate each
other and contribute to the sustainable growth of the Group.

KIREE B (BIPV) BEEREAEBMERRENR
EBHHIERY - AEEENHARLRERES
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APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude
to all shareholders, customers and suppliers for their strong support
and to all employees for their hard work and commitment.

By Order of the Board

CHINA STATE CONSTRUCTION DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
Zhang Haipeng

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025
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OVERALL PERFORMANCE

The aggregate revenue of the Group decreased by 6.5% to HK$8,102
million (2023: HK$8,666 million) for the year ended 31 December
2024 as a result of the decrease in the revenue contribution from
general contracting projects as compared to last year. The profit
attributable to owners of the Company was HK$650 million (2023:
HK$580 million) and the basic earnings per share was HK28.83 cents
(2023: HK25.73 cents), an increase of 12.0% as compared to last year.
In consideration of the Company’s profitability, cash flow level and
capital requirements for future development, the Board recommends
a final dividend of HK2.8 cents per share. Total dividends to be
distributed for the year are HK9.8 cents per share.
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Segment Analysis
Facade and General Contracting Business

With a stable progress on curtain wall projects in Hong Kong and
Chinese Mainland but partly offset by the decrease in the contribution
from general construction projects, the segment’s revenue decreased
to HK$7,224 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
HK$7,719 million), representing a decrease of 6.4% as compared
to last year. The gross profit decreased by 2.4% to HK$862 million
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$883 million) as
compared to last year. The operating profit decreased by 4.0% to
HK$782 million for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$815
million) as compared to last year.

Operating Management Business

Affected by the depreciation of the Renminbi on revenue, the
segment’s revenue decreased to HK$877 million for the year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: HK$947 million) and the operating profit
increased to HK$56 million for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$32 million) as a result of the decrease of cost of coal of the
thermoelectric plant and other effective cost control measures.

Administrative, selling and other operating expenses

In the absence of the impairment provision, administrative, selling and
other operating expenses decreased to HK$210 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$288 million).

Finance costs

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’'s finance costs
decreased to HK$75 million (2023: HK$82 million) as a result of the
stringent finance cost control through bank loan replacement and
early refinancing. Compared with the increase in bank loan and the
average Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate during the year, it can
be seen that the Group’s strategic financing plans have achieved
remarkable results.

New Contracts Awarded and Project in Progress

The Group recorded an accumulated new contract value of HK$11,020
million for the year ended 31 December 2024.

As of 31 December 2024, the on-hand contract value amounted to
approximately HK$34,017 million, among which the backlog was
approximately HK$18,530 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operation with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers. As at
31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances of HK$983
million (31 December 2023: HK$713 million), total borrowings of
the Group were HK$1,581 million (31 December 2023: HK$1,188
million). The Group’s net gearing ratio (net debt to total net assets) as
at 31 December 2024 was approximately 23.4% (31 December 2023:
20.7%). Furthermore, the Group had unutilised banking facilities
(including performance guarantee facilities, working capital facilities
and loan facilities) of approximately HK$5,909 million, the Group
had sufficient financial resources to meet the business development
and expansion. The Group’s borrowings are principally on a floating
rate basis and have not been hedged by any interest rate financial
instruments.

The maturities of the Group’s total bank borrowings as at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are set out as follows:

EREHRRA N

FEBESRMKEER
NEF—RIANIAELR SRR EETSERE
THREEEREAEABIREES - 20245
12A318 » AEBHFRE RIRITEHEE.83
87t (2023128318  BE7138L) @ A%
B (& 458 AE¥15.811/8C (2023F12A318 -
FEEE11.8818 L) ° NEBEIR2024F 12 A31HAF
BELR (BB FEBRINFEERE) N A23.4%
(2023%12HA31H :20.7%) ° o AEE KR
ANROTECEEE (PRBORERE - EEA
CHERERBME) YA BES.098T - AEE
BRAMBERNENEBERE RIER - KNEE
MEREBLNEEAEM  VEBBTMAXRE
BT BEITE -

AREBEM20245F12A318 %2023F12A318 8
BITERABEIBHBERIAHOT

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

20244 20234

12A31H 12A31H

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

On demand or within one year Bk —FRNEE 583,341 789,513
More than one year but not exceeding —F LA LB EBRE

two years - -
More than two years but not more than MENANLERBBRF

five years 997,607 398,471

Total bank borrowings BIRITER 1,580,948 1,187,984

037



038

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited 7T EZ S L EEHAR AT

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIE B 5T am Mo T

The portfolio of the currencies of cash and cash equivalents of the
Group as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 is set out as
follows:

R EE 202412 A31H %2023F12A318 &
BEeRBESEEMEBHEAEINT

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

20244 20234

12A31H 12A4318

% %

Renminbi AR 66 68
Hong Kong Dollars ko 21 20
United States Dollars e 1 2
Macau Pataca SRPTHE 3 1
Others il 9 9

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s equity attributable to owners
of the Company amounted to HK$2,675 million (31 December 2023:
HK$2,402 million), comprising issued capital of HK$23 million (31
December 2023: HK$23 million) and reserves of HK$2,652 million (31
December 2023: HK$2,379 million).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy in cash and financial
management. The Group’s treasury activities are centralized in
order to achieve better risk control and minimize funding cost. Cash
is generally placed in short-term deposits mostly denominated in
Hong Kong dollar or Renminbi. The Group’s liquidity and financing
requirements are frequently reviewed. In anticipating new investments
or maturity of bank loans, the Group will consider new financing while
maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

In 2024, the net cash inflow from operating activities was HK$200
million.

M2024F12A318  AEBH 2 AR AR R ES
B BB 267587 (2023F12A318 : B
24.021B7T) F EF BRIED BHITRABK0.23E T
(2023F12A318 : B¥023EL) LEBBE

26.521870 (2023F12 A31H : #B¥23.7987T) °

B BUR
AEEHRSPMBEERNER ZEHBE
AEBETREEKEHE  EEZEEEARK
BEESKA ARBORSHHEBIXARKERE
HESR - AEEHERDES KM BERGEDY
REMZES RRBHRELIHARTENR
REBBEERTRER RANEREENEE
BEKE

20245 8 REEXBKFRERAREE20E

JC ©



EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE
FLUCTUATION

The Group's foreign currency exposures primarily arise from certain
sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other than the
unit’'s functional currency. These sales or purchases are mainly
denominated in United States dollar, Renminbi, Australian dollar,
Canadian dollar, Pound Sterling, and Macau Pataca.

The Group currently does not have a formal foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group did not engage
in the use of other financial instruments for hedging purposes, and
there were no hedging instruments outstanding as of 31 December
2024. However, the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure by
closely reviewing the movement of the foreign currency rate and
adapting natural hedge strategies.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed a total of 4,006 (31
December 2023: 4,498) employees. The Group has sound policies
of management incentives and competitive remuneration, which
align the interests of management, employees and shareholders’
alike. The Group sets its remuneration policy by reference to the
prevailing market conditions and the performance of the individuals
concerned, subject to review from time to time. The components of
the remuneration package consist of base salary, allowances, fringe
benefits including medical insurance and contributions to pension
funds as well as incentives such as discretionary bonus.
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BB R AW

S BE K B L B

AEEMIMNERBEIBEREEEEMARLINEE
BAIMEBETHNE THERRE - ZEHE
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AEEBRWERINER S BEERBESETE
I INEE H R ESR o B E2024F 124318 IEF
B AfEEVEEAEGESRT AL TAR
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20245128318 X&E B & A& #£4,006%
(2023%12A31H 1 4,498%) B8 - A BT A
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DIRECTORS AND ORGANISATION
ESENEE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EE 5

Mr. ZHANG Haipeng R& 5 5t 4

Chairman and Non-executive Director /& IFMITESE
Chairman of the Nomination Committee 22 ZE & T &
Member of the Remuneration Committee ¥ BlZ E €@k &

Aged 49, was appointed as Chairman of the Board and Non-executive Director on 18 August 2018. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Harbin Institute of Technology, and obtained a degree of Master of Business Administration from
Hong Kong Baptist University and a degree of Executive Master of Business Administration from Nankai University
and was awarded the title of Senior Engineer. He is currently Director and President of China Overseas Holdings
Limited (“COHL") and the Chairman and Executive Director of China State Construction International Holdings
Limited (“CSC”, a company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). COHL and
CSC are controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Zhang has over 25 years of experience in investment and
construction engineering management.

495% ' M2018F8AIBHEZEREFRERAIPTEF - RALEXNMBEELEARE IRKAEAREAE
THEERELIEM AERALEREBEAEINETRELISMN WHEESRITRMEE - twRAFEIEIHINE
BARABA(HEBEN)MEERALERTEZEEREEERAR ([TEREER]  REEBARSHMA
BRABEREFTRAB)NEFERATES - PEEIIRTEREBERGBARFIERER - REFHEREREET
BEETEAR2SFER -

Mr. ZHU Haiming KRS8 &4

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer $117 & £ & 1T A& H
Member of the Nomination Committee {22 Z E &K 8B

Member of the Remuneration Committee ¥ Z E &5k &

Member of the Sustainability Committee AJ#F B ELZ 8 €K E

Aged 42, was appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer on 1 June 2024. Mr. Zhu is also a director
of the Company’s subsidiaries. He graduated from Huazhong University of Science and Technology and holds a
Master of Engineering degree in Control Science and Engineering and was awarded the title of Senior Engineer. Mr.
Zhu joined the CSC Group in 2007 and has been a director of certain subsidiaries of CSC since 2012. He has over
18 years of experience in construction engineering management, infrastructure investment and operation.

425% * R2024F6 A1 REZERPITEERITRER - RELETRARFMBLARNESE - tWBEENERRHRIKE -
FETISRT2U (EENMBETIE)  YHARRTIZEMBME - RELR2007F MARBEZEBKREE - 52012
FERATERZERRETHBEARNZES HAERETIEEE EZRENELSHHEEIBFLR -




2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024F F

Directors and Organisation

EENRE

Mr. WONG Man Cheung T B % 4%

Executive Director, Chief Financial Officer $11T& % - B/E M & &
Chairman of the Sustainability Committee AJHEZXEZE @&

Aged 53, was appointed as Executive Director on 1 July 2022. Mr. Wong is also a director of a subsidiary of
the Company. He graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic University and obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accountancy and a Master’s degree in Business Administration (Financial Services) and holds a degree of Doctor of
Business Administration from the Brittany University in France. Mr. Wong is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and was a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
in United Kingdom. He is also an individual member of Hong Kong Business Accountants Association. Mr. Wong
joined the Group in November 2020 as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. He has over 28 years of experience
in accounting, audit, financial management, corporate financing, business development, strategic planning and
advisory, business controlling, risk management and investor relations. He was involved in a wide range of businesses
including, but not limited to, property development and investment, construction, engineering, hospitality, trading,
manufacturing, telecommunication, mining, distribution and retailing.

535% ' M2022F7AVHEZERNTERZ -TRENAREARAMBERARNERE MEXERETERIKRE KFHE
AXBETBMRTIHER (@RRE) B2 KAEBrittany KBTI HEBR B L2 - TREREBSHALAE
RAMEE TEREEABFHFAREHAMAGEREE -HMARBEARSHMBEBEAEE - TEER2020
FNAMAREE  SARFERVHAE - MESF - Bt MBEE  CXRE  XHER - RBRILEH -
EXBER RREEMREEFWEIOAEABFRLR HE2HBEIZNEY BRETRRAMEZRLKE -
TR CBERST B RE B OBE KERTE-

Mr. HUANG Jiang E3I 564

Non-executive Director JE#1TE F

Aged 50, was appointed as Non-executive Director on 16 March 2017. Mr. Huang graduated from Chongging
Jianzhu University (now known as Chongqging University) and holds a Master's degree in Project Management
from Hong Kong Polytechnic University and an Executive Master’s degree in Business Administration from Nankai
University and was awarded the title of Senior Engineer. He joined A B Z5E %£ & A R A &) (China State Construction
Engineering Corporation*, “CSCEC”) in 1997 and was seconded to CSC in 2000. Mr. Huang has been a director
of certain subsidiaries of CSC since 2007. Currently, he is Vice President of CSC. Mr. Huang has over 28 years of
experience in contract and project management.

505% ' MR2017F3A16RBREZERIPTEF -FEARLEENEERZERZ(AREEKRE) IHABFTEEIARE
HEEEPRITEUNHAARERERAEIBERB L2 UHEASRIEMEBE - 019974 1A
BESEARAR ([HEEE]) - R2000F K5 P BEZERK - A4S H2007FEEPEZEBKRE THER A
B BARTEEZAERAH -tESHMIEREEHHAB28F LR -
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Mr. ZHOU Jinsong S &4

Independent Non-executive Director B3 3E#117E 5

Chairman of the Audit Committee B ZE & T /%

Member of the Nomination Committee 122 Z 8 €K 8
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee ¥ Z 8 & £ /&
Member of the Sustainability Committee Al 5B EZE K E

Aged 54, was appointed as Director on 8 March 2010 and was subsequently designated as Independent
Non-executive Director on 10 March 2010. Mr. Zhou graduated from Guangdong Radio and TV University in 1992
and obtained a Master of Business Administration degree from Harbin Institute of Technology in 2003. He is a
Certified Public Accountant licensed in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). Mr. Zhou has extensive experience
in accounting, audit and business advisory in various audit firms and private companies in the PRC. He was an
accountant supervisor in the fund management office of the Shenzhen Cultural Development Department (&I T
EEXALEFERREIZBEELLEE /AP A ZE) from 1995 to 2002. Mr. Zhou is currently the President of Weiya, an
accounting firm in Shenzhen.

545% ' M2010F3ACHELZ T AEE HEM2010F3A10R AT BYFENTES - ALEMIIONFEERER
EBREERAL  M2003FEREEIXALEBE IHETRELTEMN - ATEARANE ([HE]) MR e sth -
ArEEZEPRSAMEFMERLARAEEREZONG Bl REFEMLR - thH1995F £2002F HTF
NTEEX L EXEEREBFESEBENMIPAENGHEE - ALERTFRYE RS EBANAE -

Ms. CHAN Man Ki Maggie REH & +

Independent Non-executive Director 383/ 3E#11T75E &

Member of the Audit Committee BZEZE &R 8

Member of the Nomination Committee 22 & 8 €K 8
Member of the Remuneration Committee $7EHZ E &5k 8
Member of the Sustainability Committee AI B HEEZ 8 €K 8

Aged 56, was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director on 1 July 2022. Ms. Chan obtained her Bachelor
degree in Laws and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the University of Hong Kong in 1991 and 1992
respectively. She is the founder and managing partner of CMK lawyers, a law firm in Hong Kong, and has over 30
years of experience in providing legal advices and services as a solicitor in Hong Kong. Ms. Chan is also a lawyer in
the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and her practice institution is Sino-Win Law Firm.

565% 0 FR2022F7H1BEZTABYENITEE ML LEBRI99TFENIIONFREEEASLAE L2 MK
BREEVR -WABTBEMEBARSEEZMITZANRARIESEBA  REBUEZM S HREEZEZFALRS
HBE30F - MEZ L MEEBRNEREN NEREBELRERBREMBHA -
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Ms. Chan is an Accredited Mediator and a China-Appointed Attesting Officer in Hong Kong. She is also the
founding president of The Small and Medium Law Firms Association of Hong Kong. Furthermore, Ms. Chan is a
Specially Invited Mediator of Guangdong Court for Cross-border Commercial Dispute Resolution in the Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, a Mediator of Shenzhen Qianhai International Commercial Mediation Centre
and AALCO Hong Kong Regional Arbitration Centre, an Arbitrator of China Guangzhou Arbitration Commission,
Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration, Qingdao Arbitration Commission, South China International Arbitration
Centre (Hong Kong) and AALCO Hong Kong Regional Arbitration Centre. She is also a member of Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Foreign Law Ascertainment Expert. She is currently an independent non-executive
director of Wine's Link International Holdings Limited, Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited and Nine Dragons Paper
(Holdings) Limited. The aforesaid companies are all listed in Hong Kong.

Ms. Chan has also undertaken various community positions in Hong Kong including being an Ex-officio Member
of Election Committee, a member of the Consultation Group on LawTech Development and Chairman of Appeal
Tribunal Panel (Building Ordinance). She was awarded the Medal of Honor in 2012 and Justice of the Peace in 2015
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Ms. Chan was also conferred with Honorary
Fellow by City University of Hong Kong in 2013. She was elected as a Hong Kong Deputy to the National People’s
Congress of the PRC (the 13th session and the 14th session) in 2017 and 2022 respectively, an executive member of
the All-China Women's Federation Executive Committee in 2018, a president of All-China Women's Federation Hong
Kong Delegates Association Ltd. in 2021 and a Legislative Council Member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2022.

RELLABRERUFARERTHEAZREITA  XRBFETEBRASER - 1IN W AER AR BBRKNEREE
BEMANFAFARES  RYITHESERASHARTORARE DI EABELRAMEFOEMARE - BMFER
ZEEMHE  FYBERMERTHRE SEFRZEGNHERER (FE)BRMEARMEER  BIEBERE
BEMAEPOEMTEE  UREBRKEREINEREAZEREKE - REATERF /BB BEXERZERERAF
ERERERABDRARAE (ZEBR)BERAFAZBIFNTES  LAARHERELT -

MEZETRBEBETZELE AR BEREEEEZBGENTE HBEMRBRANVEKE R EFER D
HEE CEEDIED) - R BN2012F R2015FEFEBFHTREBNFRERAEDERE TAFMHL » LHN2013
FEBEBEPRTASRREER L - R HAR2017FR2022FEERFTEBIBERBI4EZBEARRERRES
BRE R2018FRATELHRIBETHITEZESEE MO FRRAERGFHRRBES SR IN2022F
KRERBEITREBIEGEE -
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Mr. ZHANG Xinyu FRiXF %4

Independent Non-executive Director 37 3E#117% 5

Member of the Audit Committee BZZ E &K &

Member of the Nomination Committee 122 Z 8 €K 8
Member of the Remuneration Committee ¥ #lZ E €k &
Member of the Sustainability Committee Al 5B EZE K E

Aged 36, was appointed as Independent Non-executive Director on 1 July 2022. Mr. Zhang graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Engineering Degree in Civil Engineering. He is a Member of The Hong
Kong Institution of Engineers, Member of The Engineers Registration Board and a Chartered Engineer of the
Institution of Civil Engineers. Mr. Zhang is also a Chartered Member of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and
Transport. He worked for MTR Corporation Limited and was responsible for the construction of various new railway
projects and train operations. Mr. Zhang is a Legislative Council Member of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region elected in 2022. He has over 14 years of experience in engineering field.

365% M202F7TAVBEZERBIUIFNTEE - REEFERBERE ERRIBE L (EATRE) B b
REETIEMBZEEE ITRMAMEBRKXEREELATIEMBERHT TN  REETREBRYREER
BeRMeE MENEEHRERARMCR TE2AEXENRRIERAREBEEETE - RELN20224F
KRABEFINTREBIEGHE - R TREBE T EEABI14FK58R -

SENIOR MANAGEMENT SR EEAE

Mr. WANG Yapeng T ZE [ & &

Vice President Bl|42%;

Aged 49, graduated from Huazhong University of Science and Technology and Renmin University of China, and
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering and a Master’s degree in Business Administration. Mr. Wang joined CSCEC
in 2004 and was seconded to the COHL Group in 2007. He joined the Group in 2018 and has over 26 years of
experience in business operation, enterprise management, human resources and administration.

49K BENEFEIABRFEARAS HATSBLH0RTHERAL B - F 5020044 1A 2
S - 720074 BB EESMEE - R2018FMAREE  ERAEE  DEEE  ANERRIREEE
HEA 265 R -
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Mr. GUO Feng 2RI 5t &

Vice President 2425,

Aged 49, graduated from Central University of Finance and Economics and holds a Bachelor’s degree in Economics.
Mr. Guo joined CSCEC in 1998 and was seconded to the COHL Group in 2001. He joined the Group in 2023
and has over 26 years of experience in financial management, internal audit, corporate internal control and risk
management.

495% c BENTRIIGERE  BELESE LB - ZPAAERI1998FEMAREEE - R2001FEREFEEGINEE -
R2023F MAAREE - tEFFERE - NEEFT ENEMEAKREES T EAE B26FER -

Mr. ZHU Minfeng k81§ % 4

Vice President 2l 42%;

Aged 45, graduated from Southeast University and Huazhong University of Science and Technology, and holds a
Bachelor’s degree and a Master’s degree in Engineering. Mr. Zhu joined the CSC Group in 2002 and was seconded
to the Group in 2018. He has over 22 years of experience in construction engineering management.

455% BEERREAEREPREARE BEISLELEAMBE T2 o RAEER2002FMAFHBERBREEH -
WH2018FRBEASEE  HWERETIREEEFEREA2FKER -

Mr. GAO Fei B R &4

Vice President Bll42%;

Aged 39, graduated from the Harbin Institute of Technology with Bachelor of Engineering and Bachelor of Science
degrees, and holds a Master’'s degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist University and was
awarded the title of Senior Engineer. Mr. Gao joined the CSC Group in 2009. He joined the Group in 2020 and has
over 15 years of experience in enterprise management and construction management.

95 BERAKHRBEIXEAE EEETIEZSL DESBEE4E8N FEEEFSAEIHEEBE LIS U E
Bl TIZMBETE - 3L ER2009F MAFRBEEEBEKRER @ R2000F IIAAEE -t ECEEENZETIRE
BEHEABISFELR -
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Mr. CHAN Sun Nung FR¥T8E 5 &

Technical Director %5t 42 25

Aged 65, obtained a Master’s degree in Construction Engineering and Management from Griffith University,
Australia. Mr. Chan is the president of Hong Kong Facade Association. He joined the Group in 2003 and has over 45
years of experience in curtain wall design.

655% BEXENBRMBEFERTAR BEREETEREERIBU - REERBTERESRBESHEIE 1
2003F INAAREE @ AR R T HA BASF LR o

Mr. MOK Wai Him EE & %4

Project Director T2 48 ES

Aged 64, graduated from the University of Essex, United Kingdom with a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied
Physics and obtained a Master’s degree in Instrumentation and Analytical Science from the University of Manchester
Institute of Science and Technology, United Kingdom. Mr. Mok is a member of the Institute of Measurement and
Control in the United Kingdom and an associate member of the Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers.
He joined the Group in 1996 and has over 38 years of experience in project management.

64  BENRENERHTAR  EEREAYESESLEN  IHARESBTFARRIERZERNRD
PMBBELTEM - RELARBEERFELERH R GERFAETRELEMNBEEERER  R1996F MAR
SE - MAEREEESEAB38FLR -

Mr. LAU Sai Ying, Alan 2B £ &

Marketing Director 1% 48 B

Aged 64, graduated from the University of Manitoba, Canada with a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil Engineering.
Mr. Lau is a member of Hong Kong Institution of Engineers and a registered professional engineer in Hong Kong.
He joined the Group in 1997 and has over 37 years of construction, engineering and facade system project
management and marketing experience in Canada and Hong Kong.

645 EENNMERSERAERE  EEREBEEBLEM (EEBLATIRE) - FLEABEIRMBTERE ST
MEZETEM MO7TFNMAREE  EMEALREANREE ITELERAZRBEEEELMSHEE I AR
37FE KR o
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Mr. SHI Dingwei ¥ T &% 4%

Assistant President B2 48 £

Aged 36, graduated from the Harbin Institute of Technology with Bachelor of Engineering, and holds a Master's
degree in Business Administration from Hong Kong Baptist University and was awarded the title of Engineer. Mr.
Shi joined the CSC Group in 2011. He joined the Group in 2018 and has over 14 years of experience in enterprise
management, construction management, human resources and administration.

3655 REERMBREIEAD EERTISEESL BEASZEAEIRNERELTEN  WEE TEMEBE - 6
EER201MFENMATRELERBREE  R2018FMALREE - bELEEE BEIREEE ANBRETHE
HEAFMABBIAFER -

Mr. HONG Jianping &2 ¥ £ &£

Chairman and General Manager, Shenyang Huanggu Thermoelectricity
Company Limited*
BBEGREARATNESERBER

Aged 59, graduated from Xi'an University of Architecture and Technology with a Bachelor of Engineering degree.
Mr. Hong joined the COHL Group in 1998 and was seconded to the CSC Group in 2008. He joined the Group in
2014 and has over 36 years of experience in investment, mergers and acquisitions, plant management and enterprise
management.

5958 RENTARBEMBRAL  BERILE T2 o HAEEMBF A EIEINER - 120084 A F E
EEEREE  R2014FMAREE - hAERE - 6t THEELOCEER A BI6CFLER -

* for identification purpose only
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Mr. LYU Wenrui 2EX& %%

General Manager, Far East Facade (Zhuhai) Limited*

BZRERE(NE) ARARBKE

Aged 42, graduated from Beihang University with Bachelor of Engineering. Mr. Lyu joined the CSC Group in 2007.
He joined the Group in 2013 and has over 20 years of experience in construction management.

A2 BERIEEMZEMAKRE  HELEEL 2 - BEAER2007FMAFEZERFER o HR2013F A
AEH FRETREEETmAE20FER -

Mr. CHEN Guozhan [RE & &£ 4

General Manager, Far East Netfortune Facade (Shanghai) Company Limited*

BRNERRE (LB ARORBERE

Aged 44, graduated from Hebei Institute of Engineering. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2022 and has over 20 years
of experience in curtain wall supply chain management, construction management, and business operation.

4

4455 BEMNMIL TRER c A ER2022FMALREE - b E B FEHEHEEE BETREERE  RREESH

A B0F &5 -

*

for identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate governance
and recognises that good corporate governance is fundamental to the
long-term success of the Company and delivering sustainable value
to shareholders. Accordingly, the corporate governance principles
of the Company emphasise an effective and well-balanced Board,
healthy culture, sound risk management and internal control system,
transparency and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles, and complied with all
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the "CG Code”) as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
December 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

A healthy culture lies at the heart of strong governance. The Board
is responsible for setting the tone from the top and establishing the
Group’s purpose, values and strategy. The Board develops the desired
culture to support the pursuit of success and ensures all these are
aligned.

As a large professional facade enterprise dedicated to innovation,
low-carbon environmental protection and sustainable development,
the Group always upholds the corporate culture of “Creating
Trends”, adheres to the mission of “Exercising Caution in Details
and Implementation and Building a Strong Foundation to Seek
Greater Success”, pursues the core values of “integrity, innovation,
pragmatism and excellence” and adheres to the business philosophy of
“quality assurance and value creation.” The Group upholds the talent
concept of “Assembling the Enterprising Ones and Motivating the
Promising Ones”. The Group strictly implements corporate governance,
actively fulfills its social responsibility, and pursues continuous value
enhancement for shareholders, employees, working partners and
society. The Group is constantly committed to building differentiated
competitive advantages through technology empowerment and refined
management. The Group is committed to becoming the world’s top
one-stop facade service provider.

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Company’s governance framework is designed to facilitate
effective, resilient and prudent management of the business of the
Group. The Board is the principal decision-making body, with authority
for specific matters being delegated to the Board committees.
Responsibility for the day-to-day operation of the Group is delegated
to the management under the leadership of the Chief Executive
Officer. The diagram below sets out the role of the Board and how
it has delegated certain responsibilities to the Board committees and
management.
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Responsible for promoting long-term sustainable success of the Group and enhancing shareholder value
BEREREBRERAFENKY - ARREARREER

Provides stewardship of the Group and establishes the purpose, values and strategy

BREEAKE  YHERS

- EEBARE

Sets and monitors the Group’s ethics and culture
B B E A EE A BEMEEE

Evaluates and monitors performance of the Group and approves financial statements, dividends and

external financing

AT AREELS - SOEVBRE - REFEINHE
Ensures maintenance of effective systems of risk management and internal control
TR #EF5 75 200 (R BR B 32 0 0 BBl R AT
Approves Board appointments, major acquisitions, disposals and certain material contracts
HEEERNELEEE  FANESE  HESHENETEESD

Ensures good corporate governance practices are in place

ERRFNEXE AR

!

!

!

Audit Committee T Nomination Committee T Remuneration Committee Sustainability Committee
BEREES REZEE FMEEe IHERREES

Oversees the Group's financial
reporting, systems of risk
management and internal
control and the work of
external auditors.*

EEAEENPBRE - Ak
EIEMAEE S RA  AKSID
i

TZELEREY T © *

Management
EEE

Reviews the composition of
the Board, assesses
independence of Directors and
makes recommendations to
the Board on appointment of
Directors.*

B ERRENX  FFRESR
BB - ARGEFEESEM
EERREES -

Makes recommendations to
the Board on the
remuneration policy and
structure for Directors and
senior management.*

HEFHERERAROHH
BEMEBAEEBHR LR
o

Responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the leadership of the

Chief Executive Officer

ETBERNEETARAKREANRREE

Executes strategies, oversees and delivers performance and drives the desired culture

within the Group

TR - BN EE - WESENESHERNDEI

Makes recommendations to
the Board regarding
sustainability policies and
strategies, sustainability
related risks and
countermeasures, and
monitors performance.*

AT RS R BORMERR © 7]
FEERAERRMERNE
ERIEHER - UREER
o

*  Details of the committee’s responsibilities are described more fully in the “Board Committees” section of this report
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Zhang Haipeng, leads the Board and
ensures its effectiveness in directing the Company. The Chairman
achieves this through promoting a culture of constructive debate
and openness among all Board members, both executive and non-
executive. To support this, from time to time, the Chairman meets or
discusses with Independent Non-executive Directors privately without
other Directors present. The Chairman encourages high standards of
corporate governance and ensures that the Board receives accurate,
timely and clear information, and is consulted on all relevant matters.
The Chairman is also responsible for ensuring that Board meetings are
planned and conducted effectively, including setting the agenda for
each Board meeting, taking into account, where appropriate, matters
proposed by Directors. With the support of the Executive Directors
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all
Directors are properly briefed on issues to be deliberated at Board
meetings. The Chairman attends general meetings and meetings
with institutional investors to obtain an understanding of their issues
and concerns, ensuring effective communication with them. Mr.
Zhu Haiming, who succeeded Mr. Wu Mingging as Chief Executive
Officer with effect from 1 June 2024, is responsible for the day-to-
day operation and management of the Group, and implementation of
Board decisions, policies and strategies. The Chief Executive Officer
assumes full accountability to the Board for the overall operation
of the Group and has responsibility for overseeing and delivering
operational performance of the Group.

THE BOARD
Composition and Diversity

The Group is led by an effective and committed Board, with a culture
of openness and transparency at Board meetings. As at 31 December
2024, the Board comprised two Non-executive Directors, three
Independent Non-executive Directors and two Executive Directors.
The names of the Directors in office during 2024 and up to the date
of this report are set out in the “Report of the Directors” section of
this Annual Report. The brief biographies of the current Directors,
including their membership at various Board committees, are set out
in the “Directors and Organisation” section of this Annual Report.

The following changes to the Board composition were effected during
2024:

(1) Mr. Wang Hai retired as Executive Director with effect from the
conclusion of the 2024 annual general meeting;

(2)  Mr. Zhu Haiming was appointed as Executive Director with effect
from 1 June 2024; and

(3)  Mr. Wu Mingging retired as Executive Director with effect from
1 August 2024.
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The Board diversity policy sets out the Board’s approach to diversity.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, culture,
educational background, professional experience, knowledge and
length of service and the ultimate decision will be based on merit
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board
and the Board will have a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Company is focused upon increasing Board diversity
without compromising on the calibre of Directors. In determining
suitable candidates for the Board appointment, the Nomination
Committee and the Board pay due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board and disclose in the circular to shareholders how the
individual who is proposed to be elected as Independent Non-
executive Director at the general meeting contributes to the diversity
of the Board.

Balance of the Board Directors’ Tenure (years)

BB EEEH (F)
B Executive Director #i77&E S B <4
B Non-executive Director JE#/TE S H 49
Independent Non-executive Director >9

B IFITESE

Expertise / Experience

EZRZTICERRBMBEETRNZ (LT - 8
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RAMR - Flk XL - BEBER FELR -
HMBEREESR  MELBRABORERAR
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MEXRNARET  REEZTRNZITEKFE -2
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Age
Fix

m <4
W 41-50
> 50

Construction
EE

Finance and Accounting
B RET

29%

Risk Management and
Compliance
REREREREE

Legal
EE

14%

Public Services
AR

57%

International Corporation
Management
SRl AR EE

43%

Investment
BE

Engineering
IR




The Board currently has seven members with one of whom being
a female member. The selection of candidates to join the Board
continues to be made based on merit and the individual appointee’s
ability to contribute to the effectiveness of the Board, which in turn
is dependent on the pool of candidates available. While the Board
targets to maintain the current level of female representation, it will
continue to take opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified.
The male to female employee ratio of the Group (including senior
management) was about 5.58:1 as at 31 December 2024. The Group
will continue to apply a range of diversity perspectives including
but not limited to gender, age, culture, educational background,
professional experience and knowledge in employee recruitment. In
addition, there will be no discrimination based on gender, age, cultural
and educational background, race, nationality, religion, socioeconomic
status, physical ability, family background and other factors. Since
the Group’s core business is construction which is an industry with
women underrepresented, it may be difficult to reverse the gender
imbalance in the short term. However, the Group strives to improve
gender diversity by (i) widening the talent pool; (ii) focusing on
diversity during the recruitment process; (iii) raising industry awareness
in young people by running recruitment programmes with universities;
and (iv) providing equal opportunities through a transparent pay and
reward system.

The Nomination Committee reviews annually the Board’'s composition
with a view to ensuring a diverse mix of backgrounds, skills,
knowledge and experience as well as deep expertise in construction
and engineering.

Appointment

All Non-executive Directors were appointed not for a specific term.
Directors appointed by the Board shall hold office only until the first
annual general meeting following their appointments. Such Directors
shall then be eligible for re-election. In addition, all Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the articles of association of the Company. A retiring
Director is eligible for re-election and re-election of retiring Directors
at general meetings are dealt with by separate resolutions.

If an Independent Non-executive Director serves more than nine years,
his/her further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders and the circular to shareholders will
include the reasons why the Board believes he/she is still independent
and should be re-elected.
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Independence

The Company recognises that board independence is critical to good
corporate governance. The Board (comprising more than one-third
Independent Non-executive Directors) and the Audit Committee
(being made up by Independent Non-executive Directors only) exceed
the independence requirements as set out in the Listing Rules.
Independent Non-executive Directors receive fixed fees for their role
as members of the Board with additional fees payable to reflect
chairmanship of Board committees. None of the Independent Non-
executive Directors receive equity-based remuneration which is linked
to performance of the Group. Each of the Board committees has
specific terms of reference with delegated authority from the Board to
engage independent professional advisers and Directors are entitled
to obtain independent professional advice relating to their personal
responsibilities as a Director at the Company’s expense.

The Nomination Committee has delegated authority from the Board
in relation to the assessment of the independence of Directors. In
assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors,
the committee takes into account the criteria affecting independence
as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and whether the Company
has received from each Independent Non-executive Director an annual
confirmation of independence and whether there is any change of
circumstances that may affect his/her independence.

Apart from the aforesaid independence assessment, certain conflict
management measures have also been taken to ensure all decisions
made and actions taken by Directors are in the best interests of
the Company and its shareholders as a whole and such measures
include the declaration of potential conflicts of interest and voluntary
abstention by Directors from discussions and voting on matters related
to them (regardless of the absence of any potential conflicts on
appropriate assessment) after due declaration of interest in accordance
with the articles of association of the Company.

The above mechanisms are in place to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board and such mechanisms will be
reviewed annually by the Board with attention to ensuring that the
Board remains independent in judgement, and continues to present
an objective and constructive challenge to the assumptions and
viewpoints presented by the management.

In 2024, the Board independence was assessed in the form of a
questionnaire completed by Directors and the findings indicated that
the Board is well-balanced and remains independent in judgement
and operates with a style of open, honest discussion and constructive
challenge.
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Board Process

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year. Additional
meetings of the Board or the Board committees established by it
to consider specific matters, can be convened, when necessary.
Directors may attend meetings in person, by phone or through
other means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Company’s articles of association. During the year, the Board held
five meetings. In addition to physical meetings, Directors participate
in the deliberation and approval of routine and operational matters
of the Company by circulation of written resolutions with supporting
explanatory materials. For regular meetings of the Board and Board
committees, Directors receive notice and agenda at least 14 days in
advance and supporting Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the
meetings. For ad hoc meetings, Directors are given as much notice as
is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. Directors are given
the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings and raise other matters that are not on the agenda during
the meetings. Directors are given sufficient time for discussion at the
Board meetings. Where queries are raised by Directors, prompt and
full responses will be given if possible.

Where Directors have not been able to attend a Board or Board
committee meeting, they have reviewed the papers circulated for
that meeting and provided their comments directly or through the
Company Secretary, to the Chairman or the committee chair, as
appropriate. In addition to formal Board meetings, the Chairman had
private discussion with Independent Non-executive Directors during
the year.

Directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information if necessary. Management is responsible
for providing such explanation and information to the Board as will
enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the financial
and other matters put before the Board for approval. All members
of the Board are provided with monthly updates with respect to the
operating information and performance of the Group to enable the
Directors, individually and collectively, to discharge their legal and
regulatory duties.

All Directors also have direct access to the Company Secretary for
advice and, if required, can seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense. There is an agreed procedure to enable them
to do so which is managed by the Company Secretary.
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If a conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder or a
Director arises, the matter will be discussed at a physical meeting, as
opposed to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent Non-
executive Directors with no material interest in the proposed matter or
transaction will be present at the meeting to deal with the conflict.

Draft version of meeting minutes of the Board and Board committees
will be sent to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after
the meetings and final version of minutes will be placed on record
after approval at the next meeting.

The Board recognises the importance of individual members having
sufficient time available to discharge their duties effectively. Additional
commitments of Directors are carefully reviewed on appointment,
before new Directors are accepted onto the Board. Directors are
expected to attend all meetings of the Board and Board committees
for which they are members, as well as the annual general meeting,
unless there are exceptional circumstances preventing them from
participating. The table below shows the Directors’ attendance at
meetings and trainings throughout the year.

HELTBRRIXEFTHFENSZER  MABER
HEESHE LR MIENETDRBZTALRE -
EREFBEXXFHPRBEEAMNBENBILIFRNIT
EERehReREENSERER -

ERE EERREFZREERLENTRE
EEERBARXGESTRAER MeRLE
MERERBEE T AEHE LI ERTHBESR -

EFRRATUKERTERENHREELENR
WEITRENEEN  EZEFNESEKENA
EERzA EERAHAERESNEMB -
EXANEMEEERERLERKENESEE
Beegd UERBRRBFRE BRIFARFKRER
ER2M - TREJIEENEFALF S RIE
ElEC DI

Meetings attended/eligible to attend

HERY,/FHERY
Audit  Remuneration Nomination  Sustainability General Training
Board Committee Committee  Committee Committee Meetings  (Note 4)
ARERR 3
EER ®KZEY yMZE® REZEE ZE® BEAE (W)
Chairman and Non-executive Director TERFHUTES
Zhang Haipeng w5k 5/5 - 212 212 - 33 %
Executive Directors HTES
Wu Mingging (Note 1) REAE (MEE1) 33 - 22 212 171 22 -
Zhu Haiming (Note 2) K85 (f:2) 212 - - - 171 2 v/
Wang Hai (Note 3) T8 (FE3) 212 - - - - 11 -
Wong Man Cheung TEH 5/5 - - - 22 33 %
Non-executive Director ERITES
Huang Jiang BL 3/5 - - - - 23 %
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTEES
Zhou linsong IBESEN 5/5 4/4 212 22 2/2 3/3 v
Chan Man Ki Maggie REH 5/5 4/4 212 22 22 313 v
Zhang Xinyu KRF 5/5 4/4 212 22 2/2 3/3 v/
1. Mr. Wu retired from the Board and ceased to member of the 1. RELERTEETBEMITBRETRELEEZE

Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Sustainability
Committee with effect from 1 August 2024.

2. Mr. Zhu joined the Board on 1 June 2024 and appointed to the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Sustainability
Committee with effect from 1 August 2024.

3. Mr. Wang retired from the Board after conclusion of the annual
general meeting held on 31 May 2024.

4. Training includes attending trainings organised by the Company,
seminars, conferences and courses, and reading relevant materials.

g FHEEeRUBEERZEEKE B
2024F8A1HEAR -

2. KREKENR2024F6RA1HMAEZEEZR 52024
FEAARETREZES FHEZES
ARERREEGNE -

3. FHRAMR2024F5A3MERTHRRAFARE
HEREBRARPITES -

4. BIBRESNAQAAEENEIN g g
HAMERIE - A RBEMEBER -



Development and Training

Upon appointment to the Board, Directors are provided with
induction training conducted by senior management and external
legal advisers to ensure that they have a thorough understanding of
the Group’s operations and governance policies, as well as their role
and responsibilities as Directors. Mr. Zhu Haiming was appointed
as Executive Director effective 1 June 2024, attended a training
session on 31 May 2024, at which an external legal adviser provided
legal advice on Hong Kong law as regards the requirements under
the Listing Rules that are applicable to him as a director of a listed
company and the possible consequences of making a false declaration
or giving false information to the Stock Exchange. Mr. Zhu has
confirmed his understanding of the information provided by the legal
adviser and his obligations as a director of a listed company.

Ongoing training helps Directors keep abreast of current trends and
issues facing the Group, while enabling them to update and refresh
the skills and knowledge necessary for the performance of their duties.
Directors are encouraged to attend internal and external briefings and
courses on aspects of their respective committee specialisms. Training
and development sessions are arranged by the Company on specific
areas every year. During 2024, the Board received trainings facilitated
by external experts on new climate-related disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules and sustainable finance. In addition, regular
updates on relevant legal, regulatory and corporate governance
matters are provided to Directors as appropriate. Directors are required
to provide the Company with details of training undertaken once a
year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has four committees, namely the Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Sustainability Committee and each of which has specific written terms
of reference approved by the Board. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Sustainability Committee are available on the Company’s
website or, on request, from the Company Secretary. Verbal reports
on meetings of the committees are provided at each regular Board
meeting by the relevant committee chairs.

The committees are provided with all necessary resources including
access to independent professional advice, if necessary, to enable
them to undertake their duties in an effective manner. The Company
Secretary acts as secretary to the committees.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed solely of Independent Non-
executive Directors with Mr. Zhou Jinsong as chairman and Ms. Chan
Man Ki Maggie and Mr. Zhang Xinyu as members of the committee.
All the members served on the committee throughout the year. Mr.
Zhou Jinsong possesses appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in financial matters which is in compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year and its primary
duties include ensuring the Group’s financial statements (including
annual, half-year and quarterly results) present a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s financial position; reviewing the Group's
financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
systems; reviewing the Group's financial and accounting policies
and practices; and recommending the appointment and approving
remuneration of external auditor. Other duties of the committee are
set out in its specific terms of reference.

EEXEE
EXZRENARNEZES  BREEXEZES
RAZB8g FHZESRAURKERRZES
EEZECHERESREMANFTCEMRESR
B #ERZE® REZEE® FHZEELT
FEZRZEENRESEINARBAMUERH
KANFMEER HPELZESTFEEBREY
EEREALVITESERIIFL O EER-

i3

SRRHUMAVEZER BRERTE
RENBYEXEER  BARKSEAIAGRNTTE
ZBE

BITREZBE -ARMEREIRSZEG LMW
=,

BREES
ERZECER=-RBUFENTEFMEK A
PMALEREETR  REELLIREMFTEER
ZEEGKE - MARKERFAYARZEGKE -
FSrcE A BEENEXRERRMBER
& FHHBIE3 21K TE

EREZEEEFELRTOREH  HXE2RE
BREERAEENVBERR (BEFE ¥FE
REREXA)HAREMBERAEREERAL
MEHE  BEHARBENOMBHRSERF AR
LEBREEGE BHAKRBEOMBREFHER
NER  AREEREIN SR R E N
BEEM -  ZZ B e HEMBERN AT ER
REFER -



The committee met four times in 2024. The attendance of committee
members is set out on page 56. Chief Financial Officer, Vice President
and Deputy General Manager, Finance and Treasury Department were
regular attendees at the meetings of the committee. External auditors
were invited to attend two of those meetings to discuss various
accounting issues, audit findings and audit plan with the committee.

The work of the committee during the year included reviewing the
results announcements and financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023, and for the first quarter, half-year and third quarter
of 2024, the annual report and interim report. To aid its review, the
committee considered the report from the management and the
report from external auditor on the outcomes of the annual audit.
The committee also reviewed the continuing connected transactions,
internal control, risk management and internal audit matters, approved
the audit plan and fee for the 2024 year end audit before audit
commencement and made recommendation to the Board on the re-
appointment of auditor.

In addition, the Audit Committee monitors the audit and non-audit
services rendered to the Group by its external auditor to ensure that
their engagement in non-audit services will not impair their audit
independence or objectivity. An independence confirmation has
been obtained from Ernst & Young which confirms that they are
independent of the Group in accordance with the independence
requirements of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

The fees in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the
Company and its subsidiaries by Ernst & Young and other firms of
its worldwide network for the financial year ended 31 December
2024 amounted to approximately HK$2,982,000 and HK$323,000
respectively. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax compliance
and advisory services amounting HK$238,000 and other services for ad
hoc projects amounting HK$85,000.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhang Haipeng, the
Chairman of the Board and Non-executive Director and its other
members include Mr. Zhu Haiming, Executive Director and Chief
Executive Officer and the three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhou Jinsong, Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie and Mr. Zhang
Xinyu. During the year, Mr. Zhu Haiming was appointed to the
committee following the retirement of Mr. Wu Mingqging. All other
members served on the committee throughout the year.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year and is
responsible for reviewing the Board structure, size and composition,
identifying and nominating to the Board candidates who are
appropriate for appointment or re-appointment as Directors, assessing
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and making
recommendation to the Board on succession planning.

The committee held two meetings in 2024. The attendance of
committee members is set out on page 56. Vice President attended
one of the meetings by invitation. The work of the committee during
the year included consideration of the composition of the Board to
ensure there was an appropriate balance of skills, knowledge and
experience and the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors, and considering and making recommendation to the Board
on the proposed appointment of the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director. The appointment of Mr. Zhu Haiming as Chief
Executive Officer and Executive Director is part of the succession
planning for the retirement of Mr. Wu Mingging. While the committee
remained mindful of the importance of diversity within the Board
when making the recommendation to the Board, it believed that
the Board needs to replace the construction industry expertise that
Mr. Wu brought and Mr. Zhu's significant strategic and operational
delivery experience will be beneficial to the Board. The committee also
considered and made recommendation to the Board on the re-election
of the Directors at the annual general meeting.

REEES
RAZECHEZTRIFRIIFVTESTREEL
EREETE  HOXKBEERATESRITRAR
KEBALELE UR=ZF2BIFATES  NEAY
mEE REHZLTRERMFEE - FR - KB
AEEMAZES  EBRENIRPBFELE A
BEMAKERFAYR/EZEEKE -

REAZEEESFELBIT-REH  LAERA
EERMRAR  ARKEK WEAEAELA
EXZRRAEAEIRBETESTNHREA I
BUFRTEENB LML URREETEME
ERRELER -

ZEEN2024FAHMAEH ZEE@KEH
FHENBERENESCE o B AR EGHFEHE
—REZ-FRN ZZBENITHEREEE
ERMMEKAERES BEXRE ABNERT
HEBCEEFE  REBBIYIFATESNEYL
o ARBRITHREARMATESNZEZERE
ERIEHEE ZEREBRALERTHAR LA
TEEREMRPBELENRNOEEANGTE —
o BEXZEGENEZTRRELIERARDA
EREERZTLENEEL BZEERRESF
REAEHRLEMABNEETERERAE M
RELENEEEMANLEINERTEHEER
TRER  ZEZBETHEBERBRRBFAEG L
REZERZEENEERIELES -

Z
&
Fh



The Company has adopted a policy for nomination of Directors
which sets out the principles that guide the committee to identify
and evaluate candidates for nomination as well as the procedures for
nomination. The committee will take into account the candidate’s
character and integrity, qualifications, diversity contributions,
independence (for the appointment of Independent Non-executive
Director), time commitment and any other relevant factors as may be
determined by the committee or the Board from time to time. The
committee shall, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information (or relevant details)
of a candidate, evaluate the candidate based on the criteria as set
out above. The committee will then recommend to the Board the
appointment of the candidate for directorship, if appropriate. The
Board decides the appointment based upon the recommendation of
the committee.

The committee continues to assess the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors on an annual basis. The
assessment includes their annual confirmation of independence, any
potential conflicts of interest as well as assessing their individual
circumstances to ensure that there are no relationships or matters
likely to affect their judgement. Mr. Zhou Jinsong, Ms. Chan Man Ki
Maggie and Mr. Zhang Xinyu are all considered to be independent.
Although Mr. Zhou has served on the Board for more than nine years,
the committee and the Board are of the view that he has exercised
independent judgement and consistently demonstrated a high level of
professional skepticism, where appropriate and there is no evidence
to suggest that the length of his tenure has an adverse impact on his
independence.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhou Jinsong, an
Independent Non-executive Director and its other members include
Mr. Zhang Haipeng, the Chairman of the Board and Non-executive
Director, Mr. Zhu Haiming, Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer and two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms.
Chan Man Ki Maggie and Mr. Zhang Xinyu. During the year, Mr. Zhu
Haiming was appointed to the committee following the retirement
of Mr. Wu Mingqing. All other members served on the committee
throughout the year.
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year and is
responsible for formulating and making recommendations to the
Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors
and senior management of the Group with reference to the Group’s
overall performance, individual's responsibilities and performance and
the prevailing market conditions, as well as reviewing and making
recommendations on the Company’s share scheme, bonus structure
and other compensation related issues. The committee makes
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Executive Directors and senior management and reviews the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s remuneration policy. The
committee also has the responsibility to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors.

The committee held two meetings in 2024. The attendance of
committee members is set out on page 56. Deputy General Manager,
Human Resources Department was invited to attend the meeting
held in March 2024 whereas Vice President was invited to attend
the meeting held in May 2024. The committee reviewed the Group’s
policy on salary adjustment and discretionary bonus which applies
to Directors and senior management of the Company and the policy
has been set to align with the Group’s operating performance while
taking into account the general economic condition, individual
performance and contribution, and remuneration benchmarks against
peer companies. In addition, the committee reviewed and considered
the appropriateness and relevance of the remuneration policy and
structure of the Group with reference to the construction market
practices, the Group’s performance and remuneration offered by peer
companies. The committee made recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration proposal for the Executive Director to be appointed.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Information relating to the remuneration of each Director for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is set out in note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements. The remuneration of members of the senior
management by band for the year end 31 December 2024 is set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sustainability Committee

The Sustainability Committee is chaired by Mr. Wong Man Cheung,
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer and its other members
include Mr. Zhu Haiming, Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer and the three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Zhou Jinsong, Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie and Mr. Zhang Xinyu. During
the year, Mr. Zhu Haiming was appointed to the committee following
the retirement of Mr. Wu Mingqing. All other members served on the
committee throughout the year.
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The Sustainability Committee meets at least twice a year and is
responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
Group's sustainability strategies, roadmaps and goals, identifying
potential risks and opportunities in relation to the sustainability issues
(including climate-related risks and opportunities) and proposing
countermeasures. The committee also reviews and monitors the
performance of the Group by assessing the sustainable goals and
targets, performance indicators and the completion progress and make
recommendations on the strategies for improvement. Other duties of
the committee are set out in its specific terms of reference.

The committee held two meetings in 2024. The attendance of
committee members is set out on page 56. During the year,
the committee’s main work focused on reviewing the Group's
sustainability strategies and goals, and making recommendations to
the Board for improvement. At the same time, the committee oversaw
the progress towards the achievement of targets, the progress and
achievements of the Group’s work, key areas of concern, action plans
and disclosure in respect of sustainable development.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group and the
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for
the whole Board. Whilst the Company Secretary reports to the Board
through the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, all Directors have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary for the
ongoing discharge of their duties and responsibilities. The Company
Secretary maintains dialogue with each of them on an individual basis.

The Board is supported by the Company Secretary who ensures that
the Board is able to function effectively and efficiently. In addition to
making logistical arrangements for meetings, the Company Secretary
is responsible for advising the Board on all governance matters,
managing the policies and procedures relating to the Board and
ensuring that the Directors receive information in a timely manner.
Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board committees are taken
and kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by
Directors.

During the year, the Company Secretary attended over 15 hours of
professional training.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing the
corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in
place to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate
governance practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing
legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, the work of the Board in this area included reviewing
the policies and practices on the Group’s corporate governance,
monitoring the Company’s legal and regulatory compliance and
training and continuing professional development of Directors and
senior management, developing relevant policies to ensure compliance
with the latest change in the laws and regulations and reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this
report.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the Model Code in their securities transactions
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

It is the responsibility of the Board to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently, and that judgements
and estimates made are prudent and reasonable. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the requirements of
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and the applicable laws have
been complied with.
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The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024. The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, were not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern and on such basis, the Board has prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The responsibilities of external auditor of the Company with respect to
financial reporting are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report”.

Risk Management and Internal Control
Governance and Oversight

The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s systems of
risk management and internal control, including those established
to identify, manage and monitor risks. The Board evaluates and
determines the nature and extent of the risks that the Group is willing
to take in achieving its strategic objectives, and ensures comprehensive
policies and systems are place. The Board, through delegation to
the Audit Committee, oversee management’s implementation of the
Group's systems of risk management and internal control and ensures
their effectiveness. The Board reviews the Group’s risk profile every
year which includes a review of the principal risks faced by the Group.

The Audit Committee has the delegated responsibility to review the
Group's risk management and internal control systems and assess on
an ongoing basis the effectiveness and adequacy of the systems.

The Sustainability Committee is responsible for identifying and
assessing the sustainability risks and opportunities (including
climate-related risk and opportunities) and providing mitigation
recommendations.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

Risk Management is fundamental to the sustainable growth of the
business and remains at the heart of the operational delivery. The
Group’s risk management framework is designed to enable the
Board and the management of the Company to discharge their risk
management-related responsibilities with appropriate delegation
and checks and balances. Various operational committees including
Project Tendering Committee, Procurement and Subcontracting
Committee, 3MS Committee and Safety Production Committee have
been established to manage the risks and opportunities across the
project lifecycle. These committees provide direct oversight of the
formulation of institutional risk appetite, and control and monitor the
levels of risk that the Group is willing to undertake with regard to its
financial capacity, strategic direction, prevailing market conditions and
regulatory requirements.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control framework
comprises a number of approval and review gates that cover the
business lifecycle from initial project pursuit through to delivery and
completion. All gates are mandatory and require approval at Group
level by the operational committees, by divisional or business unit level
depending upon the nature and complexity of projects.

To ensure that decisions are taken at the right level within the Group
by those best placed to take them, the Company has in place a policy
on delegation of authority for expenditure which sets out limits and
conditions for the authority afforded to each function and senior
individuals. The policy ensures there is a consistency of approach
across the business units and allows the business to operate efficiently
without creating burdensome processes. The policy will be reviewed
from time to time to realign them with changes to the Group’s
business structure leading to stronger accountability.

The Group has established a risk management process to
comprehensively and systematically evaluate sustainability-related
risks. The risk management strategy serves not only as a tool for
asset protection but also as a cornerstone for driving innovation
and sustained growth. Through materiality assessment, stakeholder
questionnaires, industry analysis and the latest trends in sustainable
development analysis, potential sustainability risks facing the Group
can be identified. By conducting correlation analysis and impact
assessment of these risks against crucial factors including the Group’s
business operations, development strategy, operational management
and brand reputation, a comprehensive risk inventory has been
developed. These risks stem from various sources, including supply
chain uncertainties,

legal liabilities, accidents, latest regulations,

natural disasters, and other contingencies.

Based on this risk inventory, risk assessment questionnaires are
developed, through which Board members, senior management
and relevant department heads regularly evaluate the probability
and severity of each risk through a scoring system, followed by
risk prioritization based on the consolidated scoring results. The
Group conducts thorough reviews of high-risk items identified in
the assessment results and formulates or updates corresponding risk
management plans, thereby enhancing business continuity and overall
resilience to maintain competitive advantages in an ever-changing
market environment.
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The Group’s internal audit function is performed by the holding
group’s Intendance and Audit Department and an ad hoc team
mandated from time to time to carry out regular and irregular audit
on the governance and control processes of the Group.

The Group has conducted an annual review of its risk management
and internal control systems which covered the financial year 2024.
After reviewing the detailed reports from management on the Group'’s
risk management and the outcome of the internal control self-
assessment and considering those areas where management applied
judgement in determining the appropriate accounting as well as the
findings identified from the external audit, the Audit Committee
concluded that the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group are adequate and working effectively.

The Company has in place a whistleblowing policy for employees
and those who deal with the Group to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, about possible improprieties in matters related to the
Group, in order to help detect and deter misconduct or malpractice
or unethical acts in the Group. The Company has also in place a
standalone anti-corruption policy which sets out the basic standard
of conduct for directors, officers and employees of the Group and
provides guidance on acceptance of advantage and handling of
conflict of interest when dealing with the Group's business.

In addition to the inside information disclosure policy adopted by the
Board, the Group has in place policies and procedures to regulate
employees conduct on handling, disseminating and preserving
confidential information (including inside information) with designated
teams to review their implementation and monitor compliance.

The Group will continue to review and develop risk management and
internal control systems and procedures to manage and mitigate the
impact of risks both within and outside its control.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company will be approximately 30% of the
profits available for distribution, which will be declared/recommended
by the Board for distribution semi-annually when the Board approves
the interim results and annual results. The amount of dividends
actually distributed to shareholders will depend upon the earnings and
financial position, operating requirements, capital requirements and
any other conditions that the Directors may deem relevant. There is no
assurance that dividends of any amount will be declared or distributed
in any year.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders are encouraged to maintain direct communication with
the Company. Shareholders who have any enquiries to be put to the
Board may send a letter to:

IR B BUR

AN B Y BB BER A # i 0 Z #930%
BRI - BFFIRE—R DHEEERILAESD
HEEREFEERHEZIRER BENK °
ERDIKTARRABRROKREEEBRF AR A
ZRBNMEFBMARR 2EBER  ERABRLER
Al BEAR B B A (T LA R AT T JE » AN A R OR
REHNEMNFEERIDIREMESREORES

IR SRR

ARARSBBRERRRRIGTERBE - BRRW
FEREERELEH UK

Company Secretary NAEWE
Address:  China State Construction Development Holdings Limited ik : AHPEREEHEEEBFRAR
16th Floor, Eight Commercial Tower a5
8 Sun Yip Street B |
Chai Wan T A8
Hong Kong SR X EI5 1618

The Company maintains procedures for shareholders to propose a
person for election as a Director at a general meeting. The procedures
for such proposal are available on the Company’s website.

Should shareholders wish to call an extraordinary general meeting,
it must be convened according to the articles of association of the
Company, which state as follows:

o Any one or more members holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, on a one vote per share basis, can by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary at the above
address require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business or resolution
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only
one location, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

ARRIREBRREBRAGERES AENER
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Investors play a valuable role in the corporate governance of the
Company. The Board is committed to maintaining an open and
ongoing dialogue with investors.

The Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
conducted analyst presentations following financial results
announcements. Full year and half year results presentation materials
are made available on the Company’s website so that shareholders
receive the same information as institutional investors.

The Company’s general meetings provide the best opportunity for
exchange of views between the Board and shareholders by maintaining
an on-going dialogue with shareholders. The chairman of the Board
as well as the chairmen of the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Sustainability Committee and
any other committees (as appropriate) or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees attend general meetings to
answer shareholders’ questions. Member(s) of the independent board
committee will attend and be available to answer shareholders’
questions at general meetings convened for the approval of connected
transactions or any other transactions that are subject to independent
shareholders’ approval.

The Company’s website (www.cscd.com.hk) has a dedicated Investor
Relations section where a range of valuable information can be found,
including:

- corporate information;

- published financial reports and results announcements;

- details on corporate governance arrangements;

- announcements and circulars; and

- shareholder information (such as arrangements on
dissemination of corporate communications).

The Company’s shareholders communication policy aims at setting
out the various channels and platforms adopted by the Company for
shareholders to communicate their views on various matters affecting
the Company, as well as steps taken to solicit and understand
the views of shareholders and stakeholders. The Board reviews
the implementation of the policy on a regular basis and considers
the communication channels and platforms as described above to
be effective in enhancing timely, transparent, accurate and open
communications between the Company, and its shareholders and
investors.
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The Directors are pleased to present this report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and
the provision of corporate management services. The activities of
the Company’s principal subsidiaries are shown in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 115.

An interim dividend of HK7.0 cents per share, amounting to
approximately HK$157,888,000, was declared by the Board and paid
to shareholders on 11 November 2024. The Board has recommended
the declaration of a final dividend of HK2.8 cents per share, which
will be payable on 8 July 2025 to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company on 27 June 2025.
Together with the interim dividend, the total dividends for 2024
amount to HK9.8 cents per share and represents a total distribution of
HK$221,043,000..

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, including a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of 2024 as well as an indication of likely future development
in the Group’s business are provided in the “Financial Highlights”,
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
sections of this Annual Report.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Below are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group that
could adversely impact the Group’s business, financial condition, and
profitability. There may be other risks in addition to those disclosed
below that are not known to the Group or may not be currently
material but could turn out to be material in the future.

Risk Description
[ B B

Foreign Exchange The Group’s foreign currency exposures
primarily arise from certain sales or purchases
by operating units in currencies other than
the unit’s functional currency. These sales or
purchases are mainly denominated in United
States dollar, Renminbi, Australian dollar,
Canadian dollar, Pound Sterling, and Macau
Pataca.

SN AEBEZIERBREIRREEEEMIAEMY
EEEUIINZEBET 2 ETHEREE - M
ZEHEXBEIBEUST  ARY - RIT 4D
¥ R RORPIEEE -

Interest Rate The Group's interest rate risk is mainly related to
variable rate borrowings.

GRS R 2 N R B R BN K E B E
KB -

Market If being affected by national or market trends,
political change, or new developments in
infrastructure expenditure, it may cause
customers to postpone, reduce or change
existing or future projects, which may impact
the Group’s strategy, business model, revenue,
or profitability in the short or medium term.
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Management Measures

EEER

The Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
by closely reviewing the movement of the
foreign currency rate and adapting natural hedge
strategies. During the year ended 31 December
2024, the Group did not engage in the use of
other financial instruments for hedging purposes,
and there were no hedging instruments
outstanding as of 31 December 2024.

N6 B ) R E SIME BE R F B0 ERER B R R
& - FE5LABSPEOME BLBR o 7A20245F12A31H IEF
EoARETECHAEMERIAETEHS B
K2024F 12 A3TBENARNE R T A -

The Group has established policies and procedures
for assessing, booking, and monitoring such risk
and will consider hedging significant interest rate
fluctuation should the need arise.

REBEGIEN - L8k R EE N EE R B E
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The Group's strategy to focus on more resilient
and stable infrastructure, property markets, and
geographies will help mitigate this risk. It is
essential that counterparties’ financial solvency
and strength must always be considered before
signing contracts. During the life of a contract,
such assessments are updated and reviewed
whenever possible. The Group also seeks to
ensure that it is not over-reliant on any single
counterparty.
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Risk
[ B

Bidding

"R

Project Performance

BREXD

Description
39

The Group’s success depends on its ability to
identify, price and execute the right volume
and quality of bidding opportunities in order to
generate profitable orders consistently. This in
turn requires the Group to have a competitive
business model and overhead costs.

AEENKDBRNEREEHERLGEN
RiEge  UHIETEERERAGEN i
BRESERNMFE -MEERAEEEFA
BREREENEBEAREERR

As the Group focuses on the high-end facade
market, the construction projects that the
Group undertakes are complex in design,
engineering, and construction. In case of any
failure to deliver the projects on time, meet
customers’ requirements, and comply with its
own cost assumptions and reporting, the Group
may face the risks of financial loss, claims, and
reputational damage.

AEBZESHBRTS  BRAGEMEN
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Management Measures
EEE

All bids are subject to rigorous estimating and
tendering processes within the risk management
framework. The Group has defined delegated
authority levels for approving all tenders. Reviews
are conducted following all tenders to ensure
that lessons are learnt and applied to future
tenders.
FERBSEEHALERREEERANEREREH
HERREIRF - AKEERERERS - AL
HEBERE - RRIETHEETR - ARRR
BRI ERANBRENRIEEE -

Each business unit has defined operating
procedures to address the risks inherent in
project delivery. In addition, the Group’s risk
management system has been refined with
intensified control, which helps identify and
quantify project-specific risks and implement
mitigating actions. This has further strengthened
the ability to manage the project risks through
common minimum standards in project and
commercial management.
BEBEMOBRENEFERF  WEHERXR
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Risk
[ B

Safety and Health

Description
L

As the Group’s business involves engineering
and construction, which poses considerable
risks to safety and health, the operation and
reputation of the Group will be significantly
impacted by any work-related injury or death
incident of workers.

AEENEBSRIREET  FEBRANR
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Management Measures
EEE

The Group has revised and improved the “Safety
Production Supervision and Management
System,” further enhancing the safety
production management system across various
business. Regular safety meetings are held to
periodically review the effectiveness of the
current occupational health and safety measures.
The responsibility system for safety production
is continuously reinforced for all employees.
Efforts are strengthened in identifying and
addressing safety hazards and in implementing
a risk classification and control mechanism,
with a focus on prevention at the source. This
drives safety management towards proactive
prevention, effectively ensuring the stable and
healthy development of the Group.
REEEBTTE( L2 EEEEERBHE) - #—
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Risk
[ B

Product Quality and

Responsibility

\i

/

felo

il

2

Description
39

Product quality and responsibility are
essential to safety in the engineering and
construction industries. Should any defect
of the quality control system result in quality
or service problems, the Group may face the
risks of reputational damage and reduced
competitiveness, profitability, and market share.

2
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Management Measures

EEER

The Group carries out quality management
in strict accordance with the ISO 9001-2015
guality management system requirements. The
Group has formulated and implemented internal
quality management systems such as “Project
Management System” and the “Curtain Wall
Product Protection Work Guidelines.”,
the institutionalization and standardization of

promoting

product manufacturing and quality management.

All products must undergo stringent procedures
for quality inspection before dispatching from
the factory in the facade construction business.
At the same time, a comprehensive product
protection procedure is conducted before delivery
to ensure the products are of high quality. In
case any quality issue is identified with the
dispatched products, the Group will investigate
immediately for verification and arrange recall
and replacement of the products timely.
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Risk
[ B

Supply Chain

e

Description
L

The Group is closely related to its supply chain
partners for successful operational delivery,
which also means the exposure to various
risks in the supply chain, including financial,
technical, quality, safety, and ethics due to the
subcontractors/suppliers.
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Management Measures
EEE

The Group aims to develop long-term
relationships with key subcontractors or suppliers,
working closely with them to understand their
operations. The Group makes contingency plans
to address subcontractors’/suppliers’ failure
and obtains project retentions, bonds, and/or
letters of credit from subcontractors/suppliers
where appropriate to mitigate the impact of any
insolvency. For other non-financial factors, the
Group also aims to work as much as possible
with preferred suppliers and subcontractors
who have undergone rigorous and risk-based
prequalification processes and share the same
values.

The Group also avoids being over-reliant on
any single supplier or subcontractor, so that the
operations can be maintained even when the
supply chain is being disrupted.
REEBHESBDARASHEREIRASE
R By RElfERERAENTRE
EBEE-AEENTREASAEE S BEARZ
Eskft BRI REE T TIRHER - WRNEE BN
TR BAZHAHEFTRFSEARES - KX
FEARE  BUERARELNRENEERNTE -
MmEMFEABEEZ  NREETEERAELHAR
BEERERNEKRTEEEFEHE  BAFHER
BESNEEHERARD BAREAE -

REBIE @ RIEK B FBEKBIEM—RH
EEXDBAERE  SHEEIERDERRSS
78 o

075



076

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited 7T EZ S L EHAR AT

Directors’ Report

EERWE

Risk
[ B

Climate Change

TIRE .

Description
39

As the frequency and impact of extreme weather
have increased, the risks posed by climate
change to the Group’s business have become
more prominent (e.g. hurricanes, rainstorms, and
floods may cause damage to the construction
sites, and extremely hot weather may negatively
impact workers’ health. All these may cause a
delay in the construction progress). Moreover,
regulatory requirements have been tightened in
this regard, and a more climate-resilient business
model has become an irresistible trend.
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Management Measures
EEE

To address extreme weather, the Group has
formulated emergency measures and has
arranged all departments to implement proper
prevention work in office areas and construction
sites.

To reduce the impact of climate transition
risks on business and operations, the Group
has coordinated departments at all levels to
closely follow national policies and market
trends and take timely measures. The Group
continuously improves the disclosure of climate
risk management in accordance with the latest
climate-related disclosure requirements of the
Stock Exchange.

In addition, to accelerate the low-carbon
transformation, the Group is committed to
reducing the carbon footprint during the entire
lifecycle including design, production, and
installation in facade engineering. The Group is
strengthening the R&D and project development
of photovoltaic and BIPV technologies. In terms
of investment and operations, the Group closely
monitors relevant policy trends and market
changes, continuously carrying out equipment
and technology upgrades to strive for carbon
balance.
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Risk
[ B

Talents

AF

Technological
Innovation

i &

Description
L

The inability to recruit and retain competent
management staff and employees who share the
same value and conduct code with the Group
may hamper the Group’s growth prospects.

REBELRRBHRAEEL N RRAAEEE
BEELABTRANESEEABREETRS
DERAEENERATR

Applying new technologies, such as Building
Information Model (“BIM") and building-
integrated photovoltaics (“BIPV"), brings
development opportunities to the industry.
Failure to seize the opportunities may harm
the Group’s competitiveness and long-term
development.
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Management Measures
EEE

The Group recruits for critical positions based on
competency and leadership. The Board and the
Group regularly review the succession planning
process to identify and develop talents with
high potential. The Group provides appropriate
remuneration and incentive schemes to help
attract and retain key employees.
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The Group has set up a leading group and
development group for innovation works to carry
out research and development, and application of
new technologies and new products and promote
the transformation of scientific and technological
achievements, including intelligent manufacturing
of curtain walls, BIM and digitalization, BIPV,
and high-performance curtain wall and window
products. The Group has formulated detailed
guidance on technological innovation and
development, research projects and intellectual
property management. In addition, the Group
has initiated multiple industry-university-research
collaborations with institutions such as Hong
Kong Polytechnic University, Tsinghua University,
and China State Construction Scientific Research
Institute to jointly explore new technologies and
develop new products.
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Risk
[ B

Business Conduct

CES

-

17

Description
39

The Group operates in various markets that
present business conduct-related risks involving
fraud, bribery, or corruption, whether by its
own staff or third parties such as partners or
subcontractors. Those risks are higher in some
countries and sectors. Overall, the construction
industry has a higher risk profile than other
industries.
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Management Measures
EEE

The Group adopts a zero-tolerance attitude
towards corruption and associated corrupt
practices, strictly complying with the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance and any other anti- corruption
ordinance.

The Group has formulated and implemented
the Ethical and Disciplinary Code that strictly
prohibits any director or employee from soliciting
or accepting any benefit by virtue of their
position and work. Employees who detect any
violation can make an anonymous report through
the internal reporting mechanism. The Group
also actively provides anti-corruption training to
its directors and employees.

In addition, the Group implements risk
assessment, due diligence, and financial control
throughout the business process and operation.
Any non-compliance or defect in monitoring
systems will be timely addressed to minimize
relevant risks.
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Risk
[ B

Cyber and

Information Security

Legal

e

Description

eL

Cyber-attacks, data fraud or theft, failure
of information infrastructure, and other

cybersecurity incidents may threaten the
integrity, confidentiality, and system availability,
negatively affecting the Group’s reputation,
financial situation, and operation.
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The Group operates in different markets, and its
businesses are subject to a variety of complex,
demanding, and evolving legal,
regulatory requirements.

tax, and
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Management Measures

EEER

The Group strengthens its information security
framework by enhancing authorization and
authentication mechanisms. To reduce cyber
the Group regularly backups
the data, encrypts important information and
formulates contingency plans in response to
different information security incidents. In
addition, the Group also provides regular training
and conducts phishing tests to promote the
awareness of cyber security.

security risks,

AREE MR ERRERTAREELTE2RE
EHETERBEED  NMEEEES XL

FRNEELEEMHHTRRESR  UEESKR
2ER - ZH - AEETRBETRETEHEI R
ETRENREENRESHERL2EE -

The Group’s legal department monitor closely the
changes in the laws and regulations applicable
to the Group and its businesses and evaluate
their impacts and will integrate changes into
the relevant policies and procedures. Training
and updates will be provided to staff to ensure

compliance.
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Compliance with Relevant Laws and
Regulations

The construction industry is regulated by the local authorities in which
the business units operate. In general, contractors must comply with
certain requirements mandated by the applicable laws and regulations
and may be required to obtain permits or licenses in order to carry
on certain businesses such as general contracting, facade contracting,
design and manufacturing, and construction supervision in certain
countries. Apart from the specific laws and regulations, the Group
is also subject to the general laws and regulations governing the
environment, employment, anti-competition and anti-corruption
regardless of its nature of business.

In addition, the Company, as a listed company, is subject to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited, the Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buybacks, and the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of
the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group seeks to ensure compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations through various measures such as internal controls and
approval procedures, trainings and oversight of various business units
with the designated resources at different levels of the Group.

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in all
material respects throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

Sustainability Development

The Group is continuously improving its sustainability governance
structure to better monitor the Group’s sustainability performance.
The Board, as the highest decision-making and supervisory body,
reviews objectives and strategies and oversees risk assessment and
management. The Sustainability Committee, appointed by the Board,
is responsible for formulating, reviewing and recommending strategic
sustainability objectives, monitoring the latest trends, managing
sustainability-related risks and reporting to the Board on a regular
basis. The Sustainability Leading Group, comprising the Group’s senior
management, is responsible for assisting the committee in driving
sustainability efforts and making regular recommendations to the
committee to ensure that the Group’s sustainability direction is in line
with local and international regulations and best practice initiatives.
To facilitate the implementation of the sustainability program, the
Group has also set up a dedicated Sustainability Working Group with
representatives from various departments and subsidiaries to work
together to achieve the Group’s sustainability objectives.
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The Group has refined and actively implemented various sustainability
policies covering issues such as the environment, climate change,
health and safety, human rights and sustainable procurement, which
provide a unified framework, underlying principles and standards
for business practices and effectively communicate the Group's
commitment to sustainability to its stakeholders.

The Group’s sustainability strategy is centered on five key pillars,
namely, Strategic Development, Building a Sustainable Supply Chain,
Supporting Talent Development, Excellent Environmental Management,
Serving and Giving Back to Community. Specific and quantifiable
targets have been set, the progress of their achievement is regularly
reviewed, and action plans are optimized to continuously improve
the Group's sustainability performance and enhance the well-being
of stakeholders. For details of our sustainability management and
progress, please refer to the independent sustainability report of the
Company.

Environmental Policy and Performance

In order to fulfill the commitment to environmental sustainability, the
Group is committed to strict compliance with environment-related laws
and regulations and have formulated a comprehensive environmental
policy and management code at the Group level, aiming to set clear
standards and environmental commitments, including in the areas of
climate change management approach, pollution prevention measures,
resource utilization and waste management measures.

In view of the potential global impact of climate change, the Group
has also spared no effort in promoting the reduction of carbon
emissions from its operations and the gradual transition to a low-
carbon economy. The Group has set carbon emission targets and is
investing in the use of renewable energy, adopting energy-saving
technologies, improving production efficiency and utilizing innovative
technologies to achieve these targets. During the reporting period,
the Far East Facade Dormitory Office Building has been successfully
transformed into a zero-energy building, which is the largest area in
Guangdong Province and the first existing building renovation project
in Zhuhai to be awarded the “Zero Energy Building” national label
by the China Association of Building Energy Efficiency. An intelligent
and digital management system at Shenyang Huanggu Company
has been implemented to better regulating heating efficiency and
realizing carbon balances, and selling over 40,000 tonnes of carbon
credits at an average unit price of RMB104 per tonne, with a total of
RMB4,465,000 transacted. The Group also supported green projects
and sustainable practices through sustainable financing tools to drive
business development in a responsible manner, and successfully signed
a sustainable development performance-linked term loan facility with
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited.
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Our Relationship with Key Stakeholders

We are committed to building long-term, trusting relationships
with our stakeholders and to understanding the expectations and
aspirations of our employees, customers and suppliers by maintaining
ongoing communication with them.

Employee:
Talent Development

Employees are the Group’s valuable assets. The Group strives to create
diversified learning opportunities for its employees to enhance their
abilities and knowledge. The Group provides tailor-made training
programs covering a wide range of areas such as professional skills,
integrity and self-discipline, occupational safety and health, sustainable
development, etc. to cater for the position and development needs
of employees. By setting clear time targets for training, the Group
ensures that adequate resources are available for staff development. In
addition, the Group offers competitive remuneration packages in the
market and spares no effort in creating a harmonious and fair working
atmosphere to attract and retain excellent talents.

Health & Safety

The health and safety of employees is always an important issue of
high concern to the Group. In order to ensure that our employees
are not harmed by accidents at work, the Group has an in-depth
understanding of the potential occupational safety risks in the
construction and manufacturing industries, and has established
a corresponding comprehensive safety management system to
systematically identify and assess the safety risks of various items
and take necessary preventive measures. We enhance the Group's
health and safety performance through various strategies, including
the implementation of safety responsibilities, safety culture building,
supervision system building, risk classification and investigation, safety
emergency management and key area management.
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Customer:
Project Quality

The Group's core business strategy is to achieve market differentiation
through the provision of high-quality products for steady growth in
the industry. The Group maintains its competitive edge by sparing no
effort in investing resources to enhance the quality of its products, and
realizes efficient monitoring and control from design to construction
stage through the implementation of digital management processes
and the application of advanced technologies such as Building
Information Modeling BIM. In addition, the Group strictly enforces
product inspection and validation procedures to ensure that its
products can meet or even exceed customers’ expectations.

In addition to pursuing excellence in product quality, the Group
is also committed to product innovation. The Group has set up
a dedicated research and development team to actively develop
innovative solutions and products to cope with the changing needs
of customers. One of the Group’s key products is the Building
Integrated Photovoltaics BIPV, which offers a wide range of product
series including Light-A, Light-S, Light-V and Light-F, which seamlessly
integrate photovoltaic technology with architectural curtain walls to
bring renewable energy to buildings. This not only demonstrates the
Group’s commitment to environmental responsibility, but also opens
up new business opportunities for green building practices and helps
customers realize energy saving and carbon reduction.

Suppliers:
Sustainable Procurement

The overall quality of the Group’s products and construction work has
been enhanced through the establishment of long-term partnerships
with suppliers. The Group’s procurement department screens and
evaluates suppliers annually to monitor their environmental and social
performance. Where necessary, the Group will specify environmental,
safety, anti-corruption and other specific requirements in the contracts.

The Group also focuses on green procurement by prioritizing suppliers
that have excellent environmental performance and are located in the
local area, thereby reducing emissions from material transportation
and production processes. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
to promote the collection of supply chain carbon (Scope 3) data and
emissions reduction efforts to achieve carbon neutrality.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 224.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$1,859,205,000. Movements in the reserves of the
Company and the Group during the year are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements and the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 119 respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of
this report is set out below:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Haipeng

Executive Directors

Mr. Wu Mingqing (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)!
Mr. Zhu Haiming (Chief Executive Officer)?

Mr. Wang Hai®

Mr. Wong Man Cheung

Non-executive Director
Mr. Huang Jiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhou Jinsong
Ms. Chan Man Ki Maggie
Mr. Zhang Xinyu

! Retired from the Board effective 1 August 2024
2 Appointed to the Board effective 1 June 2024
3 Retired from the Board effective 31 May 2024

BB E
AEERBERETRFENES BEEHBE
BMEEHNE224E R ©

WX BERSKE
FRCREEZNE  BEREEE
BARBRENT4 -

EREESS

&
ARBR2024F12A3MB WAl HD RFEEAB
#1,859,205,0007T ° FF 1A » AR A RAE B A
HEHFBONEARNGEMBREMAIIBRE
MIOBEMIRE RS HERA -

RN
FR - ARAMBAFBERRGAHBREN
27 °

=

REERBERMERY  EEROERNT :

IRERFHITES
FTH

HITES

[P (B EHRTRAE)
RIS (TR A2

ESCP LS

TE S

FHITES
=TI RAE

BAFHTES
FISHHA % 4
EEES e
RIRF 5

1 RATE EMN20245E8 A1 A &%
2 EZTAEEN2024F681H AW
3 RAEEEN2024F58318 £



The change in emoluments of the Directors is set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Particulars of Directors seeking re-election at the 2025 annual general
meeting are set out in the related circular to shareholders of the
Company.

The Company received from each Independent Non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his or her independence with regard to
each of the factors referred to in Rule 3.13 (1) to (8) of the Listing
Rules, and the Company considered all of them to be independent.
The Nomination Committee also reviewed the Directors’ independence
in a meeting held in March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
employing company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Company discloses that during the year, Messrs. Zhang Haipeng,
Zhu Haiming and Huang Jiang held directorships and/or senior
management positions in the Company’s holding companies and/
or their subsidiaries. These companies are engaged in construction,
property development and related businesses.

The Board is independent of the boards of directors of the Company’s
holding companies and their subsidiaries. With the presence of
appropriate portion of Independent Non-executive Directors in the
Board, the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently
of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of its holding group.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS
IN SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts that are
significant in relation to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries to which the Company or any of its subsidiary was a party
and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which were notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
adopted by the Company (the “Model Code”) were as follows:
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=)L BERfBEA (EPN: £

fisr: %8B 9
12A31BE #TYE 8
2,255,545,000/%) 5t & -

B Th R B AR R R R2024F
A% 48 £ (A



(b) Interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the associated corporations of the
Company
Long positions in the shares of the associated
corporations of the Company

As at 31 December 2024, Mr. Zhang Haipeng had personal
interests in 50,000 ordinary shares, representing approximately
0.001% of the then issued shares, in China State Construction
International Holdings Limited and 240,000 A-shares,
representing approximately 0.001% of the then issued voting
shares, in China State Construction Engineering Corporation
Limited (“CSCECL"), held in his capacity as beneficial owner;
and Mr. Zhu Haiming had personal interests in 10,000 ordinary
shares, representing approximately 0.000% of the then issued
shares in China Overseas Property Holdings Limited and 100,000
A-shares, representing approximately 0.000% of the then issued
voting shares in CSCECL, held in his capacity as beneficial
owner. The Company was informed that all the interests in
A-shares in CSCECL held by Directors were granted to them by
CSCECL pursuant to its share award scheme (details are set out
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company and their respective
associates had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code. Nor any of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company (including their spouses and
children under the age of 18), during the year ended 31 December
2024, held any interests in, or was granted any right to subscribe for,
the securities of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), or had exercised any such rights.
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DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements which enabled any Director to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or of any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses incurred or sustained by him
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of his duty as a Director provided that this indemnity shall
not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which
may attach to the Director. A directors and officers insurance policy is
in place to protect the Directors against potential costs and liabilities
arising from claims brought against the Directors.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

So far as is known to any Directors or chief executive of the Company,
as at 31 December 2024, other than the interests of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above, the following
persons had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange:
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Long positions in the shares of the Company RARQXTIARMBHIEFE
Number of
ordinary % of shares
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held in issue
HEBRTRE
RRER &1 s BERHA ERad
Add Treasure Holdings Limited ([Add Treasure ]) Beneficial owner 1,596,403,279 70.78
MEERERAR(ME]) EREAA
China State Construction International Holdings Interest in controlled corporation 1,596,403,279 70.78
Limited ([CSC|)@
FEIREEBEREEAR AR ([HEEERER] REZEHEES R
China Overseas Holdings Limited ([ COHL]) @ Interest in controlled corporation 1,596,403,279 70.78
HEUBNEEARAT ([HEESN])@ PR AR 8
B R AR A ) (China State Construction  Interest in controlled corporation 1,596,403,279 70.78
Engineering Corporation Limited) ([ CSCECL])@
FREIREEROERAR (KRB REEGEE S =
B2 & B A R 22 F(China State Construction Interest in controlled corporation 1,596,403,279 70.78
Engineering Corporation*) ([CSCEC )@
FEREEEERAR([HEER])® R E AR 6
Notes: M 5T
1. The percentage is based on the total number of ordinary shares of 1. Z & DL IIRIEARQARN2024F12A318HE
the Company in issue as at 31 December 2024 (i.e. 2,255,545,000 BT AR B E(]N2,255,545,0000%) 71 & -
shares).
2. Add Treasure is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSC which, in turn, 2. MEAFEEZEHRENEZEMBERT > MF

is owned as to approximately 64.81% by COHL. COHL is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CSCECL which, in turn, is a subsidiary of
CSCEC. By virtue of the SFO, each of CSC, COHL, CSCECL and
CSCEC is deemed to be interested in the same 1,596,403,279 shares
held by Add Treasure.

* for identification purpose only
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
any interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The connected and continuing connected transactions required to
be disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are
disclosed on pages 93 to 106.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company
during 2024 or subsisted at the end of 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during 2024.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has joined a mandatory
provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for all employees in Hong
Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates
specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. The Group’s employees outside Hong Kong are primarily
covered by the respective defined contribution schemes in accordance
with local legislation and practices. During the year, the Group
made contribution to these schemes amounting to approximately
HK$97,984,000. No forfeited contribution under these schemes are
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers combined was less than 30% of the
total purchases of the Group. The five largest customers of the Group
accounted for approximately 50.6% of the total revenue of the Group
and the revenue from the largest customer included therein accounted
for approximately 25.3%. The first, second and fifth largest customers
are subsidiaries of the controlling shareholder of the Company.

Other than disclosed above, at no time during the year did a Director,
close associate of a Director or a shareholder of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number
of issued shares of the Company) have an interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the
date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified Public
Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the 2025 annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Haipeng
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 March 2025
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
during the year ended 31 December 2024:

1. CSCECL Sub-construction Engagement
Agreement

On 20 October 2023, the Company entered into a new
agreement (“CSCECL Sub-construction Engagement
Agreement”) with China State Construction Engineering
Corporation Limited (“CSCECL") to renew the previous
agreement entered into between the parties on 19 October
2020. Pursuant to the CSCECL Sub-construction Engagement
Agreement, CSCECL and its subsidiaries (together the “CSCECL
Group”) may continue to engage the Group as subcontractor or
service provider (as the case may be) for provision of contracting
and engineering works, project consultancy service and project
management service for the CSCECL Group’s construction works
for a further term of three years commencing from 1 January
2024 and ending on 31 December 2026, provided that the
total contract sum that may be awarded by the CSCECL Group
to the Group under the CSCECL Sub-construction Engagement
Agreement for the financial years ending 31 December 2024,
2025 and 2026 shall not exceed HK$1,200 million, HK$1,500
million and HK$1,500 million, respectively.

The Group will normally need to go through a tender or similar
process before being selected and appointed as subcontractor
or service provider (as the case may be) of the CSCECL Group.
The prices and terms of the tenders submitted by the Group
to the CSCECL Group are subject to the Group’s standard
and systematic tender submission procedures which apply to
tenders submitted to both connected persons and independent
third parties. In preparing and assessing the tender documents,
the Group will take into account factors including technical
requirements, quantity specifications, expected completion
time, customer expectations and possible risk factors associated
with a project. In determining the pricing terms, the Group will
review the costs information maintained in its in-house database
for materials supplied and contract prices from subcontractors
for the Group’s previous projects and peripheral operation.
The Group will also review and compare previous tender prices
submitted to both connected persons and independent third
parties so as to ensure that the tender price to be submitted is
no more favourable to the CSCECL Group than those submitted
to independent third parties.
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Where the Group submits tender directly to the ultimate
employer, the Group will follow the standard and systematic
tender submission procedures in determining the terms and price
of the tender, and if the Group is nominated as subcontractor
or service provider of the CSCECL Group (as the case may
be) by the ultimate employer, consideration to the Group will
be ascertained by the ultimate employer or its independent
professional quantity surveyor.

CSCECL is an intermediate holding company of the Company.
Accordingly, members of the CSCECL Group are connected
persons of the Company and the transactions contemplated
under the CSCECL Sub-construction Engagement Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under the Listing Rules. Details of the CSCECL Sub-construction
Engagement Agreement were disclosed in the announcement
dated 20 October 2023 and the circular dated 30 November
2023. The CSCECL Sub-construction Engagement Agreement
was duly approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the extraordinary general meeting held on 20
December 2023.

CSC Sub-construction Engagement
Agreement

On 25 March 2022, the Company entered into an agreement
(“CSC Sub-construction Engagement Agreement”) with China
State Construction International Holdings Limited (“CSC").
Pursuant to the CSC Sub-construction Engagement Agreement,
CSC and its subsidiaries (together, the “CSC Group”) may
engage the Group as subcontractor of the CSC Group for
provision of contracting and engineering works, project
consultancy service and project management service for the
CSC Group's construction works for a term of three years
commencing from 1 July 2022 and ending on 30 June 2025,
provided that the total contract sum that may be awarded by
the CSC Group to the Group under the CSC Sub-construction
Engagement Agreement for the period between 1 July 2022 and
31 December 2022, each of the two years ending 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024 and the period between 1 January
2025 and 30 June 2025 shall not exceed HK$5,000 million,
HK$7,000 million, HK$7,000 million and HK$4,000 million,
respectively.
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The Group will normally need to go through a tender or similar
process before being selected and appointed as subcontractor
or service provider of the CSC Group for the provision of
contracting and engineering works, project consultancy service
and project management service. The prices and terms of the
tenders submitted by the Group to the CSC Group are subject
to the Group’s standard and systematic tender submission
procedures which apply to tenders submitted to both connected
persons and independent third parties. In preparing and
assessing the tender documents, the Group will take into
account factors including the technical requirements, quantity
specifications, expected completion time, customer expectations
and possible risk factors associated with each project. In
determining the pricing terms, the Group will review the costs
information maintained in its in-house database for materials
supplied and prices from subcontractors for the Group’s previous
projects and peripheral operation. The Group will also review
and compare previous tender prices submitted to both connected
persons and independent third parties so as to ensure that the
tender price to be submitted is no more favourable to the CSC
Group than those submitted to independent third parties.

Where the Group submits the tender directly to the ultimate
employer and is nominated by the ultimate employer as sub-
contractor to the CSC Group, consideration to the Group will
be ascertained by an independent professional quantity surveyor
appointed by the ultimate employer.

CSC is an intermediate holding company of the Company.
Accordingly, members of the CSC Group are connected persons
of the Company and the transactions contemplated under
the CSC Sub-construction Engagement Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under the
Listing Rules. Details of the CSC Sub-construction Engagement
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement dated 25
March 2022 and the circular dated 29 April 2022. The CSC Sub-
construction Engagement Agreement was duly approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 8 June 2022.

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024F F

Connected Transactions

FEXS

AEE-RAKBERERBLEFTKE
BRZEATEREEREER 2D BFE
P iR R - IR AR R TR TF
BER#FHARBRBERBEERS -AKEM
PEEEBRREBERIE ZER RERAN
EAEBZBERABMCZREBREF &
BFEARABEALRBLIE=T7RE -
R R FHEREXNE  NEEEEZE
RTHRE BERR BEHZKER T
FHEFRZMEHBEMF R 2EERR
AxZ - REEERGRE AEEBEES
HARBBEFAENMHHE BERAA
DEEAEZHEREMGEEEZRARER -
AEENEEZRLBRZAREITHEA
TRBIE=ZTNRRE  UERKIER
ZEBEERETEEZEERERNE T
BRREXTBILE=TTHER -

MWAEBEERRAZKKEIRRIES MK
BRRETRERTHEZEBERESEN S
AEE XN TAEENRESHRRE
TERENBILIEETHYEMEE -

FPEEEABRERARGNFNZRAF -
MR E AR R B R R K A 2 R
BRAIAADQNRIzZHBEBAL MAEEE
BESBEEERZBETRETZRHIHEK
RRRIZHEBERER S FEHEERE S
BAEBZOFBEHN A A20229F3 725
Bz AERBHA2022F4H298 28K -
o SR B B A I R B 70202266 A
SHETHRRENRE FEARAB LR
RIEXHBAE -

095



096

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited 7T EZ S L EEHAR AT

Connected Transactions

BAEXS

CSCECL Framework Agreement

On 31 October 2024, the Company and CSCECL entered into a
framework agreement (the “CSCECL Framework Agreement”)
whereby CSCECL and the Company (or their respective
subsidiaries) may cooperate to enter into and implement the
contracts for the facade construction awarded by the tenderee,
which is a third-party developer/owner client (the “Facade
Construction Contracts”), either as joint venture contractor or
as joint contractors, provided that the maximum total contract
sum that may be awarded jointly to CSCECL and the Company
(or their respective subsidiaries) shall not exceed HK$1.2 billion
for the period from 1 December 2024 to 31 December 2024,
HK$1.2 billion for the year ending 31 December 2025 and
HK$1.2 billion for the year ending 31 December 2026.

Where CSCECL and the Company (or their respective
subsidiaries) cooperate to enter into the relevant Facade
Construction Contracts and implement the relevant facade
construction works thereunder (the “Facade Construction
Works"”) as joint venture contractor, they will enter into a
standard individual joint venture agreement which contains
at the minimum terms customary in the construction industry
for establishing a contractual joint venture to enter into
and implement a particular Facade Construction Contract
and where CSCECL and the Company (or their respective
subsidiaries) cooperate to enter into the relevant Facade
Construction Contracts and implement the relevant Facade
Construction Works as joint contractors, they will enter into a
standard individual cooperation agreement (the “Cooperation
Agreement”) which contains at the minimum terms customary in
the construction industry.

CSCECL (or its subsidiary) or the Company (or its subsidiary)
may invite the other party (or its subsidiary) to jointly participate
in the tendering process or such other prescribed contract
award process as may be implemented by the relevant third-
party developer/owner client as joint venture contractor or joint
contractors, if the engineering department of CSCECL (or its
subsidiary) or the Company (or its subsidiary) (as the case may
be), after making qualitative and quantitative assessment of the
scoring criteria of the process, determines that such joint venture
or cooperation will maximise the scoring of such tendering
process or contract award process and therefore enhance the
chance of successful award of the Facade Construction Contract.
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As a general principle and in accordance with market practice,
the contract sum with respect to each Facade Construction
Contract shall be determined in the ordinary course of business
on normal commercial terms and on an arm'’s length basis after
a tendering process or such other prescribed contract award
process as may be implemented by the relevant third-party
developer/owner client.

CSCECL is an intermediate holding company of the Company.
Accordingly, members of the CSCECL Group are connected
persons of the Company and the transactions contemplated
under the CSCECL Framework Agreement constitute continuing
connected transactions for the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the CSCECL Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement dated 31 October 2024 and the
circular dated 8 November 2024. The CSCECL Sub-construction
Engagement Agreement was duly approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 27 November 2024.

CSC Operational Services Agreement

On 20 October 2023, the Company entered into a new
agreement (“CSC Operational Services Agreement”) with CSC
to renew the previous agreement entered into between the
parties on 19 October 2020. Under the CSC Operational Services
Agreement, the Group may continue to engage the CSC Group
for provision of mechanical and electrical engineering works,
leasing of machineries, provision of insurance services and
issuance of surety bonds, and supply of materials for a further
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2024 and
ending on 31 December 2026.

4.1 Mechanical and Electrical Engineering Works
Transactions

Under the CSC Operational Services Agreement, the CSC
Group may act as subcontractor of the Group for provision
of mechanical and electrical engineering works for the
Group's construction works (“Mechanical and Electrical
Engineering Works Transactions”) in accordance with the
applicable subcontracting procedures of the Group from
time to time for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026, provided
that the total contract sum that may be awarded by the
Group to the CSC Group in respect of the Mechanical and
Electrical Engineering Works Transactions for each of three
financial years ending 31 December 2026 shall not exceed
HK$550 million.
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4.2

Where the CSC Group is nominated as subcontractor of
the Group by the ultimate employer, consideration to
the CSC Group will be ascertained by an independent
professional quantity surveyor appointed by the ultimate
employer.

Where the Group has the right to select its contractors, the
Group will conduct a vetting process to shortlist at least
three contractors from a list of pre-approved contractors
to be invited to tender, and the winning bid of which will
be the one with the lowest tender amount in accordance
with the Group’s internal tender procedures on the
condition that the bidder also satisfies all other essential
requirements (including but not limited to relevant
experience, capability and historical relationship and track
records) as set out in the tender invitation.

Machineries Leasing Transactions

Under the CSC Operational Services Agreement, the
Group may lease machineries from the CSC Group for
the Group’s construction works (“Machineries Leasing
Transactions”) in accordance with the applicable vendor
selection procedures of the Group from time to time for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2024 and
ending on 31 December 2026, provided that the total rent
payable in respect of the Machineries Leasing Transactions
for each of the three financial years ending 31 December
2026 shall not exceed HK$40 million.

The Group will obtain at least three quotations from a
list of pre-approved vendors (which is subject to periodic
review and update by its management to ensure vendors’
machineries and equipment are in good operational
conditions). For the selection of a vendor, the lowest
quotation will be selected on the condition that the vendor
also satisfies all other essential requirements (including
but not limited to the specification and condition of the
machinery and equipment).

4.2.
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4.3

4.4

Insurance Services and Surety Bonds Transactions

Under the CSC Operational Services Agreement, the CSC
Group may provide insurance services to the Group and
issue surety bonds for the Group’s construction works
("Insurance Services and Surety Bonds Transactions”) in
accordance with the applicable insurer selection procedures
of the Group from time to time for a term of three years
commencing from 1 January 2024 and ending on 31
December 2026, provided that the total premiums/fees
payable in respect of the Insurance Services and Surety
Bonds Transactions for each of the three financial years
ending 31 December 2026 shall not exceed HK$75 million.

The Group will obtain at least three quotations from
independent insurers (directly or indirectly through
insurance brokers) and the CSC Group. For the selection
of the insurers, the lowest quotation will be selected on
the condition that the insurer also satisfies other essential
requirements (including but not limited to paying ability,
financial strength, specialisation, historical relationship and
record of claim refusal).

Supply of Materials Transactions

Under the CSC Operational Services Agreement, the CSC
Group may supply materials (including but not limited to
building materials and construction management products)
to the Group for the Group’s construction works (“Supply
of Materials Transactions”) in accordance with the
applicable supplier selection procedures of the Group from
time to time for a term of three years commencing from 1
January 2024 and ending on 31 December 2026, provided
that the total sum payable in respect of the Supply of
Materials Transactions for each of the three financial
years ending 31 December 2026 shall not exceed HK$270
million.

The Group will obtain at least three quotations from a
list of pre-approved suppliers (which is subject to periodic
review and update by its management to ensure a
portfolio of best-in-class suppliers is available for use). For
the selection of a supplier, the lowest quotation will be
selected on the condition that the supplier also satisfies
all other essential requirements (including but not limited
to relevant experience, qualities and specifications of
materials and track records).

4.3.

4.4.
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CSC is an intermediate holding company of the Company.
Accordingly, members of the CSC Group are connected persons
of the Company, and the Mechanical and Electrical Engineering
Works Transactions, Machineries Leasing Transactions, Insurance
Services and Surety Bonds Transactions and Supply of Materials
Transactions contemplated under the CSC Operational Services
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for the
Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the CSC Operational
Services Agreement were disclosed in the announcement dated
20 October 2023 and the circular dated 30 November 2023. The
CSC Operational Services Agreement was duly approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary
general meeting held on 20 December 2023.

COLI Framework Agreement

On 29 March 2021, the Company and China Overseas Land
& Investment Limited (“COLI") entered into an agreement
("COLI Framework Agreement”) whereby for a term of three
years commencing from 1 July 2021 and ending on 30 June
2024, each of COLI and its subsidiaries (together, the “COLI
Group”), and the companies held as to 30% to 50% by the
COLI Group and their respective subsidiaries (excluding the
COLI Group, China Overseas Grand Oceans Group Limited and
its subsidiaries) (together, the “Minority Controlled Group”)
may engage the Group, and the Group may act as contractor
or service provider (as the case may be), for provision of
contracting and engineering works, project management,
supervision and consultancy services (“COLI Works") in relation
to the respective construction works of the COLI Group and the
Minority Controlled Group, provided that the maximum total
contract sums of works contracts in respect of the COLI Works
that may be awarded to the Group shall not exceed HK$310
million for the period between 1 July 2021 and 31 December
2021, HK$310 million for the year ending 31 December 2022,
HK$510 million for the year ending 31 December 2023, and
HK$155 million for the period between 1 January 2024 and 30
June 2024.
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The Group will normally need to go through a tender or similar
process before being selected and engaged by the COLI Group
or the Minority Controlled Group (as the case may be) for the
COLI Works. The prices and terms of the tender proposals
submitted by the Group to the COLI Group and the Minority
Controlled Group for the COLI Works are subject to the standard
and systematic tender submission procedures of the Group,
which apply to tender proposals submitted to both connected
persons and independent third parties. In determining the
pricing terms, the Group will conduct quantitative comparison
between the cost information maintained in its in-house
database for material and labour costs, and subcontractors’
guotations, and the preliminary quotations from subcontractors
and material suppliers, for cost estimation. The Group will also
take into account the contract value of the previous winning
bids, relevant market information such as material price trends,
and the chance of winning a bid. The Group will review and
compare the prices of previous tender proposals submitted to
both connected persons and independent third parties, so as to
ensure that the tender price is no less favourable to the Group
than those offered to independent third parties.

COHL is a controlling shareholder of both COLI and the
Company. Accordingly, members of the COLI Group and
the Minority Controlled Group are connected persons of
the Company and the transactions contemplated under the
COLI Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under the Listing Rules. Details
of the COLI Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement dated 29 March 2021 and the circular dated 23
April 2021. The COLI Framework Agreement was duly approved
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting held on 9 June 2021.
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6.

New COLI Framework Agreement

In anticipation of the expiration of the COLI Framework
Agreement on 30 June 2024, the Company entered into a new
agreement (the “New COLI Framework Agreement”) with COLI
on 29 April 2024 to renew the COLI Framework Agreement.
Pursuant to the New COLI Framework Agreement, for a term
of three years commencing from 1 July 2024 and ending on 30
June 2027 (both dates inclusive), each of the COLI Group and
the Minority Controlled Group may engage the Group, and the
Group may act as contractor or service provider (as the case may
be), for provision of exterior facade works for the respective
property development projects of the COLI Group and the
Minority Controlled Group and provision of project supervision
service for the respective property development projects of the
COLI Group and the Minority Controlled Group in the PRC (the
“New COLI Works"”), provided that the maximum total contract
sums of contracts in respect of the New COLI Works that may be
awarded by the COLI Group and the Minority Controlled Group
to the Group shall not exceed (i) HK$505 million for the period
between 1 July 2024 and 31 December 2024; (ii) HK$110 million
for the year ending 31 December 2025; (iii) HK$660 million for
the year ending 31 December 2026; and (iv) HK$110 million
for the period between 1 January 2027 and 30 June 2027. The
pricing basis for the New COLI Works is the same as that for the
COLI Works as set out in paragraph 5 above.

COHL is a controlling shareholder of both COLI and the
Company. Accordingly, members of the COLI Group and
the Minority Controlled Group are connected persons of the
Company and the transactions contemplated under the New
COLI Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company under the Listing Rules. Details
of the New COLI Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement dated 29 April 2024 and the circular dated 29
May 2024. The New COLI Framework Agreement was duly
approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at
the extraordinary general meeting held on 25 June 2024.
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COGO Framework Agreement

On 24 March 2021, the Company and China Overseas Grand
Oceans Group Limited (“COGQ") entered into an agreement
("COGO Framework Agreement”) whereby for a term of three
years commencing from 1 July 2021 and ending on 30 June
2024, the Group may tender for, and upon successful tender,
COGO and its subsidiaries (together, the “COGO Group”) may
engage the Group as service provider for provision of project
management, supervision and consultancy services in relation
to the property development projects of the COGO Group in
the PRC ("COGO Management Services”) provided that the
maximum total contract sums of service contracts in respect of
the COGO Management Services that may be awarded by the
COGO Group to the Group shall not exceed (i) HK$30 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB25 million) for the period
between 1 July 2021 and 31 December 2021; (ii) HK$60 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB50 million) for each of the
two years ending 31 December 2023; and (iii) HK$30 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB25 million) for the period
between 1 January 2024 and 30 June 2024.

The prices and terms of the tender proposals submitted by the
Group to the COGO Group are subject to the standard and
systematic tender submission procedures of the Group, which
apply to tender proposals submitted to both connected persons
and independent third parties. In determining the pricing terms,
the Group will conduct quantitative comparison between the
cost information maintained in its in-house database for labour
costs and subcontractors’ quotations, and the preliminary
quotations obtained from subcontractors, for cost estimation.
The Group will also take into account the contract value of the
previous winning bids and the chance of winning a bid. The
Group will review and compare the prices of previous tender
proposals submitted to both connected persons and independent
third parties, so as to ensure that the tender price is no less
favourable to the Group than those offered to independent third
parties.

COHL is a controlling shareholder of both COGO and the
Company. Accordingly, members of the COGO Group are
connected persons of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the COGO Framework Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under the
Listing Rules. Details of the COGO Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement dated 24 March 2021.

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024F F

Connected Transactions

FEXS

FEEMEFERGZ
M20219F3 7248 + A A EEFP R FINERF
SEBERQAA ([FEGIEF]D L0
e ((PEEIINRFEERDZE] Bt
R2021F7A1H £2024F6 A30H IE ) =
FR - AEETRE LMK FIE B E
HONTEEREM B AR (G BREIHNE
HFEEBDNZEASEAREHER A
PRGN REFEEBEFE 2 MEZRER
REEEERE EERAHARSE ([FEE
NERFEEBRBE]  HPBEEIINEFEE
AR TASEEBBABGINRTEERS
ZRBAELANER A NEETSBB)EE
3,0008 T (FHERHARKE2,50087T) (B
202157 A1HE20214F12 A31BHIR) : (i)
76,0008 7T (HBER L ARES,00087T)
(B ZE2023F12A3IB L MEEESF)
R (iii) & #63,0008 7T (FHE R A RH2,500
E7t) (B2024%1A1H £2024%6A30H
/H\HFEﬁ) ©

AEERTEGIEFEEARIIEENE
BREGERATEAEENRER ZREEN
BIERF ZEFERBREITHREAL
EBIE=TTRE - REEBRIERE -
AEBEBHENTHEBEEFANATEAR
EDBERENKAEHEXS BEES
WS REETEELER  BRKEMGEE -
AEENRHERBEPRENANER RSP
BHRE AKEHERRLEBEREE
BATRBYE=ZTRXZEENER
NHABRENEBHALEEME TEER
RETEILFE =77 2B -

FEUGINRR A EBINEF RARDFIH
ERR AR R - AR ETR A R EEINER
FEBCKERRRARRT ZEBEANL
MAABEEIINEFEEBZBE NRET IR
PEBRNANRBZIFEBERZS - R EEFH
RAFERBZENFEEHN BB R2021F3 4
24H 2 N o

103



104 China State Construction Development Holdings Limited 7T EZ S L EEHAR AT

Connected Transactions

BAEXS

8. New COGO Framework Agreement 8. HHPEBNIEFELRBER

In anticipation of the expiration of the COGO Framework
Agreement on 30 June 2024, the Company entered into a
new agreement (the “New COGO Framework Agreement”)
with COGO on 26 April 2024 to renew the COGO Framework
Agreement. Pursuant to the New COGO Framework Agreement,
for a term of three years commencing from 1 July 2024 and
ending on 30 June 2027, the Group may tender for, and upon
successful tender, the COGO Group may engage the Group
as service provider for provision of project supervision services
in relation to the property development projects of the COGO
Group in the PRC (the “New COGO Services”) provided that
the maximum total contract sums of service contracts in respect
of the New COGO Services that may be awarded by the COGO
Group to the Group shall not exceed (i) HK$20 million for the
period between 1 July 2024 and 31 December 2024, (ii) HK$40
million for each of the two years ending 31 December 2026; and
(iii) HK$25 million for the period between 1 January 2027 and
30 June 2027. The pricing basis for the New COGO Services is
the same as that for the COGO Management Services as set out
in paragraph 7 above.

COHL is a controlling shareholder of both COGO and the
Company. Accordingly, members of the COGO Group are
connected persons of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the New COGO Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under the Listing Rules. Details of the New COGO Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement dated 26 April
2024.

Connection Services Framework
Agreement

On 25 October 2022, the Company and COLI entered into an
agreement (“Connection Services Framework Agreement”)
whereby the COLI Group may engage the Group for the
provision of heating pipes connection services for the real estate
projects which are located in the PRC and developed by the COLI
Group (“Heating Pipes Projects”) (i.e. the Connection Services)
from time to time for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2023 and ending on 31 December 2025 provided
that the total contract sum that may be awarded by the COLI
Group to the Group under the Connection Services Framework
Agreement for each of the three years ending 31 December
2025 shall not exceed HK$50 million.
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The fees for the Connection Services will be determined by the
Group with reference to the pricing standard published by the
Shenyang local authorities, the prevailing market price of similar
heating services offered by other comparable service providers
in the vicinity of the Heating Pipes Projects, the coverage of
heating services, the location, size and development status of
the Heating Pipes Projects, heat capacity and the cost of heating
pipes connection.

A business review committee, comprising senior management of
the relevant member of the Group, will review and compare the
previous contract prices and terms for similar services provided
to both connected persons and independent third parties to
ensure that the prices and terms offered to the COLI Group are
no more favourable to the COLI Group than those offered to
independent third parties.

COHL is a controlling shareholder of both COLI and the
Company. Accordingly, members of the COLI Group are
connected persons of the Company and the transactions
contemplated under the Connection Services Framework
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for
the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the Connection
Services Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement dated 25 October 2022.

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken by
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under the Listing Rules had complied with the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

In respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2024, each of the
continuing connected transactions mentioned above has been subject
to annual review by the Independent Non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules who have concluded that each
continuing connected transaction has been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the relevant agreement governing it on terms that

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Information”

Based on the work performed, the auditor has confirmed in a letter to
the Board that:

a. nothing has come to the attention of the auditor that causes
them to believe that the disclosed continuing connected
transactions have not been approved by the Board;

b.  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to the attention of the auditor
that causes them to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the
Group;

C. nothing has come to the attention of the auditor that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not entered into, in
all material respects, in accordance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

d.  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to the attention
of the auditor that causes them to believe that the disclosed
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual
caps set by the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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Independent auditor’s report

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

To the shareholders of China State Construction Development
Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
“Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 223,

State Construction Development Holdings Limited (the

which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Qur responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor's
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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18 M A% B R
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) @ﬁ%ﬁ;la (&)
Key audit matter HREENSHE
How our audit addressed the key audit matter BANEZNMABRERESNSE
Revenue recognition from construction works BET 2 7 1R

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised revenue E%Eﬁﬁwﬁtizouinﬂm HIEFERETRE
from construction works of HK$7,224 million. Most construction works A 4R BB 224 L - BE TR TH—
take several years to complete and the scope of work may change during F}xi%%li IE#@E’JI{’E%@W—T&E """"" fE o BIRE
that time. Management estimates the revenue and budgeted costs at the &7 TI2RIARFTE(E T2 TR Iz &ﬁ%l" &
commencement of the contracts and reqgularly assesses the progress of EHEFBTREE AN IRHENNE TS
construction works as well as the financial impact of scope changes, claims, & %U TRUGURENESEETEF RNV B
disputes and liquidated damages. The management's estimate of revenue, £ - ZFERBEEZERBENIZE EME KA HATER
budgeted costs as well as the progress of related construction works TF2UzE ~ FEEFAR AN AR MHRE TIREE - L HER
requires significant judgement and has a significant impact on the amount W&mMESBEEEHEERTE -

and timing of revenue recognised.

For this reason, we identified revenue recognition from construction works FE it »+ TG ERET R IMAERIEARBEETEE -
as a key audit matter.

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the revenue HEEETRUZHREENSHBRENEESSE
recognition from construction works are included in notes 2.4, 4(i) and 5 to A #t B I RER KT EE2.4 - 43)F5F o
the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition from construction ~ FFFFERETIERZHRNEZIEFBEEATA
works included the following: A

. obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the Group's processes e TERAFNE EEEHNRENREERKA

and controls over contract revenue recognition and budget BRMBEE HETAOES
estimation;

e testing the calculation of the revenue and profit recognised from . AR RESRARERHBANFEOGTE
construction contracts;

. discussing with management and the respective project teams the . EI% R ARRE BT B & BT A EKIE E
progress of major projects and the assumptions adopted in the E’UEELA&/\H}%Z}W/E B B A A R ER
forecast of contract costs, including estimated costs to completion EEXTEARAMMGETERIREAALTHES
and assessment of potential liquidated damages for major contracts; FMETENS

. testing, on a sampling basis, the actual costs incurred on construction e EREHAMEEBRERTREREENER:
works during the reporting period;

e testing, the supporting documents of the budgets on a sampling . R AR BEN X EReE
basis, which include sub-contracting contracts, material purchase DBEAER MRHREAR / BEENEKRE
contracts/invoices and price quotations, etc.; and £ Rk

. comparing last year’s budget against the current year's budget or . REFNRHEREFNRENETEARES
actual costs incurred for major contracts on a sampling basis. MEBRKANETHELE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (covmuen)

Key audit matter
How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recognised net trade receivables of
HK$2,024 million and contract assets of HK$5,411 million, which were
significant assets of the Group as of the year end, representing 65% of the
total assets.

In assessing the recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets,
management exercises significant judgements to evaluate the collectability
from individual customers after taking into account their creditworthiness,
whether they have financial difficulties, experience of default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy and ageing analysis, as well as forecast of future events
and economic conditions which may impact the recoverability of trade
receivables and contract assets.

This area has been identified as a key audit matter due to the judgements
applied by management, which have a significant impact on the level of
provision required for trade receivables and contract assets.

The accounting policies and disclosures in relation to the recoverability of
trade receivables and contract assets are included in notes 2.4, 4(v), 20 and
21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of trade receivables and
contract assets included the following:

J obtaining an understanding of, evaluating and validating on
a sampling basis the design and operating effectiveness of
management’s control over the collection and the assessment of the
recoverability of trade receivables and contract assets;

J testing, on a sampling basis, the ageing of trade receivables at year
end;

o testing, on a sampling basis, subsequent settlements and the latest
amounts certified by quantity surveyors appointed by customers;

J in respect of material trade receivables and contract assets, inspecting
relevant contracts and correspondence with the customers, and
assessing their creditworthiness with reference to publicly available
information, where applicable;

J in respect of material trade receivable balances which are past due,
performing additional procedures to evaluate their historical progress
payment records, assessing whether the customers are experiencing
financial difficulties, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, and assessing the probability that the customers will enter
bankruptcy with reference to publicly available information, where
applicable; and

J evaluating the level of provisions made by management for trade
receivables and contract assets using forward-looking and historical
information.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (convmmuen)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
ma W E R

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
REVENUE R 5 8,101,694 8,665,765
Costs of sales EE N 7 (7.134,744) (7,692,702)
Gross profit EF 966,950 973,063
Other income and gains, net Emg A Rz - FEE 6 42,155 46,959
Administrative, selling and other operating 1T - $§% K H & & & A 7
expenses (210,135) (287,852)
Share of profit of an associate FE(REE & N R & 34 69
Finance costs MiEER 8 (74,740) (81,776)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX T AT &= A 724,264 650,463
Income tax charge s E R 9 (80,385) (78,233)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AN i A 643,879 572,230
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: NEREMEEF,(BE):
Owners of the Company ZN/NS 1 32 650,253 580,420
Non-controlling interests SEIERR R R (6,374) (8,190)
643,879 572,230
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AR FREEEEFREATF
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY
Earnings per share BRAEF
Basic and diluted (HK cents) RN R#E (BL) 13 28.83 25.73
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEZEHWRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 25 S R 643,879 572,230
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hihzmilizs (EBE)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss. S RIAEEFH HIAF Bz E A -
Exchange differences arising on translation of HIBIMSEEERIE R Z8
foreign operations (150,947) (94,175)
Exchange differences arising on translation of EREERAZE =
an associate MEH ZH 692 491
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, AEEMEHEEE
NET OF TAX OF NIL ks TE 1A (150,255) (93,684)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REREMBEEE R
FOR THE YEAR 493,624 478,546
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ANERGEE2EUE(EEB)
attributable to: BE
Owners of the Company KRB 502,192 485,862
Non-controlling interests FEE R = (8,568) (7,316)

493,624 478,546
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B BRRR

As at 31 December 2024 172024F12H31H

2024 2023
202445 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=2 BT T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERENE E
Property, plant and equipment ME - WEREE 14 1,553,377 1,723,409
Right-of-use assets PRAEEE 16 235,120 197,476
Investment properties LAY 15 18,943 18,943
Interests in infrastructure project ERmERERR 17
investments - 13,779
Interests in an associate REEE N E 2 9,005 8,969
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE 26 112,162 115,167
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 1,928,607 2,077,743
CURRENT ASSETS mENE E
Interests in infrastructure project ARBEHKREER 17
investments 13,705 26,190
Inventories FE 19 152,888 152,458
Contract assets BHEE 20 5,411,269 4,571,635
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E th B UK 21 2,083,521 2,087,075
Deposits and prepayments Re REBEAR 170,475 260,310
Tax recoverable AT U B F 1E 5,126 883
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEWE B RRRA AR 22 754,275 752,418
Cash and bank balances e RRITHEH 23 982,505 712,950
Total current assets BRBEE 9,573,764 8,563,919
CURRENT LIABILITIES ER=RE
Bank borrowings RITIER 24 583,341 789,513
Contract liabilities aHEE 20 797,470 921,081
Trade payables, other payables and B G RN BEMENRE 25
accruals [EETER 3,814,993 3,585,358
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 29,258 21,627
Deposits received Bz e 21,377 25,230
Current tax payables FERTTE 1A 126,573 130,957
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries EBNEERARAR 22 1,970,760 1,844,368
Total current liabilities RO B=Ki 7,343,772 7,318,134
NET CURRENT ASSETS B EE 2,229,992 1,245,785
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES @& ER TS AE 4,158,599 3,323,528
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
iR e Bt

As at 31 December 2024 1722024F12H31H

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=2 BET T BT T
CAPITAL AND RESERVES IR R
Share capital [N 27 22,555 22,555
Share premium and reserves B& A (B & 28 2,652,157 2,379,267
Equity attributable to the owners of RAFRREGE =
the Company 2,674,712 2,401,822
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2 (114,524) (105,956)
Total equity B 2,560,188 2,295,866
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Contract liabilities aHEE 20 523,026 591,473
Bank borrowings RITIE X 24 997,607 398,471
Lease liabilities HEa®R 16 77,485 37,425
Deferred tax liabilities BLEHIBEE 26 293 293
Total non-current liabilities BIEREBE 1,598,411 1,027,662
4,158,599 3,323,528
Zhang Haipeng Zhu Haiming
RIFIB KRG
Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREIR

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NEARRER
Share- Foreign
based Property currency Non-
Share Share Special payment  revaluation  translation Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserves profits Total interests equity
IRt A
ERfIF ng EER
Bx RbEE  BAER BRE  ERER BE  iERE  REER @ FhRES  EREE
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AgTr  E%Tn  E%Tn  E%fr  B%fr  BEfr B%fr A%fr R%Tr RETr BETo
(note 27) (note 28) (note 28) (note 28) (note 28) (note 28)
(Wskar)  (Wst28)  (Wes)  (Wins) (Bsa8)  (fz28)
At 1 January 2023 R023E1818 22,555 1,116,682 (1,154,011)* 4,636* 10,943+ 125,816* 153,962%  1,811,742% 2,092,325 (98,640) 1,993,685
Profit{loss) for the year ENEF|/(E8) - - - - - - - 580420 580,420 (8190 572,230
Exchange differences on RERNEEEES
translation of foreign EXZE
operations - - - - - (95,049) - - (95,049) 874 (94,175)
Exchange differences on TERBERRZBRY
translation of an associate EiZR - - - - - 491 - - 491 - 491
Total comprehensive income/ ~ ERZEME/
(loss) for the year (BB a8 - - - - - (94,558) - 58040 48588 (7316) 478,546
Capital contribution relatingto AR R EH
share-based payment borne AR LE
by an intermediate holding (Hiz28)
company (note 28) - - 1823 - - - - - 1823 - 1823
Transfer to statutory reserves gntThE - - - - - - 3,126 (3126) - - -
2022 final dividend W0EFERE - - - - - - - (54,133) (54,133) - (54,133)
2023 interim dividend WRERERS - - - - - - — (124055 (124,055) - (124,055)
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 22,555 1,116,682 (1,152,188)* 4,636* 10,943 31,258* 157,088*  2,210,848* 2,401,822 (105,956) 2,295,866
At 1 January 2024 200451818 22,555 1,116,682  (1,152,188)* 4,636* 10,943* 31,258* 157,088*  2,210,848* 2,401,822 (105,956) 2,295,866
Profitloss) for the year B/ (BB - - - - - - - 65025 650253 (6374) 643879
Exchange differences on TERMERELH
translation of foreign EXER
operations - - - - - (148,753) - - (148,753) (2,194)  (150,947)
Exchange differences on TERBEARZ
translation of an associate BaMEAZE - - - - - 692 - - 692 - 692
Total comprehensive income/ ~ ERZEME/
(loss) for the year (BB2E - - - - - (148,061) - 650,253 502,192 (8,568) 493,624
Capital contribution relating to~~ RAMERAERED
share-based payment borne AR LE
by an intermediate holding (Hz28)
company (note 28) - - 763 - - - - - 763 - 763
Transfer to statutory reserves ghtThE - - - - - - 28,258 (28,258) - - -
2023 final dividend WRERERE - - - - - - - (mamy  (am) - (12,177)
2024 interim dividend 20UFERERS - - - - - - - (157,888)  (157,888) - (157,888)
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 22,555 1,116,682  (1,151,425)% 4,636* 10,943* (116,803)*  185,346*  2,602,778* 2,674,712 (114,524) 2,560,188

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  *
HK$2,652,157,000 (2023: HK$2,379,267,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

HHEEEEREAVBERILRZEE
#&#2,652,157,0007T (20234 : B #
2,379,267,0007C) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

2024 2023
202445 20234
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=2 BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KEFHEEANRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax T4 A1 % 724,264 650,463
Adjustments for: PR
Finance costs MBER 8 74,740 81,776
Bank interest income RITHLEWA 6 (3.580) (4,246)
Fair value gains on WEMENAREEZH 2 15
investment properties g %5 - (79)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEME  BEMERED 7
property, plant and equipment (W 35), B8 (10,938) 87
Share of profits of an associate FEAGH:E R A& F| (34) (69)
Warranty provisions, net RERE FH 7 20,713 24,800
Depreciation of property, plant and mE-—mx - 7
equipment 5 K 5 137,465 128,339
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ME-FRAEEE 43,491 28,857
Impairment of goodwill 2R E - 87,649
Provision of trade and B 5 R E b FE W R
other receivables, net iR FRE = 1,124
Equity-settled share-based payment NEEEER
expenses & 17 3 1+ 8 763 1,823
986,884 1,000,524
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEgMm, R (4,103) 15,697
Increase in contract assets/liabilities, net BHEE/AfE  FELN (1,055,827) (568,447)
Decrease in deposits received B WiE & R A (3,296) (5,700)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K E b FE U FRIE N (33,650) (322,704)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits and me RBERAFORD, (M)
prepayments 84,625 (112,955)
Increase in amounts due to fellow FEAT & B R AR B L
subsidiaries 50,601 208,877
Increase in trade payables, other payables # 5B 3% - HfE &
and accruals FEET 2 FA 12 0 262,680 120,169
Cash generated from operations KERB RS 287,914 335,461
Income tax paid, net ERHMEHFE (87,631) (84,972)
Net cash flows generated from operating  &ZEKEZRE/F58
activities 200,283 250,489




2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 F 3R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HAEBRTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
P E BT T BT T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES HEEHELHNB S RE
Purchases of items of property, plant and B EWE - BE MR E
equipment (65,384) (77,836)
Proceeds from disposals of items of HEME  BEK
property, plant and equipment RAEFTIS IR 41,534 6
Decrease in amounts due from fellow EREEZR
subsidiaries DB R A 26,264 10,953
Interest received B F & 3,580 4,246
Placement in pledged deposits g e\ HER (5,108) (10,550)
Withdrawal of pledged deposits B\ FFOR 10,550 -
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) wEEE TR (FTA) 2
investing activities ReFE 11,436 (73,181)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEFHEENRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Finance costs paid BT E A (69,965) (80,220)
Interest paid on lease liabilities ENHEEEEFE 30 (4,775) (1,556)
Drawdown of bank loans RITE IR 1,300,948 281,749
Repayment of bank loans RITEREER (907,140) (419,277)
Increase in amounts due to fellow FETEBEZAAFFIE M
subsidiaries 58,564 -
Payment of principal portion of lease XNHEEAERSHMH
liabilities (37,416) (25,205)
Dividends paid B E (230,066) (178,188)
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) mEEESIE (TR 2
financing activities ReFE 110,150 (422,697)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRBSSEMEM
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS L) 321,869 (245,389)
Cash and cash equivalents at HyBReRBESEED
beginning of year 702,400 974,838
Effect of foreign exchange INEETE R B R &
rate changes, net R (46,872) (27,049)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HARRELREEED
AT END OF YEAR 977,397 702,400
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND RedREFEMOM
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances He MIBTTHE 982,505 712,950
Less: Pledged deposits B B IER 23 (5.108) (10,550)

977,397 702,400
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China State Construction Development Holdings Limited FEI 2 EAEEBER LT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
LE WK

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

1.

*

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are involved in the facade and general contracting business
(including the design, engineering, manufacture and installation
of curtain wall systems) and operating management business.

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is 16th Floor, Eight
Commercial Tower, No. 8 Sun Yip Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong.

The Company’s immediate holding company is Add Treasure
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and a wholly-owned subsidiary of China State
Construction International Holdings Limited (“CSC") whose
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company’s intermediate holding company is China Overseas
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong which,
in turn, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of China State Construction
Engineering Corporation Limited (“CSCECL"). CSCECL is a joint
stock company established in the People’s Republic of China
("PRC") with its shares listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
The Company’s ultimate holding company is A R ZEEES
fR 2 7] (China State Construction Engineering Corporation*,
“CSCEC"), which is a state-owned enterprise established in the
PRC.

The English name is a translated name and is for identification
purpose only.

ARREBAR

THRZEEXEEARAR (TARAL &
HEHMt@ AR (EIARE]) R LE
ABRTRER (BRK HE LERR
KBRAEGS) MELEBERY -

ARBIERERSHESRAENFEHS
AR AT - s At i &P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman lIslands o & 2 & 3£ ith 2§
REBEENEGR R EEES161E -

AARNBEERERQFRMEEZERERA
A —RARARBREXESEMAR LA A A
EhEgEERERARAR ([hEZE
BRDHNE2ERBAR  PEZEEKD
BRI EBBHEZZMABMR AR LM -

AABWPNERABEZTEEINEEER
BRAF —EREAEMALNAE R
R ERBEZERNDERAR ([FERNK])
MEEMBRAR - PEROZ -HRPE
ARKEME ([FE]) KIZOBRD AR H
BOREBEFZXBM LT - ARBN &K
RERAFRRINTENEELEFE
BEEEERAR([FEER]) -



2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 F 3R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe MRS R MY AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

2. EFHEHE
21 EAEEE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
"2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

2.2

AEBEz2HGEAVBERRIDREFE S
e ([BEEFAMAG]) AEMERZE
BB REEN((ERHBREEN]) (B
ERMABREMBHREER FESFER
(IBEEHER]) k2B M(EERAME
POMBEEREMER - ARAWHRKT)
MESLKARERE  ARAEBETEN
REMFHWERIN -BRIFZBEHHA BRI
A BRERABESN TR HEBEY TR
AAEREROMTAE -

BB B 5 SR AR A B 75
xE - BRAETEAQHGH ERE
IR E T e FR A 4 B IR 2 B R e L
1 -

S ERRNBEE 25 #

AEBDERRARNFEZHBHRREABNAT
EFTNR BB REER -

BEMBRESER EROBEFH
F165%E (BT A) HEET

BRI ENE R BESHAEREHI)
(BT A) JEE) ([202018 5T
1)
EB G EREI FRUNETEEE
(BFTR) (120228 5T &)
EEGTELNFEIE HEFRELH

N B EY B RELE
UEYEACCHEN)
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China State Construction Development Holdings Limited FEI 2 EAEEBER LT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RAM T

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described

below:

(a)

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional
disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that
are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

22 S BENEEZ2HRNE »

BRI 2 BB HREENNEE R E2H
MR

(a)

BEMBHRELRNE 165K (BFTA) R
ETETABAGFEEREEDRS
REANHEAERERNENR U
BRESABATERZELRENE
RERBNEMREREREE - A
RAEELEATKBERERERE
BB RELRE 165 AREEN
BEEMNEN SN RBEETE
RBREOR S ZEFTHAEENMB
AR L ERRIL BAEAZE -

2020F B ERBET HABOEA/R
BEEIGFRBEENER 1L
HEERMNN SR ARBEHRLE
FHEHEENEN - BENDET
ETBITHEEMAERNNA T
MEE - EIhLRERENUNESR
ERRTAFEE ARFEETERE
EPNEREEEASELSEGE TR
ETEHRER  BENGERTTE
FERHEDE 202F B ERE—FH
B EERTHEENBEROD
REBRVARRE BN ZATET
MRS EFEZABNRB IR
BoE FEENBEIFRBEE
BUBBERERERSHMERI2EA
8T RRREL »

AEBEFHFMH T2023F1 818 &
2024F 1V ATEHM B BRI RGEH - I
BHEwRRAE EaXERET%R
EBEEMNRBNFERDDERET
B AL RXERTHAEBNE B
R R AL R R ST L2 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As
the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements,
the amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

22 S BENEEZ2HRNE »

(@

EREGEMNETRREEMBRE
EAFTRNETBRTHERRE
ZHNBE XERBINEEZER
B-BERTMNIBEEREEEDY
BHREAERETHRUERREREY

cHRAKEUEHREHRE L
B BEATEHAKRENY B RRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre RS R M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these new and
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-
and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements?

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification

And HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1,
to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7?2

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026

3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

23 EEMEHRERNE RN

1% 3R &5 2 A

AEBEHREAFHHRRPERATD #
B R AR FT AT MAERT 2 &8 B 715 e
FEA AEBERRZEMT RETEE
Mg mEENERRERZENT RERT
ZEBMBHREER (MER) ©

BRAMBREENESE  2ZAAETHAH
(BRI A) RBERT
ERERIETH (BITAF)
EREMBRELNESSR  FEAXFHIHR
RE
BEMBREENE 198 RALAEAONE
RS- &
BREMBRELNESE LB TASFEHE
(BETAR) REBRTE CHY
RV ACHEY
BRAMBREEANF 10 REFLAREES
(BFIX) R BBES RELEZENEE
ERI£285% (BFTA) HE &
BEGHERFE21H RE AL
(BFT %)
BRNFHEERFE BAMBREENSE
HE BT ERE 15 ¥ BREMBREE
BT BAMH
EERENE - F
BHBREEAE0
FREEYEREE
AT (BT AK)?2

! 202551 A1B 8 2 & B A 2 FE B
E2

2 202651 A1 2 &R tA 2 FE B
E2

3 P2027F1 AR 2 R BB ZEE R
EHIB AR

4 MAER S A B H - BRI IAR A
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements.
While a number of sections have been brought forward from
HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new
requirements for presentation within the income statement,
including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the income statement
into one of the five categories: operating, investing, financing,
income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is
renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but
widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim
Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRSs.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must
be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have
a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply
with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As the Company
is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS
19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the
application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

23 EEMEHRERNE RN

BHEER 2
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BREENBEIORGESYEHFEXFTEENT
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REEAMNATHERARFEANGEVBIRE
REIRAIER - AR ARA A LET ARG
MAHERERAESM RS LS9
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial
assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures
for investments in equity instruments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits (or
other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior
periods are not required to be restated and can only be restated
without the use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all
the amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’'s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

23 EEMEHRERNE RN
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments require
disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
Group's financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 17 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1, IG14 and IG20B of
the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose
of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition, the
amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

23 EEMEHRERNE RN
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9
and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS
9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of various
relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace
the term “cost method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37
of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition
of “cost method"”. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2QAEEEHTHERE

Interests in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

The Group's interests in an associate are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s
share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of an associate is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group's investment
in the associate, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of an associate is included as part of the Group'’s
investment in an associate.

If an interest in an associate becomes an interest in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises
any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant
influence and the fair value of the retained investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which
the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in
an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests
in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve with equity
attributable to owners of the Group.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, joint control
or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for
the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial
assets. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group has directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This might mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Subsidiaries (continuea)
Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations other than common control combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’'s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-
measurement are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference, after reassessment, is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Intra-group transactions, balances, and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform to the Group’s accounting policies.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that make strategic decisions.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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Q4EEEHHERE »)

(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(HK$), which is the Company’s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they related to qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are
attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign
operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that related to
borrowings are presented in the income statement, within
finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the income statement on a net basis
within other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value
are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-
monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

(b) income and expenses for each statement of profit
or loss and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
is not reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses

are translated at the rate on the dates of the

transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange difference arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other financial instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold
or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are
repaid, the associated exchange differences are reclassified
to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Land and buildings comprise mainly factories, offices and senior
housing. All other items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at historical cost less depreciation and any impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
the income statement during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation on other assets are calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated

Buildings Over the shorter of the term
of the relevant lease of the
leasehold land or 50 years

Heat and electricity supply Over the shorter of the licence
facilities operation period or 20 years
Leasehold improvements 4 years
Plant and machinery 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and 5 to 10 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2QAEEEHTHEBRE »)

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
“other income and gains, net” in the income statement.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the consolidated income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the consolidated income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or inventories, the deemed cost of a property for
subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use. If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment” for owned property and/or
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under “Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use
asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference at
that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for in the property revaluation reserve and
will not be subsequently reclassified to the income statement on
disposal of the revalued property. For a transfer from inventories
to investment properties, any difference between the fair value
of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Interests in infrastructure project
investments

Interests in infrastructure project investments represent loans
advanced to joint ventures whereby the Group’s return is
predetermined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant
agreements.

The Group's interests in the infrastructure project investments
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The carrying amount of such interests is reduced to recognise
any identified impairment losses of individual investments.
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Q4EEEHHERE »)

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

Financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement category - those to be measured at
amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and
the contractual terms of the cash flows. Management
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.

(i)  Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial assets (continued)
(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset.

(iv) Impairment
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the receivables, see note 22 for further details.

For other financial assets which have been classified as
financial assets at amortised cost under HKFRS 9, the
Group applied the general approach and has determined
that reliably assessing the probability of default of the
counterparties at the initial recognition of each financial
asset would result in undue cost and effort. Provision for
impairment of receivables for these financial assets will
be determined based on whether their credit risks are
low at each reporting date, and if so by recognising a
12-month expected loss amount until the financial asset is
derecognised. If the financial asset is not of a low credit
risk, the corresponding provision for doubtful debts will be
recognised as equal to lifetime expected losses.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial assets (continuea)

(iv)

Impairment (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
credit exposures for which there has been a significant

For those

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial assets (continuea)

(iv)

Inventories

Impairment (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except
for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed in note 22.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable,

direct labour costs and those overheads that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be

incurred in selling expenses.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2QAEEEHTHEBRE »)

(Continued)
Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not,
they are presented as non-current assets.

If the Group performs by transferring goods or provide services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, retention receivables are
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment. See “Financial
assets” above for further information about the Group's
accounting for trade receivables and description of the Group's
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Trade payables, other payables and
accruals

Trade payables are obligations to pay for materials or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade payables, other payables and accruals
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables, other payables and accruals are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all
of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the period
of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires. When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between
the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(i)

(ii)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes
except that deferred tax is not recognised for the Pillar
Two income taxes. However, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted for
if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss, and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary difference. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except
for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary differences will reverse in the future and there
is sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that their future utilisation is probable. Deferred income
tax arising from revaluation of investment properties
is recognised on the rebuttable presumption that the
recovery of the carrying amount of the properties would
be through sale and calculated at the applicable tax rates.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2QAEEEHTHEBRE »)

(Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as an interest
expense.

The Group provides for warranties in relation to the provision
of construction services for general repairs of defects occurring
during the warranty period. Provisions for these assurance-type
warranties granted by the Group are initially recognised based
on sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and
returns, discounted to their present values as appropriate. The
warranty-related cost is revised annually.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases, the Group as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use
by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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(Continued)
Leases, the Group as a lessee (continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received,

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the
Group, which does not have recent third party financing;
and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country,
currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the
right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to the consolidated income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability

for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs; and

o restoration costs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Leases, the Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets as follows:

Prepaid land lease payment ~ Over the shorter of the term
of the relevant lease of the
leasehold land or 50 years

Buildings Over the term of the relevant
leases

If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in the consolidated income
statement. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
twelve months or less.

Leases, the Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in
other income in the consolidated income statement due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
other income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operates
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. This subsidiary is required to contribute 5%
of its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payments

(a)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised
in the consolidated income statement such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share option reserve. When
the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium.

When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits.

Share-based payments transactions among group
entities

Incentive shares granted by an intermediate holding
company to the employees of the Group is treated as
capital contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the fair value of
incentive shares on the date of grant, is recognised as an
expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding
credit to equity.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of incentive shares that are
expected to be vested. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.
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Q4EEEHHERE »)

(Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good or
service is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control
of the good or service may be transferred over time or at a point
in time. Control of the good or service is transferred over time if
the Group's performance:

(a) Provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

(b)  Creates or enhances an asset that the customer control as
the Group performs; or

(c) Does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the good or service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the good or service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods
that best depicts the Group’s performance in satisfying the
performance obligation:

(a) Direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group
to the customer; or

(b)  The Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected
efforts or input (“input method”).

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable,
are capitalised as contract related assets and subsequently
amortised when the related revenue is recognised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

()

(i)

(i)

Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised when
or as the construction projects are transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the contracts and
the laws that are applicable to the contracts, control of the
construction projects may transfer over time or at a point
in time. If (a) the Group creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced,
or (b) construction projects have no alternative use to the
Group contractually and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment from the customers for performance
completed to date, the Group satisfies the performance
obligation over time and therefore, recognises revenue
over time in accordance with the input method for
measuring progress.

Service income

Revenue from service income, including consultancy service
income, senior housing service income and management
service income, is recognised over time when the
corresponding services are rendered.

Thermoelectricity business

Revenue from the thermoelectricity business consists of
revenue from the supply of heat, steam and electricity, and
connection service income.

Revenue from the supply of heat, steam and electricity is
recognised upon output delivered and capacity provided at
rates specified under contract terms.

Connection service income received and receivable, to
the extent which is attributable to the initial pipeline
construction and connection of transmission of heat
and steam, is recognised over time upon the completion
of services provided for the relevant connection works.
Connection service attributable to the continuing heat and
steam transmission is recorded as deferred income and
amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected service
period of heat and steam transmission to be rendered
with reference to the term of the operating licence of the
relevant entities.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from other sources

()

(1)

(i)

Income from interests in infrastructure investment projects

Income from interests in infrastructure investment projects
is accrued on a time basis with reference to the carrying
amount and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash flows through the expected life of the infrastructure
project to that project’s net carrying amount at initial
recognition.

Interest income

Interest income on bank deposits is recognised on a time
proportion basis, taking into account the principal amounts
outstanding and the interest rates applicable.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the lease.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders/directors.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract related assets and contract
liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide
services to the customer.

The combination of those rights and performance obligations
gives rise to a net contract asset or a net contract liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining rights
and the performance obligations. The contract is an asset and
recognised as contract assets if the Group has the right to
consideration in exchange for goods and services transferred
to the customers. Contract assets are transferred to receivables
when the rights become unconditional. Conversely, the contract
is a liability and recognised as contract liabilities if the cumulative
payments made by customers exceed the revenue recognised in
the income statement.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the simplified
approach. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group transfers the goods or services to the customers and
therefore satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
are capitalised and presented as contract related assets, if the
Group expects to recover those costs, and are subsequently
amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customers of the goods or services to which the
assets relate. The Group recognises an impairment loss in the
consolidated income statement to the extent that the carrying
amount of the contract related assets recognised exceeds the
remaining amounts of consideration that the Group expects
to receive less the costs that relate directly to providing those
goods or services that have not been recognised as expenses.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group; and the sponsoring employers
of the post-employment benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B 3% B i B
Financial instruments by category ST RZREHR
2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost B ATTENSREE
Interests in infrastructure project EREAREER
investments 13,705 39,969
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries il EIENNEI F 754,275 752,418
Trade and other receivables H 5 & H b fE R 1,066,407 1,115,206
Deposits Ee 17,008 13,200
Cash and bank balances B RIRITHE 8 982,505 712,950
2,833,900 2,633,743
Financial liabilities o=
Financial liabilities at amortised cost LB ATTENSREE
Trade payables, other payables and accruals & 5B - EMEN TR
EEtEH 3,814,993 3,585,358
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries B EBRRNRQRK 1,970,760 1,844,368
Bank borrowings SRITIE K 1,580,948 1,187,984
Deposit received BliEe 21,377 25,230
Lease liabilities HEaE 106,743 59,052
7,494,821 6,701,992

The group’s exposure to various risks associated with the
financial instruments is discussed below. The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying
amount of each class of financial assets mentioned above.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continvea)
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Market risk

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the United States
dollar and the Australian dollar. Foreign exchange risk
arises from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign
operations.

The Group’s foreign currency exposures primarily arise
from monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated
in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency,
where these assets and liabilities are mainly denominated
in United States dollar and Australian dollar.

In view of the fact that the Hong Kong dollar is pegged
to the United States dollar, the foreign currency exposure
of operating units having the Hong Kong dollar as their
functional currency on United States dollar transactions
and balances is minimal.

At 31 December 2024, if the Hong Kong dollar had
weakened/strengthened 5% against the Renminbi,
Australian dollar, Macau Pataca, Great British Pound and
United Arab Emirates Dirham with all other variables held
constant, the consolidated profit for the year would have
been HK$2,000 higher/lower (2023: HK$10,000 higher/
lower), HK$247,000 lower/higher (2023: HK$269,000
lower/higher), HK$1,096,000 lower/higher (2023:
HK$374,000 lower/higher)), HK$2,036,000 lower/higher
(2023: HK$3,000 lower/higher) and HK$600,000 lower/
higher (2023: HK$611,000 lower/higher) and respectively.
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Market risk (Continued)

()

(1)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations,
whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the net
assets of the Group’s foreign operations is managed
primarily through borrowings denominated in the relevant
foreign currencies.

The Group currently does not have a formal foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. However, the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank borrowings
and loan from an intermediate holding company.
Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash
held at variable rates. During 2024 and 2023, the Group’s
borrowings at variable rate were denominated in the Hong
Kong dollar, Renminbi and Canadian dollar.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for floating
interest bank borrowings and loan from an intermediate
holding company. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of asset and liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50
(2023: 50) basis points increase or decrease representing
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates is used.

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates at that date had
been 50 (2023: 50) basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, consolidated profit for the
year would have been HK$5,302,000 lower/higher (2023:
HK$4,290,000 lower/higher), arising mainly as a result of
higher/lower interest expense on bank borrowings and
loan from an intermediate holding company, netting off
against bank interest income.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances, deposits
and prepayments, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, contract
assets, trade and other receivables and interests in infrastructure
project investments included in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to the Group's financial assets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are made
to customers, fellow subsidiaries and related companies with
an appropriate credit history. In addition, the directors review
the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt regularly
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the directors consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

The credit risk on interests in infrastructure project investments
is limited because the counterparties are mainly Chinese
government-related entities.

The credit risk on contract assets and most trade receivables
is limited because the history of default is low. The Group
assessed the credit losses against contract assets and trade
receivables and the lifetime expected credit loss rate is below
1%, except for trade receivables relating to several accounts
from thermoelectricity business which are long overdue with
significant amounts or known insolvencies or non-response
to collection activities which are assessed individually for
impairment allowance. As at 31 December 2024, the expected
credit loss rates for these trade receivables from thermoelectricity
business were ranging from 35% to 80% (2023: 34% to 80%).

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit— ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

3.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The credit quality of financial assets measured at amortised
cost is considered to be “normal” as they are not past due and
there is no information indicating that the financial assets had
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. They
are all classified under Stage 1 for measurement of expected
credit losses except for trade receivables and contract assets that
do not contain a significant financing component which apply
simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses.

Liquidity risk

The Group'’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Financial risk factors (continuea)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

3. WERKRERE»
BREEEE @
mEETRR (&)
TRHENAEBRAATETELRARE
RAMBBMEREEDHBHESE T
FHESBEURMRRESRES -

Less than Between 1 Between 2 Over
Tyear and2years and5 years 5 years Total
TE LA 1825 2E5F BiRSE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Group AEE
At 31 December 2024 R2024%12A31H
Trade payables, other payables and & ZE( 3 - EEM K
accruals, excluding warranty EHER FTRERE
provision ik 3,423,252 330,203 - - 3,753,455
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  EfT &£ B ZR A &7 1,970,760 - - - 1,970,760
Bank borrowings RITIER 583,341 - 1,048,400 - 1,631,741
Lease liabilities MHEERE 33,940 26,827 48,674 10,228 119,669
Total FoH 6,011,293 357,030 1,097,074 10,228 7,475,625
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H
Trade payables, other payables and & SBT3 - EEM TR
accruals, excluding warranty EHER TRERE
provision B 3,314,647 215,052 - - 3,529,699
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FEfT £ B ZR A &7 1,844,368 - - - 1,844,368
Bank borrowings RITEER 804,853 - 418,071 - 1,222,924
Lease liabilities HEERE 23,570 12,723 14,611 14,612 65,516
Total Bt 5,987,438 227,775 432,682 14,612 6,662,507
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continveay 3. B 7 B Bt B 3 (4
Capital risk management EXEpmER
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard REBMNEREERR  EREREHRE
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order HERE  RRERRMDE R LA MF
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other HAEEREMNE  ARERFENER
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to LUK & AR A -
reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group AREFBNAREARAERE AEEEEH
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return BREETRRZ2BRESHE MREFESE
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce - BITHRSEEEELREGR -
debt.
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors BEANEMAG—&K AEEMNEELRE
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated BLEEREREER WL RERER FHE
as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as BRABEARTE - B FRIREER (B
total bank borrowings (including “current and non-current bank FREUBARRAKRI 2 RE RIERERIT
borrowings” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial BRDBERSRBITERTE - FEE
position) less cash and bank balances. Net assets are calculated RIGE BN KT 2 [ AR AIRRES
as “equity attributable to the owners of the Company” and NI FEERER G E -
“non-controlling interests” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
The gearing ratio is calculated as follows: FEELERAENT -
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ok b
Bank borrowings RITHE K 1,580,948 1,187,984
Less: Cash and bank balances BB e RRITER (982,505) (712,950)
Net debt FEE 598,443 475,034
Net assets FEE 2,560,188 2,295,866
Gearing ratio FIEEEE 23.4% 20.7%
The increase in the net gearing ratio from 20.7% to 23.4% was FfEE L EH20.7%1E 11 £23.4% 2 A A1 10k

due to an increase in bank borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continves) 3. HIIEEEERE )

Fair value estimation A REME

The fair values of the following financial assets and liabilities NTeREENMBBEZAABERAREE
approximate their carrying amounts: JicEinE

e Trade and other receivables e  BHRHMEKRX

0 Deposits and prepayments . e RIBRK

. Cash and bank balances . Re RIBITHER

o Interests in infrastructure project investments . ERERKREER

e Amounts due from/to fellow subsidiaries . VA ESEESOUNSIE

e Trade payables, other payables and accruals o EBHENR AtENRKESER
. Bank borrowings . RITIE N

1=

o Lease liabilities . HES

g
mht
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Construction contracts
Progress of construction works

The Group recognises revenue according to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of performance obligation
of the individual contract of construction works. The
progress is determined by the aggregated cost for the
individual contract incurred at the end of the reporting
period compared with the estimated budgeted cost.
Management'’s estimation of the cost incurred to date and
the budgeted cost is primarily based on the construction
budget and actual cost report prepared by internal quantity
surveyors, where applicable. The corresponding revenue
from contract work is also estimated by management
based on the progress and budgeted revenue. Because
of the nature of the activities undertaken in construction
contracts, the date at which the contract activity is entered
into and the date when the activity is completed usually
fall into different accounting periods. The Group regularly
reviews and revises the estimation of both contract
revenue and contract cost in the budget prepared for each
construction contract as the contract progresses.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., EESH{EFTRAE =)
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continved)

(i) Estimation of foreseeable losses in

(i) FAREIRETHERER

respect of construction works

Management estimates the amount of foreseeable
losses of construction works based on management
budgets prepared for the construction works. Budgeted
construction income is determined in accordance with
the terms set out in the relevant contracts. Budgeted
construction costs which mainly comprise subcontracting
charges and costs of materials are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major contractors/suppliers/vendors
involved and experience of management. A foreseeable
loss is resulted from a contract in which the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed
the economic benefits expected to be received under it.
In order to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date,
management conducts periodic review on the management
budgets by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual
amounts incurred.

(iii) Impairment of assets

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group regularly reviews whether there are any
indications of impairment and recognises an impairment
loss if the carrying amount of an asset is lower than its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amounts have been
determined based on the higher of the fair value less costs
to sell and value in use calculations.

In determining the value in use, the Group assesses the
present value of the estimated future cash flows expected
to arise from the continuing use of the asset and from its
disposal at the end of its useful life.

Estimates and judgements are applied in determining
these future cash flows and the discount rate. The
Group estimates the future cash flows based on certain
assumptions, such as market competition and development
and the expected growth in business.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)
(iv) Income and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain.

The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred
income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

The recognition of deferred tax assets is based upon
whether it is more likely than not that sufficient and
suitable taxable profits will be available in the future
against which the reversal of temporary differences can
be deducted. To determine the future taxable profits,
reference is made to the latest available profit forecasts
and relevant tax law is considered to determine the
availability of the losses to offset against the future taxable
profits.

4, EESTHETRHAE 2

(iv) Fr 5 Bt & 4B E Bl 17
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4., EESH{EFTRAE =)
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continved)

(v) Impairment of receivables, contract

(v) BRRIE  SHNEEME

assets and amounts due from related
parties

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its receivables and
amounts due from related parties carried at amortised
cost and contract assets. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk. To make that assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information, that is available without
undue cost or effort, that is indicative of significant
increases in credit risk since initial recognition. Significant
estimates and judgements are required in determining the
probability-weighted amount that is not recoverable and
the forecast of future economic conditions.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the facade and general
contracting business and operating management business. The
Group’s revenue represents revenue from construction and
management contracts.

The Group has reclassified the reportable segments into two
operating segments, principally based on reportable business
units as well as the reporting organisation hierarchy, which are
determined as follows:

- Facade and General Contracting Works
- Operating Management

Operating management segment includes the Group’s urban
planning management and consultation services, engineering
consultancy services, thermoelectricity business, senior housing
services and funding to infrastructure projects.

The executive directors of the Company are the Group’s chief
operating decision-maker (“CODM"). The CODM assesses the
performance of the operating segments based on a measure of
adjusted profit or loss before interest and tax. This measurement
basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the
operating segments, if any, such as restructuring costs, legal
expenses and impairment of goodwill. The measurement also
excludes the effects of share-based payments and unrealised
gains/losses on financial instruments. Interest income and
expenses resulting from the central treasury function are not
allocated to segments.

The Group has restated certain comparative segment information
below to conform with the current year’s presentation
by combining “Facade Contracting Works” and “General
Contracting Works” to “Facade and General Contracting
Works”. In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the revised
basis of segment identification provides a more appropriate
presentation of the segment information.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. EXENRDHER =
INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment results for the years ended 31 December 2024 and H E2024F K2023F 128318 IEFEAZ
2023 are as follows: DEEE2FOT
Revenue Gross profit Segment result
E¥E EX DEWEE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023%F 2024 2023%F 2024 2023%F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT B¥Tr A¥Tx B%TT  A%Tx
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E71) (&51) (&51)
Facade and General ERERkEBRIRE
Contracting Works 7,223,863 7,718,645 861,536 883,069 781,635 815,350
Operating Management BEERE 877,831 947,120 105,414 89,994 55,779 31,951
Total i 8,101,694 8,665,765 966,950 973,063 837,414 847,301
Unallocated corporate ADBIZO%ER
expenses (54,377)  (133,208)
Other income and gains, net — E@MARMKE 58 15,933 18,077
Share of profit of an associate  fE{5 & A 7] &7l 34 69
Finance costs HHER (74,740)  (81,776)
Profit before tax BB A 724,264 650,463

Segment revenue of Facade and General Contracting Works
and Operating Management comprises revenue from Hong

Kong, Chinese Mainland and other region amounting to
HK$7,971,011,000 (2023: HK$8,222,106,000) and revenue from
North America region amounting to HK$130,683,000 (2023:

HK$443,659,000).

BEREARIRENELEERESNS I
X¥BXTEREBEERTREAM L HEMiME
KU A B8 #7,971,011,0007T (20234 ¢
7 #8,222,106,0007T) )R B b E i [E A
Ug A B 78 #130,683,0007T (20234 : B
443,659,0007T) °
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. EXBR T HER @
INFORMATION (Continued)
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows: REBARFLEEBBHOWNBT
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEE T T
Revenue from contracts with customers EPaRBA
Timing of revenue recognition W A HE R 1 s
- Over time —HEERENES 8,069,948 8,626,282
- At a point in time — 1 5 {5 i 26 27,670 32,904
8,097,618 8,659,186
Revenue from other source E A 2R A
— Interest income generated from —HEEBEHELEN
infrastructure projects FE KA 4,076 6,579
Total wEt 8,101,694 8,665,765
Amounts of administrative, selling and other operating expenses DEEEHERRETR HERAEMLE
included in the measurement of segment result: BRANT :

(Gain)/loss on disposal on

Depreciation of property, items of property, plant and

plant and equipment equipment
HENE BERRED

NE BERRERIE (Wz) B%
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023% 2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T BT BT

Facade and General EEkAB IR

Contracting Works 13,135 13,736 (10,961) -
Operating Management BEER 2,369 1,503 23 87
Total Bt 15,504 15,239 (10,938) 87
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5.
INFORMATION (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s financial position by territory is as
follows:

EEHENRDTEHER 2

AEB RIS WHBEARDFTAT

Addition to property,

Non-current assets* plant and equipment

ERBEE* RENE BERRE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 2023F 20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BET T

Hong Kong, Chinese Mainland &8 * R B A & E Al
and Others 1,414,866 1,463,689 64,898 70,930
North America biES 401,579 485,108 486 6,906
Total Fhy 1,816,445 1,948,797 65,384 77,836
* Other than deferred tax assets and interests in infrastructure

project investments.

Segment assets and liabilities

No assets and liabilities are included in the measurements of
the Group's segment reporting that are used by the CODM for
performance assessment and resource allocation. Accordingly,
no segment assets and liabilities are presented.

Major customer information

Revenue from one major customer in Facade and General
Contracting Works each contributed revenue for more than 10
per cent of the Group’s total revenue for the year is set out
below (2023: two major customers in Facade Contracting Works
each contributed revenue more than 10 per cent of the Group's
total revenue).

* TEEREHRBREENEZHEBRER

THEERAER
TEMERREFERRRARS B
IAEESBWE ZHEHE L RBHE
EEREM B AEELMEHHE
BERAMR-

BEXEFEHR
IHEBEFEFRNLEEEI0%L A B — R E
BEEMABTENEATFNE XEHT
R (2023F - MEKXREBERBERIERF
HEEEEEBIBI0%) °

2024 2023

202445 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Customer A BPA N/A* T3 A * 1,217,653
Customer B =FB N/A* & f* 1,086,033
Customer C BAC 2,864,481 N/A* 738 Fi *

* Less than 10% of the Group's revenue in the respective year.

* EREEEFHANI0% -

175



176

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited " EIZ £ R X K@M ER AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre RS R M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. Httlt AR zm  F5E
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank interest income RATH B WA 3,580 4,246
Exchange gain, net e H Iz - 558 13,578 11,304
Insurance claim received R EEE 3,158 159
Rental income e WA 698 1,562
Gain on fair value changes of investment REMERRBEZESH KA
properties - 79
Reversal of provision of trade and other B 5 N H th e WK B
receivables FTiREE - 9,531
Government grants* I8 6 B 2,689 9,917
Gain on disposal on items of property, plant HE®WE - BE &
and equipment Bl 10,938 -
Sundry income MU A 7.514 10,161
Total other income and gains, net HA RIS - FEEERT 42,155 46,959
* Subsidies have been received from government authorities * REXGEMRELEEREREZEERTK

upon fulfilling certain emissions requirements by the
thermoelectricity business. There were no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies relating to these grants.

FE R B - N FERELLHEI SR
FRHO AR B OV IRIF R B F IR -



7. EXPENSES BY NATURE
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7. RUEEE D 2R

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BETT BET T
Profit for the year has been arrived at after AEFFBMB(GTA)
charging/(crediting): T3 &E :
Costs of sales EERK
Costs of contracting works performed AP TR 6,562,497 7,047,575
Costs of service rendered and supply of heat, RAERERGER - ZAMENHE
steam and electricity & R AR 551,534 620,327
Warranty provisions, net RE#E FE 20,713 24,800
7,134,744 7,692,702
Administrative, selling and other operating TH HERHEMKEER
expenses
Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments: BINA  BREESHE :
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e AR 1,147,736 1,140,943
Retirement benefits scheme contributions* RURIEFIT &4 50~ 97,984 97,581
Less: Amounts included in costs of sales B REEEEREA SR (1,111,042) (1,103,525)
134,678 134,999
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, mE - -BMEREEITE
excluding right-of-use assets FREEE ZMERIN 137,465 128,339
Less: Amounts included in costs of sales B EEEEERA SR (130,230) (120,781)
7,235 7,558
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREBEZHNE 43,491 28,857
Less: Amounts included in costs of sales B BEEEEERNAZEE (35,222) (21,176)
8,269 7,681
Expenses relating to short-term leases RHEERY 14,620 12,669
Less: Amounts included in costs of sales B EBEEEENR LSRR (13,558) (11,901)
1,062 768
Auditor’s remuneration %S AN BN &
Audit services ZERTE 2,982 3,245
Non-audit services FERERY 323 297
Subtotal et 3,305 3,542
Provision of trade and other receivables B 5 I H e R - 1,124
Impairment of goodwill EERE - 87,649
Loss on disposal on items of property, plant and HEWME  BERSENEE
equipment - 87
Others Hith 55,586 44,444
Total Et 210,135 287,852
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7. EXPENSES BY NATURE (continuea)

Note:

* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by *
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions.

8. FINANCE COSTS

7. BHEE S 2B @

B 5t

8. MBEH

I EAE R R HERAEAEEERR
TRARMRERHREE -

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Interest on bank borrowings RITE KA B 69,965 80,220
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE 4,775 1,556
Total #Et 74,740 81,776

A

9. INCOME TAX CHARGE 9. FTIEHMEHR
(@) The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated (a) THEHmAEWTZRFAZHESBNOT !
income statement represents:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Current tax — Hong Kong profits tax REARRIE — BB RIS

Provision for the year FNGFTR 66,745 38,705
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERIR (103) (211)
66,642 38,494

Current tax — Chinese Mainland and N BB IE — AR B 9t J2 3R N

overseas

Provision for the year FNGFHR 13,463 52,110
Deferred tax EAERIE 280 (12,371)
Income tax charge for the year FAMNEHER 80,385 78,233




INCOME TAX CHARGE (continuea)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

The tax charge on estimated assessable profits elsewhere has
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices.

Certain of the Group’s subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland were
approved as new and high technology enterprises pursuant to
which the Chinese Mainland subsidiaries can enjoy a preferential
income tax rate of 15% effective from 2021 to 2026. The
income tax rate of most of the Group’s remaining subsidiaries in
the Chinese Mainland is 25%.

The income tax rates of the Group’s overseas subsidiaries range
from 12% to 28%.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit (b)
before tax per the consolidated income statement as

follows:

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 F 3R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRe MRS R MY AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

9. FISHER®
BEUUL AR AE - B RIS BT A R O f B R
B IR B R 16.5%5HH o

HA bR 2 5 R BRI R Ty A &
BEXBMERFX2ERNRE  REZHZ
BATED - B REGE -

SEZBOBENBHBELRELERS
M eE Bt ZPEREHE QR
H2021F £2026F Al 2 B15% 2 B EAE
WAL o E Ao K 7B 40 B A 3t P 8 X R AR
SR EH25% °

KEZBIMBARMESHRBEN F12%
£28% °

REFHHRE A ARIELGS 2E U
FERRBADEFEITHRAWT ¢

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Profit before tax T4 A1 724,264 650,463
Taxation at Hong Kong profits tax rate REBNESHRB X
at 16.5% 16.5% T E M IE 119,504 107,326
Effect of different taxation rates in other ~ HMER G2 E &R
countries/jurisdictions TRRERNFE (48,902) (47,761)
Income not subject to taxation BARB WA (6,855) (7,770)
Expenses not deductible for taxation Eik: 0]
purposes 1,915 13,366
Temporary differences not recognised ARG RFIEERE 858 (684)
Tax losses not recognised RERBIEEE 16,253 17,742
Tax losses utilised from previous periods WTEFEBEARIEES (2,285) (3,775)
Over provision in prior years B FEBEEE (103) (211)
Income tax charge MEMER 80,385 78,233
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10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF

DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

The remuneration of each director and the chief executive

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

10. EERENER
(a) ESRITHAR T M

HZE2024F12A318 L EE

BREERTRAZNVEHET

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as

a director whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FRES(FERADAFHFAALE) RERBEAIARERDHE

Employer's
contribution
Salaries and Discretionary  to benefit

Fees  allowances bonuses schemes Total

Rk

EREN
He HEREW BiEke EXHR EH)
Name ek HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BETT BT BT
Zhang Haipeng xigE - - - - -
Wu Mingging (Note i) KRB (M) - 750 - 1 761
Zhu Haiming (Note ii) B8R (P - 613 740 9 1,362
Wang Hai (Note iii) T8 (Wit axii) - 543 386 - 929
Wong Man Cheung TEE - 3,092 926 18 4,036
Huang Jiang 'L - - - - -
Zhou Jinsong BRI 280 - - - 280
Chan Man Ki Maggie e 250 - - - 250
Zhang Xinyu RMF 250 - - - 250
Total ast 780 4,998 2,052 38 7,868
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10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

10. EEMNRNZNER

(a) EERTHEARETFMHN =

HZE2023F12A31R L5 E

Emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as
a director whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

FREE(MERADAZEFAALE) RERBAX A RERNBHE

Employer's

contribution

Salaries and  Discretionary to benefit
Fees allowances bonuses schemes Total

RIRENE 2
e HekEM hiE®e WEFER @5t
Name e HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETL  BBTR  BETR  BETRE  BETR
Zhang Haipeng RiElE - - - - -
Wu Mingging REE - 1,913 2,574 18 4,505
Wang Hai R - 1,850 1,867 - 3,717
Wong Man Cheung TEH - 3,261 698 18 3,977
Huang Jiang &L - - - - -
Zhou Jinsong EEIEN 280 - - - 280
Chan Man Ki Maggie =3t 250 - - - 250
Zhang Xinyu RMF 250 - = - 250
Total @& 780 7,024 5,139 36 12,979

Notes: B Er

Wu Mingging resigned as an executive director of the

Company on 1 August 2024.

ii Zhu Haiming was appointed as an executive director of

the Company on 1 June 2024.

i REABR2024F8 1 H BT AR
AIBITEE °

ii KEAR204F6 1B EEZ T A
RNBHITES ©

ili Wang Hai resigned as an executive director of the iii F i R2024%E5 8310 B {E A& A

Company on 31 May 2024.

AMITES -

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts NEFNKELER  AQF W EET
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company s RAEE Y XBHARAT Y E
was a party and in which a director of the Company had EE SRR TS A
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted FELE - RHHAR -

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 10. EEN N EMNER )

DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERITHREARTM »
emoluments (continued)
Five highest paid individuals U= EFHMA L
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during REARN - RNEBRUGZRFHALTE
the year included one (2023: three) directors whose FE—fL (20234 : ={1) == %
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. B E 5 Ealt o A7 A Bk o gR T AL
The emoluments of the remaining four (2023: two) (2023%F : Zfi1) AL ZHBNEFI T -

individuals are set out below:

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Basic salaries and allowances HAFH ¢ KERL 6,852 1,954
Discretionary bonuses [SREREEAN 3,463 5,270
Retirement benefit scheme contributions ROKAE FIFT B R 304 18
Total gt 10,619 7,242
(b) The emoluments fell within the (b) BNEBR TH&EE :
following bands:
2024 2023
20244 20234
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHE EEEE
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 712,000,001 T E B
2,500,0007T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 7B #2,500,001 70 & B HE
3,000,0007T 3 -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 713,000,001 T E B
3,500,0007T = 1
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 T E B
4,000,000 T = 1
Total BEr 4 2
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FR - AEEHERAEANESSIES
to any of the directors or the highest paid individuals as B A - 32 A5 17D 5 BN 4 A B ED EL n
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as BAEEYMARE B 2 EE) S 1E

compensation for loss of office. REBEBAEE -



11. SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments of the senior management (excluding directors

2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 F 3R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

and chief executive) for the years ended 31 December 2024 and

M. SREBEAEMS
HE2024F K2023F12B31H IEFE S H
BEEAB (ESMTHAHRKIN) 9Bl K

2023 were as follows: T
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Salaries and other benefits e REAmER 22,878 25,379
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes Bk 5t 24 5% 394 239
Total st 23,272 25,618

The emoluments of the senior management for the years ended

= ARE R A BRR2024F x2023F 124318 & B

31 December 2024 and 2023 were within the following bands: SBATER -

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
No. of No. of
employees employees
EE#A EE#HE

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7 #1,000,001 TE B
1,500,0007T 2 _

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 751,500,001 T BB
2,000,0007T 1 3

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 712,000,001 T E B
2,500,0007T 5 1

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2, 500,001 T BB
3,000,0007T 3 4

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 753,000,001 T E B
3,500,0007T - 1

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 753,500,001 T E B
4,000,0007T - 1
Total BET 11 10
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. R E
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$"000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interim dividend of HK7.0 cents per ordinary /1 Hi & % 3 58 A% A% 8.
share (2023: HK5.5 cents per ordinary PEHET7.01L (20234 -
share) BREBREES.5) 157,888 124,055
Proposed final dividend of HK2.8 cents per EEAARS  BREBER
ordinary share (2023: HK3.2 cents per 752 81l (20234 -
ordinary share) FRIE BB 210) 63,155 72,177
221,043 196,232
The final dividend proposed after 31 December 2024 was not 2024F 12 A3 1A B EZENHRBAR BT
recognised as a liability at 31 December 2024 and is subject 1E2024F12A3TEB WA E - BE A REIAR
to approval by shareholders in the forthcoming annual general SEEGFHEBEZRREFTFRLBB -
meeting.
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 8 R &
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RATIRREGERERNREETRF IR
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BATEEFE -
following:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Earnings &R
Profit attributable to owners of the Company, FTE &I ER K #EEF| 2 A
used in the basic and diluted earnings per NEIREELET
share calculation 650,253 580,420
‘000 ‘000
¥ B F A&
Number of shares BRHEHE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B SBREARBERF
used in basic and diluted earnings per share & i@ A% HO#E F 15
calculation 2,255,545 2,255,545
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREARKEERF CBIL)
(HK cents) 28.83 25.73
The Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares AAFHR2024F12A31B L FE8H BE

during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). EAKEEN @A (20234 - &) o
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - BMERZE

Heat and
electricity Furniture, Construction
land and  Leasehold Plant and supply fixtures and Motor in
buildings improvements  machinery facilities  equipment vehicles progress Total
REME GA EE
THREEY BENEEB W Rt HERRE RE ERIR s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETFT BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
Cost R
At 1 January 2023 #2023F1A/18 1,175,232 9,042 113,503 2,103,903 130,647 15,062 30,939 3,578,328
Exchange difference ERESR (10,254) (166) (2,777) (74,922) (2,265) (95) (65) (90,544)
Additions BE 2,506 197 20,310 895 17,809 3,135 32,984 77,836
Disposals HE - - - - (1,131) (1,085) - (2,216)
Transfers &y - - - 10,029 1,929 - (11,958) -
Transfer from right-of-use assets FEEEEEAN 36,531 - - - - - - 36,531
At 31 December 2023 and #2023%12A318 R
1 January 2024 202451 A18 1,204,015 9,073 131,036 2,039,905 146,989 17,017 51,900 3,599,935
Exchange difference ERER (57,607) (133) (2,538) (48,632) (3,553) (312) (2,735) (115,510)
Additions BE 15 - 2,207 672 12,083 1,886 48,521 65,384
Disposals & (37,716) (5,525) (31,808) - (10,921) (516) - (86,486)
Transfers 74 - - - 22,616 7874 - (30,490) -
At 31 December 2024 720244124318 1,108,707 3,415 98,897 2,014,561 152,472 18,075 67,196 3,463,323
Accumulated depreciation ZHFERAE
At 1 January 2023 W2023F1818 335,528 6,075 59,667 1,288,303 80,889 12,431 - 1,782,893
Exchange difference ERES (9,198) (90) (1,184) (26,777) (1,366) (255) - (38,870)
Charge for the year rEEER 37,596 845 9,212 59,592 19,966 1,128 - 128,339
Disposals HE - - - - (1,087) (1,036) - (2,123)
Transfer from right-of-use assets FHEESEEA 6,287 - - - - - - 6,287
At 31 December 2023 and 2023128318 K
1 January 2024 202451818 370,213 6,830 67,695 1,321,118 98,402 12,268 - 1,876,526
Exchange difference ERESR (10,573) (90) (3,265) (32,396) (2,380) (210) - (48,914)
Charge for the year rEFER 36,050 633 9,828 71,017 18,620 1317 - 137,465
Disposals HE (6,794) (5,525) (31,480) - (10,825) (507) - (55,131)
At 31 December 2024 720245124318 388,896 1,848 42,778 1,359,739 103,817 12,868 - 1,909,946
Net book value as at REFER
At 31 December 2024 2024E12A31H 719,811 1,567 56,119 654,822 48,655 5,207 67,196 1,553,377
At 31 December 2023 2023124318 833,802 2,243 63,341 718,787 48,587 4,749 51,900 1,723,409
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. % - BMEREZHE @

(Continued)
An analysis of the cost of the Group’s land and buildings is as REB T REEY ZKADFTHOT -
follows:
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Located in: I
Hong Kong BB 50,645 50,645
Chinese Mainland FRE A 654,546 671,154
Canada, freehold mEXR - kAR 403,516 445,258
United States of America EJE - 36,958
1,108,707 1,204,015

As at 31 December 2024, certain land and buildings of the
Group situated in Chinese Mainland, with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$73,592,000 (31 December 2023:
HK$67,207,000), did not have the property certificates registered
under the name of a subsidiary of the Group.

In the opinion of the Company's directors, the risk of the Group
not being able to obtain the legal titles for the relevant land
and buildings is low and the Group will continue the ownership
registration of the land and buildings.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s land and buildings of
HK$14,735,000 were mortgaged to secure the Group’s banking
facilities of HK$10,052,000) (note 24).

MR2024F 128318 AEEBEURPEHRK
AR TR EEYNRREGE RS
73,592,0007T (20234 : & #67,207,000
L) RBUEZENB AR ARTMAY
ESCEE

RAEERR AEEEBELESEH LI
MEEYMNEBIEMARNEARR ) - KE
B EEE TR A RETE
o

R2023F 128318 L N EEYEREEE
& #14,735,000 AEE B Z RITEER
#10,052,0007T (Ff5E24) -



15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
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15. R EWHE

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Carrying amount at beginning of year FHERmMER 18,943 18,864
Net gain from a fair value adjustment N EERAENFRS - 79
Carrying amount at end of year FREMER 18,943 18,943

The Group’s investment properties consist of four office
properties in Chinese Mainland. The directors of the Company
have determined that the investment properties consist of one
class of asset, i.e., office, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group’s investment properties
were revalued on 31 December 2024 based on valuations
performed by Roma Appraisals Limited, a firm of independent
professionally qualified valuers, at HK$18,943,000. Each year,
management of the Group decides to appoint which external
valuer to be responsible for the external valuations of the
Group's properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards
are maintained. The Group’s senior personnel from the finance
department reviews the valuations performed by the external
valuer for financial reporting purposes and reports directly
to senior management. Discussions of valuation processes,
assumptions and results are held between the Group’s finance
personnel and the external valuer when the valuations are
performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further details of which are included in note 16
to the financial statements.

AEENEEMEDFEOEC R E A
NBTFEME - ARAIEEERETEY
EOME FEHEEBREEREYWEH—
HMEEMANK BRAZE - REBWNREY
EN2024F12A31MHIREBEBLEXSER
HEMARZSEETEARAAMETH
HEEEAE18,943,0000T - HF * A%
HEBERAELZEISEHEMBELAER
IR INBEE - BREEBET S MM
BE2 BUUENEEREEXERE - K&
B BN ERAERNBEREENE
BN EMETHEE  LEER SR
EREERE RFEMBMEETEHER
REBEGBEABHEHINGHEMEGFEHE
BF BREEERETTW -

BREMERBREHEERERE =71
BERN M BHRRMEI6 -

3}&
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continuea)
Fair value hierarchy

The recurring fair value measurement for all the office properties
of the Group uses significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) and
details of their movements are disclosed below.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

15. REWZE =)

ARAEBEEZER
REBFMBRAMENKLEERAALBES
EEAERTIERE AME(F3R)  HE
P ERELT -

AEERBERNABEABEE EARE
F_ERZEAMEARELE =R (2023
FE) -

AREBEEREIRD BN AN BETER
e

Ep -

Office

properties

MRNEYE

HK$'000

BT T

Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 2023F 1A 1BREEE 18,864
Net gain from a fair value adjustment AREEAERNFNS 79
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 2023F12A31BREEE 18,943
Carrying amount at 1 January 2024 2024 F 1 A1BREEE 18,943
Net gain from a fair value adjustment AREEFAERNF NS -
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024 2024F12 A3 B REEE 18,943

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

T XA B ERN R EDEMLER
TEHARE:

Significant
Valuation technique unobservable input Range 2024 Range 2023
i (B 5 i EENTIERENE A & E20245 &1 [E2023F
Office properties Direct comparison method Price per square foot HK$2,777 to HK$2,906 to
HK$3,161 HK$3,100
MAEYHE BEELEE BERRERMER  BE¥LITIRE  BE2,906TE

The valuations of investment properties were based on direct
comparison method by reference to comparable market
transactions.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the price per square foot in
isolation would result in a significantly higher/(lower) fair value
of the investment properties.

B ¥3,161 7T B3 1007T

REUEHENGERBERLEE 2
ZALLBTIHR SN

BYHFRREBOEBREL N ORD)
SEHREMEND R EBEBRZE N O
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16. LEASES
The Group as a lessee

(@) Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

16. A

REBER/EEA
() HATBRAKRTERNETE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Prepaid land lease payment* TEf AR E R 131,801 139,729
Buildings Y 103,319 57,747
235,120 197,476
Lease liabilities HEEE
Analysed into: DT
Repayable: fEE -
Within one year —F A 29,258 21,627
In the second year F_F 29,046 11,493
In the third to fifth year FE=FEFRF 38,919 12,273
Over five year HEFUE 9,520 13,659
106,743 59,052
Less: Non-current portion B FEmBER S (77,485) (37,425)
Current portion BN EB > 29,258 21,627

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 December 2024 were HK$86,767,000 (2023:
HK$36,957,000).

* The Group has land lease arrangement with Chinese
Mainland government.

HZE2024F 128318 IEFERE A
& EE N A ¥86,767,0007T (2023
£ 1 B 136,957,0007T) ©

* SEEPBEAMEBNE LINEE
ZHE o
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16. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated income
statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following

16. & =)

AEBEAEABEAN#
(b) #reaWmRFPERNESEE

FaWRaXRBRIATEHEFHENS

amounts relating to lease: L
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FRAREENITES
assets
Prepaid land lease payment TERT T A E K 4,698 4,547
Buildings BZEY 38,793 24,310
43,491 28,857
Interest expense (included in finance cost)  F| B3
(BREEMBEAG) 4,775 1,556
Expenses relating to short-term leases HEHHEEEMNER
(included in cost of sales and (BIBEEEERATITE -
administrative, selling and other HERHEMBEEERT)
operating expenses) 14,620 12,669
19,395 14,225

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31
December 2024 was approximately HK$56,811,000 (2023:
HK$39,430,000).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these are
accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and vehicles.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 2
to 10 years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor.

HZE2024F12A31BIEtFEMRE
IR &7 485 A B %56,811,0007T
(20234 : #1#39,430,0007T) °

AEEMHEE
B AE
$EIEEXE%&
#oMEARBE AR
HARR o

SR AN E R

T REME
22105 1 B

B 6 TR AR & (B RIS R % 78 R E
o EEP@E. & 1E R A 16 FRORN 16
HF-BTHEAASAENHEEEETHN

ERER > BEHRTHEINERE
AIE -
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fRe MRS R MY AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

16. & =)

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its properties consisting of four (2023: four)
office properties in Chinese Mainland under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was HK$423,000 (2023:
HK$1,562,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the
financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivables by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

AEBEEALHBEA
AREERELCLEHETHREEMNRTEH
A e PO EE (20234 : M) PAEWE -
HOBKKR—BERBALINRES A%
BFANERNES WA BBEA423,0005T
(20234 : B #1,562,0007T) © 515 &N B
E KM 56 o

R2024F 128318 - AEEBEBEFE R K
HRRBE AR EHE KR
BREEMTOT

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Within one year —F RN 308 427
After one year but within two years —FREMFR 370 -
After two years but within three years MEREBE=FNR 370 -
Total Bt 1,048 427
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17. INTERESTS IN INFRASTRUCTURE

PROJECT INVESTMENTS

17. E2EERERER

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Interests in infrastructure project investments EEIE B R & 13,705 39,969
Less: Portion due within one year included in & : —FRE| BT AR EE

current assets k=it (13,705) (26,190)

Portion due after one year —F 1R B - 13,779

On 7 January 2019, the Group acquired 100% of equity interests
in and shareholder’s loan to Fuller Sky Enterprises Limited (“Fuller
Sky”) and Value Idea Investments Limited (“Value Idea”) from
Ever Power Group Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CSC at
a total consideration of HK$295,000,000.

Interests in infrastructure project investments represent funding
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB") for infrastructure projects
located in Chinese Mainland. The Group is responsible to
provide finance for the construction of the infrastructure of
these projects, whereby the Group’s return is predetermined in
accordance with the provisions of the relevant agreements.

The infrastructure project investments have a yield of 10.2%
(2023: 10.2%) per annum. The interests in infrastructure project
investments were not past due as at 31 December 2024.

The directors of the Company reviewed individually the
infrastructure projects’ operations and financial positions as at
31 December 2024 based on the present values of estimated
future cash flows from those investments, discounted at their
respective original effective interest rates.

R2019F 170 - AEE WP EZERHEFEH 2
& [t B A FEver Power Group Limited & 7 & X
rEAR AR ([EX]) RValue Idea Investments
Limited (['Value Idea ) #)100% A% # & iR R E 3K
48 &% 295,000,0007T °

HEFAAREERAK TEREBNWBERR (A
ARBIIR)  ZEERBEAUNTEAM - K
SEHEERAREZEANEZERTEES WA
SENEHRGRBEABEHRNGHRBLEE -

AEEEAERENKRESEREF HE10.2% (20234F :
10.2% ) - L E2024F12A318 EFHEHEKE
B RE A M AR B B o

ARIEERBEELEENGIALRBRERENE
B NESENRABEBRIENER  BBEET
R2024F12A31HEZEBEEB FEL MBI EARR
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18. SUBSIDIARIES 18. i B~ A

Information about subsidiaries B B8 2 &) &

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: FEMBRARINFENAT :

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation/ Issued and paid up capital Percentage of ownership interest  Principal activities

registration and operation
WELRATHE EfRL/ BRREERYE BETRAREA BERESL IRER
2024 2023
2024% 2023F

China Overseas Public Utility British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Investment Limited

REENAREREER EBRERARES TREEIETHLER 100% 100% #EERENLRR
NS

Far East Facade Investments  British Virgin Islands 10,000 ordinary share of 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited US$1 each

Far East Facade Investments HE#BARES 10,000 &R EE 100% 100% HEER
Limited 1ETH L Bk

Far East Facade (UAE) British Virgin Islands 10,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited US$1 each

Far East Facade (UAE) EEERRES 10,000 B R A E 100% 100% REER
Limited (EFlok:3its

Far East Global Group British Virgin Islands/ 6,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong US$1 each

BREREEERAF EBRBRER/BE 6,000 B F 1R TTH) & 100% 100% REAER

BB

FEA Investments Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding

FEA Investments Limited ~ EBHEREE RAEBIETNE R 100% 100% IR EER

Fuller Sky Enterprises British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited

ERLEARAT ERERRES TRAEIETH SRR 100% 100% REAER

Netfortune Enterprise British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited

TEREERAT RERRRES TRAEIETH SRR 100% 100% REER

Value Idea Investments British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited

Value Idea Investments EREARKEE TREEIZETHEER 100% 100% REER

Limited
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18. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18. f{ B A &) (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) B B8 2 B & ¥t a)
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation/ Issued and paid up capital Percentage of ownership interest  Principal activities
registration and operation
)N R FRL/ BRkEERYE BETRAREE BERADL TEER
2024 2023
2024% 2023F
Venture Synergy Limited British Virgin Islands 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Venture Synergy Limited ~ HBAAREE 1RAEIETHLER 100% 100% HEER
Willbert Limited British Virgin Islands/ 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% 100% Property holding
Hong Kong
Willbert Limited ABABREE/BE REEIETHLER 100% 100% HEME
Better View Investment Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100% 100% Property holding
Limited
MAREARLA B AREBIR(ER2T) 100% 100% #HBNF
China Construction Think  Hong Kong 1,000,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Consultancy service
Tank Limited of HK$1,000,000
PREBARAT B0 1,000,000 & & & 100% 100% #:RH%
(77%1,000,0007T)
China State Development  Hong Kong 5,000,000 ordinary shares 100% 100% Investment holding
Holdings Limited of HK$5,000,000
PREXEEERAA B0 5,000,000 & 7 f& 100% 100% &AER
(7%7%5,000,0007T)
Far East Aluminium Works ~ Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100% 100% Construction maintenance
Company Limited work
BREGIRERATA B0 UREBIR (B2 100% 100% #ETiE
Far East Aluminium Works ~ Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100% 100% Property holding
(Guangzhou) Company
Limited
EREETIR(EM)BR EE ARE B (B%27T) 100% 100% #HBME
A7)
Far East Facade (Hong Hong Kong 900,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Design, manufacture and
Kong) Limited HK$188,952,242 installation of curtain
5,000 non-voting walls, aluminium windows
deferred shares of and other related
HK$500,000 products
BREE(BE)BERRA  BA 900,0000% & i i (75 100% 100% et BERZERE i
188,952,24271) EREMAEER

5,000/ BRZR R
&1 (7% #500,0007T)
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18. f{ B A &) (&)
= RNGIR =¢S5 )

Percentage of ownership interest

18. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation/ Issued and paid up capital Principal activities

registration and operation

)N R ARy BRREBNE BETRMRRA BERADL TEER
2024 2023
2024% 2023%
FEA Corporate Services Hong Kong 2 ordinary shares of HK$2 100% 100% Provision of company
Limited secretarial services to
Group companies
FEA Corporate Services BE AMpEBR (BT 100% 100% MAEEKERFARELT
Limited WERB
Heng Fai International Hong Kong 1 ordinary share of HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited
Heng Fai International B TRE@k (B%1T) 100% 100% $REZRK
Limited
Netfortune Limited Hong Kong 500,000 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
HK$500,000
NEER LA B0 500,000 & @it (8% 100% 100% REER
500,0007%)
Treasure Construction Hong Kong 150,000,000 100% 100% Building constructions
Engineering Limited ordinary shares of
HK$150,000,000
BRRETRERAH B0 150,000,000 & &k (A% 100% 100% BFEE
150,000,0007L.)
MEEENE(HE)ER  The People’s Republic of  Registered capital of 100% 100% Investment holding
NG China RMB200,000,000
PREZREZ(NE)ER PEARANE HMERARK 100% 100% RAER
NG 200,000,0007T
BEERNEZLETRER The People's Republic of  Registered capital of 100% 100% Consultancy and
NG China RMB50,000,000 construction service
WHERNERETRAR REARANE FMERARS 100% 100% & RELRS
NI 50,000,0007C
BRER(AR) The People’s Republic of ~ Registered capital of 100% 100% Design service
BRAR China RMB10,000,000
BRBR(AER) hEARLNE HMERARK 100% 100% R& MR
BRAREY 10,000,0007
REERERAR The People’s Republic of ~ Registered capital of 100% 100% Provision of project
China RMB50,000,000 consultancy service
PEERARAFY mEARLNE AMERARK 100% 100% REIREERHS

50,000,0007t
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18. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation/

registration and operation

Issued and paid up capital

18. f{ B A &) (&)
= RNGIR =¢S5 )

Percentage of ownership interest

Principal activities

LilpNT RS ARy BRREBNE BETRMRRA BERADL TEER
2024 2023
20245 2023%
REEMHE The People’s Republic of ~ Registered capital of 100% 100% Generation and supply of
BRARO® China RMB680,660,000 heat and electricity and
investment holding
BEERAE mEARLNE AMERARK 100% 100% HERENMEERBER
BRRFME 680,660,0007T REER
B 2 N E RN The People’s Republic of  Registered capital of 100% 100% Trading of coal
BRRAY China RMB8,000,000
BGEGHRERENBRE REARLNE FMERARK 100% 100% ERES
aw 8,000,0007C
ERNEFRE(LE)BER  The People’s Republic of  Registered capital of 100% 100% Design, manufacture and
A7) (formerly known as  China RMB37,958,749 installation of curtain
FENERETIRER walls, aluminium windows
A0 and other related
products
RRNEEE(LB)ER HEARANE HERARME 100% 100% #Hit BERZEER - i
AR (R HEHEERE 37,958,7497C ERAMAEER
IRERAE)O
ERER(RY) The People’s Republic of ~ Registered capital of 100% 100% Manufacture of curtain
BBRAFM China HK$70,000,000 walls, aluminium windows
and other related
products
ERER (R mEARLNE AR 100% 100% HERR  BERAMIEH
BRAFD 7#70,000,0007T Em
BRER(KE) The People’s Republic of ~ Registered capital of 100% 100% Manufacture of curtain
BRAR China US$25,000,000 walls, aluminium windows
and other related
products
BRER(AE) REARLNE AMER 100% 100% BERR  BERAMIEHE
BRAF 25,000,000% 7T Em
ERARBR(ER)EMB  The People’s Republic of  Registered capital of 100% - Manufacture of building-
NG China RMB5,000,000 integrated photovoltaics
curtain walls and other
related products
BERARBE(ER) mEARLNE AMER 100% - BERRERRAMEREE
BRAFME AR #8,000,0007T m
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18. f{ B A &) (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) B B8 2 B & ¥t a)

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation/ Issued and paid up capital Percentage of ownership interest  Principal activities

registration and operation

LilpNT RS ARy BRREBNE BETRMRRA BERADL TEER

2024 2023
20245 2023%

FYFBTIREMERAFR The People's Republic of  Registered capital of 100% 100% Provision of engineering
(formerly known as 4l China RMB8,000,000 consultancy service
HEREIRERAR
NG

FYFBIREABRAR REARLME HERARS 100% 100% REBEIRHZARS
(FIERYhERELR 8,000,0007T
ERERAA)O

Far East Facade (Macau) Macau Registered capital of 100% 100% Installation of curtain walls,
Limited MOP25,000 aluminium windows and

other related products

BREMRORFM)BRAT AR & AR FI% 25,0007 100% 100% ZEERE  BERAMEER

Em

Far East Facade (Singapore)  Singapore 2,000,000 ordinary shares 100% - Design, manufacture and

Pte. Limited @ of SGD 1 each installation of curtain
walls, aluminium windows
and other related
products

Far East Facade (Singapore)  #7 i 2,000,0008% & R EE 15110 100% - W RERREER
Pte. Limited ® Vi y0k=F 1 BEREMBBER

Far East Aluminum Works ~ United States of America 200,000,000 of US$0.001 100% 100% Installation of curtain
(U.S.) Corporation each common stock walls,

aluminium windows and
other related products

Far Fast Aluminum Works 5 200,000,000k ) & @i & 100% 100% RERiE HEREGAR
(U.S.) Corporation BREE.001ETT Em

Far East Facade, Inc. United States of America 100,000 common shares of 100% 100% Installation of curtain walls,

US$0.01 each aluminium windows and
other related products

Far East Facade, Inc. e 100,0000 & R E £0.013% 100% 100% RERE HEREGAR

THERR Em
Gamma Buffalo, Inc. United States of America 1 share of US$1 100% 100% Property holding
Gamma Buffalo, Inc. %8 REEIETORS 100% 100% HEME
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18. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

18. f{ B A &) (&)
= RNGIR =¢S5 )

Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation/ Issued and paid up capital Percentage of ownership interest  Principal activities

registration and operation

LilpNT RS ARy BRREBNE BETRMRRA BERADL TEER

2024 2023
20245 2023%
Gamma North United States of America 7,060 shares of US$0.001 93.63% 93.63% Investment holding
America, Inc. each
Gamma North %H 7,0608% & R E E0.0015% T 93.63% 93.63% ®AEK
America, Inc. E0ldn)

Gamma North Corporation  United States of America 1 share of US$1 93.63% 93.63% Manufacture of curtain
walls, aluminium windows
and other related
products

Gamma North Corporation % REEIETHORS 93.63% 93.63% HERRE BERAMER
Em

Gamma USA, Inc. United States of America 1,000 shares of US$0.001 93.63% 93.63% Design, manufacture and

each installation of curtain
walls, aluminium windows
and other related
products

Gamma USA, Inc. e 1,000 &R EE0.001% T 93.63% 9363% Rl HERZEER ik

ik fn BRAMBRER

Gamma Windows and Walls  Canada 100 common shares of 93.63% 93.63% Design, manufacture and

International Inc. CAD53,362.36 each installation of each
curtain walls, aluminium
windows and other
related products

Gamma Windows and Walls  J1£X 1008 & R B E 0¥ 93.63% 93.63% Rit RERXERE 8

International Inc. 53,362.36TT A LB ERAMEBER

Hygate Development Corp.  Canada 100 common shares of 100% 100% Business development

CAD1 each
Hygate Development Corp.  M1Z X 1008 BREEMEITH 100% 100% ¥%5%RE

gl
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18. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. ff & 1 |l ()
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B B8 2 B & ¥t a)
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation/ Issued and paid up capital Percentage of ownership interest  Principal activities
registration and operation
)N R FRL/ BRkEERYE BETRAREE BERADL TEER
2024 2023
2024% 2023F
Hygate Investment Corp. ~ Canada 100 common shares of 100% 100% Investment holding
CAD100 each
Hygate Investment Corp. &KX 100k B8R EEMNK1007T 100% 100% &K
MERR
Hygate Management (Canada 100 common shares of 100% 100% Provision of management
Services Corp. CAD1 each service
Hygate Management nex 1000 SR BB 1T E 100% 100% EERB
Services Corp. Sl
Hygate Property Corp. Canada 100 common shares of 100% 100% Property holding
CAD1 each
Hygate Property Corp. mex 1008 BREEMEITH 100% 100% HENE
LRk
Far East Facade (UK) Limited United Kingdom 1 ordinary share of GBP1 100% 100% Design, manufacture and

installation of curtain
walls, aluminium windows
and other related

products
Far East Facade (UK) Limited 3 TREEIRENL R 100% 100% it BERTEER i
EREMBEER
World Eastern Cladding United Arab of Emirates 100 ordinary shares of 100% 100% Installation of curtain walls,
Works (LLC) AED3,000 each aluminium windows and
other related products
World Eastern Cladding M {AE & & RE 100/ % f 163,000/ B 2 100% 100% ZEEMRE  @BERAMER
Works (LLC) BN LB Em
Notes: Notes:
(1) Limited liability company registered in the PRC (1) HEFEEMOERETAR
(2)  Registered as Sino-foreign joint venture enterprise (2) HMAEFIMIEELE
(3)  Incorporated in 2024 (3)  FR2024EF KL
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the TR ESRAAHEBEENEERE
opinion of its directors, principally affect the results or assets of FENMB AR -

the Group.
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18. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(a) Material non-controlling interests

The negative non-controlling interest as at 31 December
2024 of HK$114,524,000 (2023: HK$105,956,000) is
mainly for Gamma Group within the North America
division.

Set out below is the summarised financial information for

18. M B 2~ | (#)
(a) EXFERES

20245128318 » & 58 FF 1= G4
=X ZRBRIEED B 2Gamma
Group ' Bz AE 114,524,000
70 (20234 : &%105,956,0007T) °

UNTREEEERFERERMBE

Gamma Group that has non-controlling interests that are BHEE -
material to the Group.
Summarised statement of financial position MBERARBE
Gamma Group
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Current B
Assets BE 565,329 635,173
Liabilities afE& (2,377,145) (2,315,249)
Total current net liabilities BRBBEE (1,811,816) (1,680,076)
Non-current ERE
Assets BE 13,159 15,924
Liabilities af& = -
Total non-current net assets BIEREBEE 13,159 15,924
Net liabilities FEE (1,798,657) (1,664,152)
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(a) Material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Summarised income statement

18. f{ B A &) (&)

(a) EXFIERESR 2

W kmE

Gamma Group

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T R
Revenue o 94,141 417,108
Loss before tax AT E 8 (99,972) (128,358)
Income tax charge MEHRE R (96) (216)
Other comprehensive income E 2 E ks (34,358) 13,720
Total comprehensive loss FHEERE (134,426) (114,854)
Total comprehensive loss allocated to R EREGEMEE
non-controlling interests E51E8 (8,568) (7,316)
Summarised cash flow REMERKE
Gamma Group
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Operating cash flows REBRSR
Cash (used in)/from operations K& (TR /B zHE (25,977) 89,141
Finance costs B A 324 3,165
Net cash (used in)/from operating activities #&&E&) (FTA), g2
We (25,653) 92,306
Net cash used in investing activities REEEMA RS T8 (11) (772)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBMA RS FE (10,052) (54,514)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ReRReEEY
equivalents CRA) /s hn 5 (35,716) 37,020
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of F#E & RIFESHEY
year 49,660 12,640
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FXKBEERIEESSEY 13,944 49,660
The information above is before inter-company LA =& 7 A B0 1T R A sR ¥T 45 AT ©

eliminations.
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19. INVENTORIES 19. B &
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Raw materials R 152,888 152,458

20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 20 EHNEERGHNER

LIABILITIES
The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract AEBEEHERIATHRARBHENEENRA LD
assets and contract liabilities: B1E
31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
20245 2023%F 20234
12A31H 12A31H 1A1H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
=3 BET T BT T BB T T
Contract assets related to HEEREEBN
construction services BREE (i) 5,411,269 4,571,635 3,998,389
Contract liabilities related to HEEREHBN
construction services EHNEE (352,552) (476,359) (376,150)
Contract liabilities related to HAEEBHBAN
thermoelectricity business EHEE (i) (967,944) (1,036,195) (1,124,753)
(1,320,496) (1,512,554) (1,500,903)
Less: Current portion o mEER D 797,470 921,081 839,819
Non-current portion SER B AL D (523,026) (591,473) (661,084)
Notes: Kiat -

() Contract assets related to the Group’s right to consideration (i) EEERBEMNANEERREBERIL

for construction work completed but yet to be certified by RAWE T EAMBERNSERBAME P YR
surveyors appointed by the customers as at the reporting date. HNEEMELANRAIRESHE GaNEES
Contract assets are transferred to receivables when the rights REBESRBLBEGRHEREIR -

become unconditional.

(i) Contract liabilities related to payments received in advance of (i) AHNBEHEETAN - RAKREAEEUN
the performance under supply of heat, steam and electricity BERRANRATBIMB N HRER -
and pipeline construction contracts.
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 20.
LIABILITIES (Continued)

The following table shows the amount of the revenue recognises
in the current reporting period which relates to contract liability
balance at the beginning of the year and the amount relating to
performance obligations that were satisfied in previous years:

EHEERENEBE®

TRETARENREMERNRFEINE
RAaGEfEFRITNEORBHEBN
WAZH :

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Revenue recognised that was included in the B EEFHNAREE
contract liability balance at the beginning R TR YA
of the year:
— Construction services —BERK 95,245 157,245
— Thermoelectricity business —HEEB 189,527 228,073
284,772 385,318
Revenue recognised from performance VAR BRI & 55
obligations satisfied/partially satisfied in HERAOEB
previous periods: FriER AU A -
— Construction services —BER® 325,075 257,647

The following table shows the amount of unsatisfied
performance obligations:

TERBTANABRNERTNEE -

2024 2023

20244F 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Expected to be recognised within one year BRI E—FRER 4,422,090 4,739,408
Expected to be recognised after one year TR E—FEER 3,662,511 3,788,342
Total contract assets AREEEET 8,084,601 8,527,750

For all other contracts with an original expected duration of one ¥R ¥IATEHFERK A — FR A THATE i
year or less or are billed based on time incurred, as permitted & #ISRIEE B I Hw &S EA F 1550 ] MR
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these IEZEABEMUBMNEE  DEEZEATARE
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed. HNEBHNEHANZHERRTHE -

203



204

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited FEI 2 EAEEBER LT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre RS R M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21. EZ R H AL UK

2024 2023

20244 20234

HKS$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Trade receivables H 5 RGN 1,027,706 1,081,267
Retention receivables JEU R E & 1,025,113 979,868
2,052,819 2,061,135

Less: Provision for impairment B R EEE (28,330) (28,721)
2,024,489 2,032,414

Other receivables Eo4th i sk 59,032 54,661
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E M EWK 2,083,521 2,087,075

The Group’s trade receivables mainly represent progress
billing receivables from facade contracting works and general
contracting works and construction contracts of thermoelectricity
business. The Group adopts credit policies which are
consistent with the trade practices prevalent in the building
industry in countries in which the Group has operations. The
Group recognises its trade receivables when the value of the
subcontract works is certified by the architect. Pursuant to the
trade practices, the main contractor from time to time makes
applications for payment certificates which include the certified
value of the nominated subcontract works.

Retention receivables represent certified contract payments in
respect of works performed, for which payments are withheld
by customers for retention purposes, and the amount retained is
withheld on each payment up to a maximum amount calculated
as a prescribed percentage of the contract sum. No ageing
analysis of retention receivables is presented as the retentions
are released to the Group pursuant to the provisions of the
relevant contracts after the completion of the projects.

Trade receivables include balances with related companies
amounting to approximately HK$908,329,000 (2023:
HK$1,016,707,000), which are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable in accordance with the terms of relevant agreements.

AEENESRE R EIBESRBIREMEAET
RERABXEBNTESORBCERZ N - NEH
RONGEERREAEBERBMAERRDOEE
TEERFMANEZED -2 - AEBRHET
REEEZEMABREIELE FREG - RIE
BHEN AR TRRELNREASNEE
EPaEREESBEIRNEZEEE-

FURESEEFECREBELIRNRESEANRE
HZHE - BEFREBRANFERNLRES &
SeRBRBEARSENEEAILAE -RIEH
MaRGEH REERAHRERE KRS HET
AEE  BWAR2IERRE S OIRE D

ZBORKREBECERBERANSHOBE
908,329,0007T (20234 : &% 1,016,707,000
L) BN EREET £ ERIREMEBTG
A RS RR
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1. EZREMERR @

(Continued)

The analysis of trade and other receivables, including the ageing
analysis of trade receivables, based on invoice date, and net of
provisions, is as follows:

B REMEWRZ (BEREEZE LD
BREBEHRELNE SRKZNER ST 5
Wramr

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT

Trade receivables: B 5 EGK
0 to 30 days T ZE30H 191,440 364,891
31 to 90 days 31290H 243,507 112,984
More than 90 days 90H LA 572,428 582,670
1,007,375 1,060,545
Retention receivables FEUW IR E & 1,017,114 971,869
2,024,489 2,032,414
Other receivables H 4th jE 5k 59,032 54,661
Trade and other receivables B 5 I E Ath JE R 2,083,521 2,087,075

Except for the receivables arising from construction contracts
which are billed and immediately payable in accordance with
the terms of the relevant agreement, the Group generally allows
an average credit period not exceeding 90 days (2023: 90 days)
to its customers and the retention receivables are repayable
approximately one year after the expiry of the defect liability
period of construction projects.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade and retention receivables. The Group
determines the provision for expected credit losses by grouping
together trade and other receivables with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assessing them for likelihood of
recovery, taking into account prevailing economic conditions. For
trade and other receivables relating to accounts which are long
overdue with significant amounts or known insolvencies or non-
response to collection activities, they are assessed individually for
impairment allowance.

BRIRARMERGIEREBHERERN
MRS REB—REH
THEHEPTZMI0A (20234 : 90H) 2 F
HEEH mMERRESRIEEERE
EAEHEREN —FANEE-

AEBEBEAMBWMELRFORMBX
YR E 5 IR RIA AT HI T8 B R 1R
BEEHEERR AKERBEKASR
BOUE B R R R B 5 R B R
Bl& A fE— ARG EE KRN -
I E E 2 E AT EBEA N - PAREE FEHE
EBEREAEE SRABSBENNE ARE
WS AR WFEBEHEEN K AREE
H REMEHKIAERFE - RIEBFERE
Bifh o
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21.

As at 31 December 2024, no trade and retention receivables
were impaired and fully provided (2023: No trade and retention

receivables were impaired and fully provided).

The individually impaired trade and retention receivables relate

to contracts under disputes with customers and are expected not
to be recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral or other

credit enhancements over these balances.

Movements of provision for impairment of the trade and

retention receivables are as follows:

ESRHEHMERF @

MR2024F12R831H R BEE S EWRAKIE
WiRE £ BRE @ W2 (2023F 38
EESRUFEERRECERE  LE
HEE) o

&R 2R EE 5 YR & W R B & 8
Rl EFPERAR - LM RE -
AEBEYERZSERTAEEAMERDK
EHEMEEF R 2L -

BHRRFLERRESOREREED

s

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 January R1A18 28,721 108,119
Impairment losses, net BERER - FE = 1,124
Amount written off as uncollectible FEWEmEENSE - (79,402)
Exchange differences N =5 (391) (1,120)
At 31 December M12A31H 28,330 28,721

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables

AEBESREMERFETREATIE

are denominated in the following currencies: WEETE -
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T R
Hong Kong dollar BT 695,485 671,531
Renminbi AR 1,059,291 932,644
United States dollar ET 53,476 59,274
Canadian dollar s 116,005 173,690
Macau Pataca JRPT 135,714 225,788
Great British Pound 7 23,355 24,074
United Arab Emirates Dirham o] B 2 2 4 4 74 74
Singapore dollar N T 121 -
Total wEt 2,083,521 2,087,075
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22.
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to trade
and retention receivables, as the Group has a large number of
customers.

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other receivables
approximate the fair values of these balances.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES

Balances with fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The balances are mainly denominated in
RMB.

The receivables from a fellow subsidiary in the amount of
HK$618,292,000 (2023: HK$633,273,000) was due from a
subsidiary of CSC in Chinese Mainland and the payables to a
fellow subsidiary in the amount of HK$724,679,000 (2023:
HK$724,679,000) was due to a subsidiary of CSC in Hong Kong
which are related to the acquisition of 100% interest in&[5 2
7 08 A R A 7)(“Shenyang Huanggu Company”) (details of the
transaction were disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 22
November 2019) and the amounts are included in amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries (being the onshore receivable as referred
to in the circular) and amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (being
the offshore amount due payable as referred to in the circular),
respectively.

The receivables from a fellow subsidiary in the amount of
HK$98,855,000 (2023: HK$101,251,000) was due from a
subsidiary of CSC in Chinese Mainland and the payables to a
fellow subsidiary in the amount of HK$243,796,000 (2023:
HK$243,796,000) was due to a subsidiary of CSC in Hong
Kong related to the acquisition of 100% interest in Value Idea
Investments Limited and Fuller Sky Enterprises Limited (details of
the transaction were disclosed in the Company’s circular dated
22 February 2019) and the amounts are included in amounts
due from fellow subsidiaries (being the onshore receivable) and
amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (being the offshore amount
due payable), respectively.

21.

22.

ESREMERIER®

MR AEEEBEAEEP, R YEGH
BoRKRALEERE S 2 ENEFEE
[\ -

AEEBESREMEBRA 2 FRERZSE
R ARERE -

W HEBRADARK

Y,/ NEBRARATDRELEEF £
BRIREREE - ZHRBUAREIR -

RERAR R EWRIEE618,292,0007T
(20234 : 5 #633,273,0007T) 2 JE Uz
HEAFEBERBERME—EHB R aH
KE RN G FENRIEE724,679,0007T
(20234 : #¥724,679,0007T) 2 FE - P
BEEBREEAN—MHEBAR  &ZRBE
RERKEEGEHAEFRAFA100%
B ([BHEEHARD (XZFEHNE
A2019F 1M A28 2 AR H) % 5/ 18
DRI BEEREI R AR R (BIE K ATig
KIS N ERE) RER RARQE K (Bl K
PRI MR SN 3R ©

KB RN A FEY A #98,855,0007T
(20234 : 5 #101,251,0007T) 2 fE U
B 3 SR B B AE R B A b ) — S B B R R A
RERANAE R EE#243,796,0007T
(20234 : ##243,796,0007T) 2 FE
BEBBEFEN BB ARG %RE
BRI EEValue Idea Investments Limited
REBREEBRAAMNI00%EZ (R
ISE N BH A2019F28228 2 A 88 1K
) ZRES BB EE KRR R (A
BN R RESRARQ R (BIEINE
W) o
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,—
23. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 23. RE RIBITHAEER

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BEE T T

Cash and bank balances Re MIRITRER 968,225 698,670
Time deposits FHF 14,280 14,280
Subtotal INEF 982,505 712,950
Less: Pledged deposits o B IR (5,108) (10,550)
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBHaEEYD 977,397 702,400
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following AEBEReRIBTHEES  RABNATIE

currencies: BEEtME -

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

BET T R T

Renminbi AR 648,052 486,178

Hong Kong dollar BT 210,909 141,681
Great British Pound 8 51,087 2,930
Australian dollar R 5,911 6,439
Canadian dollar hns 16,492 37,464
Macau Pataca R P 24,919 8,502
United States dollar ETT 5,964 14,849

United Arab Emirates Dirham ] B 2 36 4 45 15,183 14,891
Singapore dollar ronsg oo 3,974 -
Others H At 14 16
Cash and bank balances e RIRITHE 982,505 712,950
In respect of the cash balance denominated in RMB which RAEERTEIMONBEART ZARE
is held by the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, RIAME - B INE R IE A B 78 3 =<7
conversion into foreign currencies and remittance out of the PRC FRANEEHER LE SERMTEE

is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations BHE -

and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank RITIHSRIET B RITFRFELFEE A
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying EHREAE - RHAERFEROFRE—X
periods of between one day and three months depending on the ZZlATE SILAEENNKEREEFHE
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at ki E - WS B8R F TR ER
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances BAE - RITHESKREEREFREFRRE
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks B R WHEERGCEERRIT -

with no history of default.



24. BANK BORROWINGS
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24. BITER

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank loans, secured |ITEN - BER - 10,052
Bank loans, unsecured RITER - IR 1,580,948 1,177,932
1,580,948 1,187,984
The borrowings are repayable as follows: BERARTIFHEER
On demand or within one year JEERIN—FRNEE 583,341 789,513
In the second year RE-FEE - _
In the third to fifth years, inclusive RE=ZZFRFEE
(BIEEREMF) 997,607 398,471
1,580,948 1,187,984
Less: Current portion W mEE D (583,341) (789,513)
Non-current portion EMENE D 997,607 398,471

At 31 December 2023, HK$10,052,000 were secured by a
mortgage on the Group’s land and buildings of HK$14,735,000.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank borrowings are

denominated in the following currencies:

#2023F12A31H

7N &= [E E A 75 #14,735,00070 B £+ i 2 &

EWIERER -

AEBRTEFKREEATINE

* 5 %10,052,0007T JA

W EhoA -

Hong Kong Canadian

dollar Renminbi dollar Total

B ARY ¥ M

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BB T BB T
31 December 2024 20249128318

Bank loans RITER 1,377,607 203,341 - 1,580,948
31 December 2023 20234128318

Bank loans RITERK 1,177,932 - 10,052 1,187,984
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24. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The average bank loan interest rate at 31 December 2024 was
4.69% (2023: 5.19 %) per annum.

Most bank borrowings are arranged at floating rates, thus
exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings approximate the fair
value of these balances.

The secured bank loans include the bank loans with assets
pledged as security to the bank. The unsecured bank loans
include the bank loans with financial undertaking required to be
fulfilled by the Group.

The agreements governing the bank loans of the Group
contain conditions and events of default customary for such
financings. Certain bank loans amounting to HK$997,607,000
(31 December 2023: HK$398,471,000) which were classified as
non-current liabilities as at the end of the reporting period also
contain financial covenants including minimum consolidated
tangible net worth and debt-to-assets ratio requirements with
respective applicable test dates of each year until maturity. The
Group has complied (2023: complied) with the covenants under
the relevant facility agreements as at 31 December 2024.

24, SRITE R @)

R2024F12A31B 2 FHRITERFER R
554.69% (20234 : 5.19%) °

REDRITEFGLF B R E - Bt
AEEmHRRERENE AR

RITBERZEHERAZEEHRZAAER

Ao

BRERORTERBRRITER EEE
BERARBRITNER - BERORITERE
EEEFERTORITERKL S BIAGE

EEALSERTERODZESLERE
MESKRHEMENEH RBEHKR &
T 4 %8 &% 1997,607,0007T (2023512 A
318 : B #398,471,0007T) #® » B A IER
PEBEMNRTERNRETBERY 81
SREAGEF FEREEABRERUR
BFEZIHNSaEANABE E#E
2024512 A318 - AEBEBESF (20235 -
BEEF) HERE R T ARG -
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25. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 25.

AND ACCRUALS

The analysis of trade payables, other payables and accruals,
including the ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice

date, is as follows:

ESZENR HMUESRRK
FEstE& A

BIREMZ  EtEMNRRETER (B21E
BEFZAMHESENTOERRS T D
W -

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables: B SEMNR

0 to 30 days T E30H 2,138,321 2,232,915
31 to 90 days 31290H 750,160 225,915
More than 90 days 90H M k 338,724 512,250
3,227,205 2,971,080
Retention payables ERRER 370,390 368,789
3,597,595 3,339,869
Other payables and accruals EMENRNRETER 217,398 245,489

Trade payables, other payables and accruals ~— Z ZEF - EfbER K
Nt E B 3,814,993 3,585,358

As at 31 December 2024, the amount of retention payables
expected to be settled after more than twelve months was
approximately HK$330,203,000 (2023: HK$344,793,000).

MN20245F12A8310 - FEHBER121E A 14
BRI A FE R E & & 8 #330,203,0000T
(20234 : ##344,793,0007T) °
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25. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUALS (Continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables, other

payables and accruals are denominated in the following
currencies:

25. EZBANR  HtEAREK

FEstE R e
AEBESENS i ENREESE
P 7 ST B A T M 4

2024 2023
20244 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Hong Kong dollar BT 1,635,559 1,279,236
Renminbi AR 2,094,462 2,084,882
Canadian dollar il 31,061 52,176
United States dollar ETT 13,730 17,210
Macau Pataca JRPT 38,135 144,230
Great British Pound T gE 675 6,695
Singapore dollar s T 167 -
Others Hh 1,204 929
3,814,993 3,585,358

The carrying amounts of trade payables, other payables and
accruals approximate the fair value of these balances.

Movements of warranty provisions included in other payables
and accruals are as follows:

BHEMNR  EENRREFERZE
EEAZSFEHRZAAERE

REMENZEREAERP 2 RERESE
R

2024 2023

2024%F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

At 1 January ®1A1H 55,659 51,089
Addition Bl 21,486 24,800
Exchange differences PN =& - 237
Utilisation B A (15,607) (20,467)
At 31 December R12H31H 61,538 55,659

The Group provides warranties to its customers on facade
contracting works in accordance with terms and conditions as
stipulated in contracts, under which defective works are rectified
or replaced.

The amount of the warranty provision is estimated based
on the past experience of the level of defective works and
the estimation basis is regularly reviewed and revised where
appropriate, and is included in “other payables and accruals”.

REBRIE A R PTG AR 3h B R
TERAEFREARE Bt AREILRE

MAOKTFEEREE -

REBELHENIRBBALBEERRET
ZE D 2R EME - REFEETH T U
BEERNEERELETREERIFL M
BN EEERG -
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26. DEFERRED TAXATION 26. i FE B 1H
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and (assets) during the FARLEHRBEGR(EE)WAT
year are as follows:
Undistributed
earnings of
Chinese
Accelerated tax Contract Mainland
depreciation liabilities Provision subsidiaries Total
RAE R
HEARZ
MEHBRTE ANEE BB RO B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETT BETT EETT BETT

At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A1H 292 (99,374) (11,123) 3,228 (106,977)
Exchange difference EHERE - 3,162 354 958 4,474
Charged/(credited) to REERER
consolidated income /Gt A)
statement (note 9) (FEr9) 1 (8,304) 118 (4,186) (12,371)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F 128318
1 January 2024 20241 A18 293 (104,516) (10,651) - (114,874)
Exchange difference EXEE - 2,473 252 - 2,725
Charged/(credited) to NNt
consolidated income e/ (G A)
statement (note 9) (PtzE9) - 209 71 - 280
At 31 December 2024 20245128318 293 (101,834) (10,328) - (111,869)
The following is analysis of net deferred tax balances for HEREBRRAEZMS CBEEBIBLERF
statement of financial position purposes: EOMNWOT
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Deferred tax liabilities RERRIBEE 293 293
Deferred tax assets BERIBEE (112,162) (115,167)

(111,869) (114,874)
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26. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forward to the extent that the realisation of the related tax
benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. The
Group has unrecognised tax losses of HK$2,255,142,000 (2023:
HK$2,151,254,000) that are available for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose.
The expiry dates of these tax losses are subject to the tax rulings
of the respective jurisdictions, which is 20 years in Canada, one
to five years in Chinese Mainland and indefinitely in Hong Kong.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate
is 5% or 10% for the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax (2023: Nil) has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of
the Group’s subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland. In the
opinion of the Company’s directors, the rest of the unremitted
earnings will not be distributed by the Group’s subsidiaries in
the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in these subsidiaries in
Chinese Mainland for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised amounted to HK$1,185,582,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: HK$1,098,511,000).

26. ELERIE (=)

RS REENRATSAE 2 HIEER
WR - AR AR RERD i F #HRE
BHEEEAR ASEER RERTIE
B 48 75 #2,255,142,0007T (20234 : B 1
2,151,254,00070) - AJftE A EE A QA
HHARRIERBRF - ZEMIBEREEMN I
HABRSEREEBEENBBI RAME
e XEIEE HRR A204F 0 AR B A i B H7
BERABIZSF LA HABERAER
/HHO

R E2008F 1 A1 8 M RIE S B R i 5% 37
HIRBARFKENRE  AEBBEL
RINRBFTER - BEHEA5%510% °

MR2024F12R831H - AE B 2B REFEH
RSB B R R ETE M R Bk S /T8
M RERELER R (2023F : 8F) - A
RIBEERA EABRNER  Hipmx
EHWABTER A EENHBARDE -
M2024F 1283160 - 8118 & 1 H A b [ B
ARIBHAMNEREEZ MABRETHE
B E4A%E A5 11,185,582,0007T (20234 :
75 1#1,098,511,0007T) °
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27. SHARE CAPITAL

27. { A&

Issued and fully paid

ERTRAR
Number of Share capital
shares amount
RO EE BAEE
‘000 HK$'000
F A& BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREE0.0E L EBR
At 1 January 2023, R2023F1 818
1 January 2024 and M2024F1 18 &
31 December 2024 72024512 A31H 2,255,545 22,555
28. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES 28. f# &
(a) Group (a) A5 H
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements AEBENREEEMEHENGEE
therein are presented in the consolidated statement of HEBRP 2

changes in equity.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(i)

Share premium and retained profits

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the funds in the share premium and retained profits
of the Company are distributable to the shareholders
of the Company provided that immediately following
the date on which the dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations and an associate. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set out in
note 2.4 to the financial statements.

(b) ENEEREN

(i)

(ii)

A7 i (8 M AR B i A

RIERETERFE AR A
g BERREBEMNOESA
R NN 8 S ]
EREEFEDRKEAHE K
RAABRIEEELRBEE
BiBEPCIHANERS -

SINEE TE 5 1
INEERFRBERABERESR
INEBOMBHRRERBER
AR E LR INEZHE
ZRBEHRES B RKRHE2.4
FEMmEst HREE -
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28. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES
(Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(iii) Share-based payments reserve

The share-based payments reserve represents the
fair value of the equity instruments granted to
directors and employees of the Group, recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

(iv) Statutory reserves

The statutory reserves, which are non-distributable,
are appropriated from the profit after taxation of
the Group’s PRC and Macau subsidiaries under the
applicable laws and regulations in the PRC and
Macau respectively.

(v) Special reserve

On 11 March 2014, the Group acquired 100%
of the equity interests in Treasure Construction
Engineering Limited (“Treasure Construction”)
from Barkgate Enterprises Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CSC, which is an intermediate holding
company of the Company, at a cash consideration
of HK$2,000,000. The excess of approximately
HK$1,970,000, representing the difference between
the fair value of consideration paid for the acquisition
and the net asset value of Treasure Construction at
the acquisition date, was charged to special reserve.

During 2016, the Group increased its equity interests
in its subsidiary, Gamma North America, Inc. by
38.63% through capitalisation of shareholder’s
loans. The net liability value of Gamma North
America, Inc. of HK$287,768,000 has been
transferred from non-controlling interests to special
reserve in equity.

On 26 June 2018, the Group acquired 100% of
equity interests in China Overseas Supervision Limited
("COS") from Shenzhen CS Grand Wealth Investment
Company Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CSC, at a cash consideration of RMB70,000,000.
HK$180,564,000 represents the excess of
consideration paid over the share capital of the COS
net of distribution of the former shareholders.

28. @& @)

(b) FEEHNHERBEN @

(iii)

AR 7% T S SRR
A BERNRBEEHEERT
AEBHEERREMRATAR
B R B TYIR R B R
A2 458 AR 60 73 B B A SR 4R
OB BER T AR -

JATE R

8] 53 IR B0 5 5E 4B T 5 B1AR
R oh B R R P Y AR 2 0K
1544 7N 55 [ o o B O PO B
DA 2 BB o

5 Rl

R2014F3811H A £ E B
#2,000,0007C 2 IR & W —H I
ZRpEl-—HPREEEER 22
& i /@ 2 E)Barkgate Enterprises
Limitedf AVBIHEETREAR
NE(DBHEE]) 2 30 R
moWBEHEEZ AREBER
BEHEERNKNEREEFEZE
A 78 11,970,000 B I e A
RIFEEA -

R2016F - REEFE BB R
REZBRA bz RNE—F
#3%H ¥ A FGamma North
America, Inc. 38.63% 2 I HE#E
z= °© Gamma North America, Inc.
B &)FE 25 1287,768,0007T
HRIEERERERERSRIERE -

R2018F6 A26 B RNEFIUAAR
#£70,000,0007C Z 3R & A — &
MR A B — B S
2EWB AR - FIIRREERE
REBRARBEATEGERE
RAa ([hGEEE|) 23 MR
HE 25 o 75 #5180,564,0007T A U
BREAFRBARZBRAR
BBRUAFEERE (X))
FRIBREZZR -
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28. @& @)

(Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(Continued)

(v) Special reserve (Continued)

On 30 December 2019, the Group acquired 100% of
equity interests in J& 5 2 2B AR AT (“Shenyang
Huanggu Company”) by way of purchase of (i)
the entire issued share capital of China Overseas
Public Utility Investment Limited (“COPUI") which
owns 99.69% of the registered capital of Shenyang
Huanggu Company; and (ii) the 0.31% of the
registered capital of Shenyang Huanggu Company
held by I /BLEIKEFBRAF (“Shenzhen
Haifengde”), for an aggregate consideration of
HK$673,580,000. The excess of approximately
HK$673,580,000, representing the difference
between the fair value of consideration paid and the
share capital value of Shenyang Huanggu Company
at the acquisition date, was charged to special
reserve.

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Pursuant to the A-shares Restricted Stock Incentive Plan
(Phase 1V) (the “Incentive Plan (Phase 1V)") of CSCECL,
5,490,000 incentive shares were granted to certain employees
of the Company (including two directors and certain senior
management) on 23 December 2021 (the “Grant Date (Phase
IV)") with an exercise price of RMB3.06 per share, subject to a
lock-up period of two years’ service from the Grant Date (Phase
IV) (the “Lock-Up Period (Phase IV)"”). During the Lock-Up Period
(Phase 1V), these shares are not transferrable, nor subject to any
guarantee, indemnity or pledge. One-third of the awards are
vested each year starting from the beginning of the third year
on a time-apportionment basis since the Grant Date (Phase IV).

(b) FEEHNHERBEN @

v) $hlFEE#E)

M20194E12 8308 » N &E B A
75 #673,580,0007T 1 & Uk B8 %
SEMBEFRAE ([EEE
AR Z100%M R - 1t
W Ty B () BB 5 599.69%
BEERARGMEAZFEH
HINARARMEIREBR AR ([F
B8 MR R % pE ) 100 % A% i 4
@ (NFAEIT%ER M A
AEMEARZ FINGLERE
BERAR (TFRIGLE]) - W
BEGEHRRZALBERE
HERKEARASIE 2 Z5E
7 #673,580,0007T & = R 4 7
N -

29. AR B ER BT

RIFAEE DR A R P EZB D S MHA
RS2 BR 1 A RSB =1 81 (T AR =+ 81 (S5
) ArEETRE(AEBALL
BR_ZEERETRAEEAR) V2021
F12ABE((REAH(EFTH) ) - BX
5,490,000 BB e fn - ITEEREBBRAR
%3067t XKBNERLBH (FOH) £
AREMERBORER (FHM) (TRE
HFEOH]))  -RRER(FOH) - %F
A GEE TTAARARERKERRE
BeAREAH (FOH) LE=FFIH
e REAZERISIERERE 8FH
BHA=H2—"
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29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Subject to CSCECL's achievement of performance conditions
and individuals’ key performance indicators, the restriction
over incentive shares will be removed, otherwise, CSCECL has
constructive obligations to repurchase the ordinary shares in
cash if the performance conditions of CSCECL or the individuals’
key performance indicators are not achieved.

The fair value of incentive shares on the Grant Date (Phase V)
determined using a comparable generally accepted methodology
was RMB1.94 per share. The significant inputs into the
methodology include the closing price of RMB5 per share on the
Grant Date (Phase 1V), the exercise price of RMB3.06 per share
and the cap of share-based payments at 30% of employees’
remuneration for the respective two years.

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

(a) Major non-cash transactions
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$86,767,000
(2023: HK$36,957,000) and HK$86,767,000 (2023:
HK$36,957,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings.

29.

30.

URGABEROTR @

14 o R IR B R R 4 DA R ML G R B
RERIINIRIE + KSR PR & ARES -
TA RO A RER MR REG
oK B LR IR 1B A R B AR BB
Rig - PRBHANREEERS LR
’ -

ML H B (EHEH) BRI D H A A2 B
EEEXNALBNTEBEERERAR
Broam AT EZNERBBERBERY
BH(FHH) KT ESRARKEST 17
BERAREK3067T  UERHA/ERENN
AERSZERESEEMFFHMN30% °

GERTRERWE

() EXFRERS
FN - AEEREFHELH R
SENEAREELREEAED A
/575 186,767,0007T (20234 : B
36,957,0007T) K& /& #86,767,0007T
(20234 : ##36,957,0007T) °
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30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 30. EBEEREXRKT 2
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities from

(b) REBMEXBNABYHIR

financing activities

Lease Bank

liabilities borrowings Total

HEEE RITEER &5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BB T BB T

At 1 January 2023 M2023F181H 47,135 1,325,806 1,372,941

Cash flows BER (26,761) (137,528) (164,289)

Foreign exchange adjustments BE 5 9% 165 (294) (129)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAER LS (f:8)

(Note 8) 1,556 - 1,556
Increase in lease liabilities from ¥ ARBIEHHEE

entering into new contracts BEEM

(Note 16(a)) (K&x16(2)) 36,957 - 36,957
As 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A318 &

1 January 2024 2024F 1818 59,052 1,187,984 1,247,036
Cash flows RLR (42,191) 393,808 351,617
Foreign exchange adjustments R (1,660) (844) (2,504)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEF LS (f:8)

(Note 8) 4,775 - 4,775
Increase in lease liabilities from  #HA RS H£HFHEE

entering into new contracts BEREM

(Note 16(a)) (MizE16(a)) 86,767 - 86,767
At 31 December 2024 2024 12A31H 106,743 1,580,948 1,687,691
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31. COMMITMENTS 31. H&iE
At 31 December 2024, the Group had the following contractual 20245128318 - REEBU TREGE
commitments in the consolidated financial statements: WISk 2 & B FIE -
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction in progress for property, plant  E2TREWE - BEL
and equipment B 26,413 12,222
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS N.BEABALIRS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances PR AR & B IS 3R 3k Hoqth 38 5 % BE 0 A Bk
disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had TR 5 RSN - RS E R R E RE
the following transactions with its related parties during the ATHETTTIRZS -
year:
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) EHEB AL ZXR S
(i)  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries ) BHEERARFRETHRS
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction fees received from MEBZRANRFREZ
fellow subsidiaries TIiR%& 3,528,248 3,260,392
Service income received from MEBERAQRUWE 2
fellow subsidiaries PR 75 U A 47,249 89,020
Insurance premium paid to fellow REERARF T2
subsidiaries Rz RIS E 2,002 9,331
Purchases of materials from fellow MHEBRARALZHZ
subsidiaries MR 1,130 372
Leasing of machinery from fellow MHEBRXRARAAZFZ
subsidiaries A E R 1,455 7,213
These related party transaction also constitutes ZEBBATZINERNES
continuing connected transactions as defined in BMERSMABERAAZSF LT
Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the Listing of FMA(TEMARA]) F14AFFT
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong ATWFERERS o

Limited.



2024 ANNUAL REPORT 2024 F 3R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR A MR R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 124318 IEFE

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a) Transactions with related parties
(Continued)

(i)

Transactions with other state-controlled
entities in the Chinese Mainland

Certain of the Group’s businesses are operated in
an economic environment currently predominated
by entities directly or indirectly owned, controlled
or significantly influenced by the government of the
Chinese Mainland. In addition, the Group is itself
part of a larger group of companies under CSCEC.

Apart from transactions with its fellow subsidiaries,
the Group has transactions with other state-
controlled entities, mainly interest income.

These transactions are conducted in the ordinary
course of the Group’s businesses on terms
comparable to those with other entities that are not
state-controlled.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

2. FEMALIRSE &)
(a) EEBALTZXE @)

(i) HEPBEEMERIENER
EITHNRS
AEBETEBTINBATHRF
BRFEZSEERES =5
REAFECERAEIENK
BERBEPELE - o NEE
BEATEEEKRERRZ -

BREEKSERAQRFRETHR
S50+ A B IR B E B R 4E
HERETRS TERME
A

TRAEBEZBAEE
17 HGERERAM

(b) TEEBEAERHE

FREELEMEIBETBRABSHMN

management during the year was as follows: T~

2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Short term employee benefits EHEERA 30,708 38,322
Post-employment benefits HLIiHEAZEA 432 275

Total compensation paid to key FTEETEBEABFERS
management personnel 31,140 38,597

The remuneration of directors and key executives is

determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

EEXZRTE2TRAEZH TS b B
ZEEREMNRBALTEBLEE -

221



222

China State Construction Development Holdings Limited " EIZ £ R X K@M ER AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fre RS R M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2024 & Z2024F 12318 L FE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

33. R AT B AR R R KRR
HeH

COMPANY
. . g oo N\ = v O
Statement of financial position of the ERARNFBERR R
Company
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Non-current asset ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries R BARMER 3,100,749 2,129,447
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables & & - T8 U H fth & Uk 3% - -
Amounts due from subsidiaries N ENEI RS 50,000 50,000
Tax recoverable A Y (=] 718 57 -
Cash and bank balances R RIRTTHE R 54,779 1,729
Total current assets BRBEE 104,836 51,729
Current liabilities FEBEE
Bank borrowings RITE R 80,000 -
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary FEfT SR B R AR AR 225,390 225,390
Other payables and accruals H e R R e 5T B A 600 974
Current tax payables e BIE - 1,786
Total current liabilities BRRBEE 305,990 228,150
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE (201,154) (176,421)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERMBAE 2,899,595 1,953,026
Capital and Reserves BAR#HE
Share capital N 22,555 22,555
Share premium and reserves (note (a)) B 17 i B R A (FRE@)) 1,879,433 1,930,471
Total equity M= 1,901,988 1,953,026
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings HRITIE X 997,607 -
Total non-current liabilities BIEREAE 997,607 -
2,899,595 1,953,026
On behalf of the Board EEERD
Zhang Haipeng Zhu Haiming
RSB RIS A
Director Director
EF EF
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33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Statement of financial position of the

Compa Ny (Continued)

33. R AT BRI KRR
EHE28

AT AR R R 2)

Note: B3
(@)  Reserve movement of the Company @ ERAFFEE
Share-based
Share payments Special Retained
premium reserve reserve earnings Total
B4 B
ERAR
BB EE 1 BRIRE REEHN aE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT BETR BT BETT
At 1 January 2023 ®2023F1A18 1,116,682 4,636 13,006 189,179 1,323,503
Profit for the year FERER - - - 783,333 783,333
Capital contribution relating to RN A G AIER

share-based payment borne Rin BB LE

by an intermediate holding

company - - 1,823 - 1,823
2022 final dividend 025 KBRS - - - (54,133) (54,133)
2023 interim dividend 023FHHRE - - - (124,055) (124,055)
At 31 December 2023 and #2035 12318 &

1 January 2024 20241718 1,116,682 4,636 14,829 794,324 1,930,471
Profit for the year FREH - - - 178,264 178,264
Capital contribution relating to BN A G AER

share-based payment borne Riv kI EENLE

by an intermediate holding

company - - 763 - 763
2023 final dividend 2023F KBRS = = = (72,177) (72,177)
2024 interim dividend 204EFERS - - - (157,888) (157,888)
At 31 December 2024 #2024E12A318 1,116,682 4,636 15,592 742,523 1,879,433

34. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform

with the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

35. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue

by the board of directors on 17 March 2025.

3. LEX &
FELBRLCHEOETDE UFEKEE
H 51 SR A4 58 o

35. B mER AL E

IR AR O 2025317 EE S &
W IR B A -
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEHMBERE

The table set out below summarizes the results and the assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the Group's published consolidated
financial statements of the respective years and restated/reclassified
as appropriate. This summary is not part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

2020
2020%
HK$'000

TEREINAEERNBERLEPBRFEZEERE
E BEMIEEESZHME DREAEEAR
FEZEAMEAMBHRER A EHH R (W0
BR)  AMBAFEERGEAVBHRRZEM

BB e

REXE

For the year ended 31 December

BE12A31BILEE
2021 2022 2023 2024
20214 20224 20234 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BET T BETT BETT BETR

Revenue BER 4,535,657 6,294,827 7,668,983 8,665,765 8,101,694
Gross profit EF 488,460 676,854 825,305 973,063 966,950
Profit before tax 75t Al g A 256,292 395,973 508,214 650,463 724,264
Income tax expense, net FEHER $8 73,432 112,066 98,254 78,233 80,385
Profit for the year G A 182,860 283,907 409,960 572,230 643,879
Profit/(loss) for the year KRR,
attributable to: (E18)
Owners of the Company A2 B 194,344 291,976 421,852 580,420 650,253
Non-controlling interests R (11,484) (8,069) (11,892) (8,190) (6,374)
Basic earnings per share FREXAF
(HK cents) (&1L 9.02 13.55 19.11 25.73 28.83
Diluted earnings per share FREERT
(HK cents) (L) 9.02 13.55 19.11 25.73 28.83
CONSOLIDATED NET ASSETS mEEEFE
For the year ended 31 December
HZ12A31BILFE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 20214 20224 20234 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000

BET T BET T BETT BETT BETR

Non-current assets FERBEE 2,545,414 2,
Current assets MEBAE 4,843,484 6,
Current liabilities mEEE 4,646,686 5,
Non-current liabilities ErBERE 1,417,336 1,
Net assets FEE 1,324,876 1,

621,072 2,285,744 2,077,743 1,928,607
188,557 8,014,118 8,563,919 9,573,764
921,165 6,711,790 7,318,134 7,343,772
303,406 1,594,387 1,027,662 1,598,411
585,058 1,993,685 2,295,866 2,560,188
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